

CERL Technical Report 99/57 June 1999

# **Biofiltration of Solvent Vapors from Munitions Manufacturing Operations**

Byung J. Kim Blaine F. Severin Leslie M. Neilson



U.S. Army industrial operations sometimes involve processes that emit volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) in gaseous form. Biofilter technology can treat such gaseous emissions. When supplied with the proper balance of nutrients, buffer, temperature, and moisture conditions, the biofilter collects contaminants from the air and biologically degrades them into CO,, water, and biomass by-products. This study provided needed bench-scale feasibility data before demonstration and validation of biofilter technology as a treatment process at the Lake City Army Ammunition Plant, Independence, MO, and for potential use in other U.S. Army Industrial Operations Commands.

# 19991115 047

The contents of this report are not to be used for advertising, publication, or promotional purposes. Citation of trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of such commercial products. The findings of this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position, unless so designated by other authorized documents.

#### DESTROY THIS REPORT WHEN IT IS NO LONGER NEEDED

DO NOT RETURN IT TO THE ORIGINATOR

#### USER EVALUATION OF REPORT

#### REFERENCE: CERL Technical Report 99/57, Biofiltration of Solvent Vapors from Munitions Manufacturing Operations

Please take a few minutes to answer the questions below, tear out this sheet, and return it to CERL. As user of this report, your customer comments will provide CERL with information essential for improving future reports.

1. Does this report satisfy a need? (Comment on purpose, related project, or other area of interest for which report will be used.)

.

- 2. How, specifically, is the report being used? (Information source, design data or procedure, management procedure, source of ideas, etc.)
- 3. Has the information in this report led to any quantitative savings as far as manhours/contract dollars saved, operating costs avoided, efficiencies achieved, etc.? If so, please elaborate.

4. What is your evaluation of this report in the following areas?

a.	Presentation:
b.	Completeness:
с.	Easy to Understand:
d.	Easy to Implement:
e.	Adequate Reference Material:
f.	Relates to Area of Interest:
g.	Did the report meet your expectations?
ъ. h	Does the report raise upanswered questions?

i. General Comments. (Indicate what you think should be changed to make this report and future reports of this type more responsive to your needs, more usable, improve readability, etc.)

5. If you would like to be contacted by the personnel who prepared this report to raise specific questions or discuss the topic, please fill in the following information.

Name:		 	
Telephone Number:			
Organization Address:	 		· · ·
-	 		

6. Please mail the completed form to:

Department of the Army CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING RESEARCH LABORATORY ATTN: CEERD-IM-IT P.O. Box 9005 Champaign, IL 61826-9005

## **REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

#### Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188

Public reporting burden for this collection of	information is estimated to average 1 hour per	response, including the time for rev	viewing instructions, searching existing data sources,
gathering and maintaining the data needed, collection of Information, including suggestio Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22:	and completing and reviewing the collection of ns for reducing this burden, to Washington He 202-4302, and to the Office of Management an	information. Send comments regar adquarters Services, Directorate for d Budget, Paperwork Reduction Proj	ding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefterson ect (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave Blank)	2. REPORT DATE June 1999	3. REPORT TYPE AND DATES Final	COVERED
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Biofiltration of Solvent Vapor	s from Munitions Manufacturing	Operations	5. FUNDING NUMBERS 4A163733 DC79 U28
6. AUTHOR(S) Byung J. Kim, Blaine F. Seve	rin, and Leslie M. Neilson		
<ol> <li>PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME U.S. Army Construction Engine P.O. Box 9005 Champaign, IL 61826-9005</li> </ol>	(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) neering Research Laboratory (CE	RL)	8. PEFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER TR 99/57
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENC Headquarters, Army Industria ATTN: AMSIO-IBB-ENV Bldg. 390 Rock Island, IL 61299-6000	Y NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) I Operations Command		10. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
9. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Copies are available from th	ne National Technical Information	Service, 5385 Port Royal	Road, Springfield, VA 22161
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STAT	EMENT		12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Approved for public release	; distribution is unlimited.		
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) U.S. Army industrial operat air pollutants (HAPs) in gas balance of nutrients, buffer, biologically degrades them data before demonstration a Plant, Independence, MO, a	ions sometimes involve processes eous form. Biofilter technology c temperature, and moisture condit into CO <sub>2</sub> , water, and biomass by- nd validation of biofilter technolo nd for potential use in other U.S.	that emit volatile organic an treat such gaseous emis ions, the biofilter collects products. This study provid gy as a treatment process Army Industrial Operation	compounds (VOCs) and hazardous ssions. When supplied with the proper contaminants from the air and ded needed bench-scale feasibility at the Lake City Army Ammunition as Commands.
14. SUBJECT TERMS			15. NUMBER OF PAGES
hazardous materials waste trea biofiltration emissions	atment munitions waste disp air pollution	osal	124 16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT Unclassified	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE Unclassified	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICATIO OF ASTRACT Unclassified	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT SAR
NSN 7540-01-280-5500			Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89)

### Foreword

This study was conducted for Headquarters, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (HQUSACE), under D048 Program, "Environmental Quality Technology"; Work Unit U28, "Biofilter Technology for Munitions Production VOCs." The technical monitor was Mr. Chris Vercautren, AMSIO-EQ.

The work was performed by the Environmental Processes Branch (CN-E) of the Installations Division (CN), U.S. Army Construction Engineering Research Laboratory (CERL). The CERL principal investigator was Dr. Byung J. Kim. Dr. Blaine F. Severin and Mr. Leslie M. Neilson were with MBI, Lansing, MI. All bench scale evaluation was completed at MBI. Jerome L. Benson is Chief, CECER-CN-E, and John T. Bandy is Chief, CECER-CN. The CERL technical editor was William J. Wolfe, Information Technology Laboratory.

The Director of CERL is Dr. Michael J. O'Connor.

# Contents

SF	<sup>2</sup> 298	1
Fo	preword	2
1	Introduction	9
	Background	9
	Objectives	9
	Approach	10
	Scope	12
	Mode of Technology Transfer	12
	Units of Weight and Measure	12
-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10
2	Literature Review	
	Technological Solutions for U.S. Regulatory Environment	13
	New Regulations	
	Available Technologies	
	Oxidative Methods	
	Industrial Scale Biofiltration	
	Technological Innovations in Biofiltration	
	Theory	
	Design Parameters	
	Operational Parameters	
3	Methods	49
	General Biofilter Column Information	49
	Inoculum Isolation	50
	Isolation of Methyl Ethyl Ketone and Ethyl Acetate Degrading Microbes,	51
	Column Inoculation	52
	Monitoring and Sample Recording	52
	Regular Sampling, Storage, Analysis and Calibration	53
	Target Gas Sampling	
	Total Solids (TS) and Total Volatile Solids (TVS) Determination	
	Phosphorus, Nitrate and Ammonia Determination	
	Alkalinity Measurements	
	Fungus Monitoring	57
	Column Washing	

	Special Testing, Sampling, Storage, Analysis, and Calculations	58
	Leak Testing	58
	Retention Time Distribution and Void Volume Testing	58
	Breakthrough Testing	59
	Buffer Capacity Testing	
	Headloss Testing	
4	Results	61
	Physical and Chemical Testing Results	61
	Tracer Study	61
	Ethyl Acetate Breakthrough Testing on Dry Medium	65
	Buffer Capacity Determination	
	Laboratory Columns and Biological Efficiency	66
	Steady-State Loading	67
	Square-Wave Loading	
	Column 4b	
	Column 6	84
	Fungal Monitoring	
5	Discussion	90
	Physical Media Testing	90
	Tracer Study	90
	Medium Breakthrough Study	90
	Buffer Capacity Determination	91
	Inoculation and Column Start-up	91
	Inoculum Isolation	91
	Inoculation	91
	Column Performance	92
	Steady-State Removal of Ethyl Acetate	
	Removal of Contaminant Mixes	
	Dynamic Loading Removal	94
	Dynamic Mass Loading Removal	
	Shut-Downs	95
	Washing Cycles	95
	Biomass Yield	96
	Nutrient/Buffer Requirements	96
	Nutrient Balance	97
	Buffer Balance	98
	Fungal Monitoring	99

6	Translation to Field	100
Fie	Id Unit Installation	100
	Inoculation and Start-up of the Field Unit	
	Buffering/Nutrient Feed	101
	Preventative Maintenance	
	Field Sampling/Monitoring During and After Demonstration	
7	Conclusions	104
Bił	liography	107

Distribution

# List of Tables and Figures

#### Tables

1	Expected maximum Lake City Building 2 emissions (based on 1960 working hours per year, 22,000 lb per year solvent use, 500 scfm building fan capacity)	11
2	Measured concentrations at Building 2 (approximately 500 scfm building fan)	12
3	Expected maximum Lake City Building 2 emissions (based on 1960 working hours per year, 22,000 lb per year solvent use, 500 scfm building fan capacity)	25
4	Biodegradability of various compounds	41
5	Compounds degraded by biofiltration	42
6	Some microorganisms used to degrade various compounds.	43
7	Information recorded on daily monitoring data sheet.	53
8	Analytical methods for samples taken from the VOC columns.	54
9	Summary of helium tracer results.	65
10	Steady-state column operational conditions	67
11	Results of the Mass Balance Analyses for Columns 1, 2a, 2b, 3, 4a, and 5	68
12	Composition of feed mixes.	69
13	Column 1 operational summary (reactor set up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7)	70
14	Column 2a operational summary (reactor set-up with cubic foam medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7)	73
15	Column 2b operational summary (reactor set-up with cylindrical, annular medium with PVC plates separating sections, airflow was downflow, target pH = 8)	75
16	Removal efficiencies of minor compounds.	.76
17	Column 4a operational summary (reactor set-up with cubic medium, airflow $\frac{1}{2}$	
	was uplice, target $p = 7$ ).	.79
18	Column 5 Operational Summary (reactor was set-up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7)	.79 .81
18 19	Column 5 Operational Summary (reactor was set-up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7) Results of the mass balance analyses for columns 4b and 6	.79 .81 .83
18 19 20	Column 5 Operational Summary (reactor was set-up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7) Results of the mass balance analyses for columns 4b and 6 Column 4b operational summary (reactor set-up with cylindrical annular medium and PVC plates separating sections, airflow was downflow, target pH = 8)	.79 .81 .83 .83

22	Column perturbation summary	87
23	Observed CFU fungus-like (fl) and yeast-like (yl) CFU per 0.283 m <sup>3</sup> (10 ft <sup>3</sup> ) of air sampled	88
24	Nutrient/buffer requirements1	03

#### Figures

1	Types of biofilters: relation of water vs. support media20	)
2	Types of biofilters: ease of control20	)
3	Types of biofilters: best performance24	1
4	Utility ranges of VOCs control devices	5
5	Column 2b tracer study (day 0)	)
6	Column 1 tracer study (day 48)62	2
7	Column 2b tracer study (day 0)62	2
8	Column 2b tracer study (day 30)63	3
9	Column 3 tracer study (day 0)63	3
10	Column 3 tracer study (day 30)64	1
11	Ethyl acetate breakthrough study65	5
12	Buffer capacity test of biofilter medium (Scottdel Foam 1)66	3
13	Buffer capacity test of biofilter medium (Scottdel Foam 2)67	7
14	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 170	)
15	Ethyl acetate removal rate for column 2a73	}
16	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 2b75	5
17	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 378	3
18	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 4a80	)
19	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 581	l
20	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 4b84	ŀ
21	Ethyl acetate removal data for column 686	3

7

### 1 Introduction

#### Background

U.S. Army industrial operations sometimes involve processes that emit volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) in gaseous form. For example, one of the assembly lines at the Lake City Army Ammunition Plant (LCAAP), Independence, MO is a press manufacturing line that assembles blank munitions rounds used in training. The cap for the blank rounds is processed into a pasty material. Once this material is applied to the casing, it dries into a solid, forming a sealed cap on the round. During the manufacturing procedure, a number of solvents are added to the pasty material to make it less viscous for transfer to the shell casing. While the exact make-up of the paste is not germane to the biofiltration "off-gas" treatment process, it is important to note that minor parts of the components are carried off with the primary solvent as it evaporates. LCAAP must treat this off-gas to meet environmental regulations.

Biofilter technology provides one way to treat such gaseous emissions. A biofilter is a component used in a treatment process that cleans contaminated air by using micro-organisms growing on a biofilm fixed on solid packing/porous media such as compost, peat, soil, or an engineered material. The biofilter used in this study involved an engineered medium made of closed-cell urethane with incorporated nutrients and a pH buffer. When supplied with the proper balance of nutrients, buffer, temperature, and moisture conditions, the biofilter collects contaminants from the air and biologically degrades them into  $CO_2$ , water, and biomass by-products. This study was undertaken to demonstrate and validate biofilter technology as a treatment process for use at LCAAP, and for potential use in other U.S. Army Industrial Operations Commands.

#### **Objectives**

This report summarizes a bench-scale evaluation data of biofilter technology to provide a baseline for application of an engineered media biofilter to an Army Industrial Operations Installation. The objectives of this study were: 9

- 1. To summarize recent development of biofilter technologies and to compare engineered media biofilter with other competing technologies, based on the results of a literature review.
- 2. To evaluate bench-scale engineered media biofilters using an artificial gas stream representative of LCAAP's emission.
- 3. To develop design criteria for biofilters and to test and modify a system specifically to meet LCAAP's needs.

#### Approach

- 1. A comprehensive literature review was conducted. Researchers found a wealth of related research, but often found it difficult to compare observations from various studies because the support media generally differ from study to study. The bulk of the literature focuses on the feasibility of treating various contaminated gas streams containing volatile organic contaminants with biofiltration.
- 2. The source of pollutants was characterized. Table 1 lists expected concentrations of pollutants based on a preliminary analysis that assumes 22,000 lb of solvent use per year. The main solvent was identified as ethyl acetate, which was estimated to exceed 50 percent of the vapor stream contamination. The total concentration of consumable organics was initially expected to exceed  $5000 \mu g/L$ . At a later date, it was found that additional ethyl acetate was being added to thin out the coating mix such that ethyl acetate was expected to exceed 85 percent of the vapor content.
- 3. To outline the true magnitude of the design problem, a series of samples were collected at LCAAP. Table 2 lists site data from three sampling dates. Note that the measure's total mass is less than 10 percent of the initial expectations at the prevalent operating conditions during sampling. The plant was, at that time, operating a 10-hr shift, 4 days/week, with an estimated vent rate of 500 scfm (standard cu ft/min). Site data were collected under the conditions existing at that time. (The building was equipped with a 500 scfm building fan.) The client wishes to install a 1000 scfm blower along with the biofilter. The biofilter will have a 1000 cu ft volume for a nominal retention time of 1 minute. Targets for the simulation, such as gas consumption, retention time, and design gas flow rate were changed numerous times during the course of this project. Laboratory tests discussed here reflect this changing assessment of the site conditions.

	-		-	
Compound	MW	lb/hr	ppmv at STP	μ <b>g/L</b>
Ethyl acetate	88	5.93	807	3168
Ethanol	46	0.40	103	211
Isobutyl acetate	116	0.79	82	422
Toluene	92	1.19	154	634
2-methyl-1-propanol	74	0.08	13	42
n-butyl acetate	116	1.19	122	634
Mixed xylenes	106	0.79	89	422
n-butanol	74	0.08	13	42
Dibutyl-phthalate	278	0.00	Ο.	0
Weighted Total	90.36	10.43	2503	5576

Table 1. Expected maximum Lake City Building 2emissions (based on 1960 working hours per year, 22,000lb per year solvent use, 500 scfm building fan capacity).

- 4. The performance of biofilter technology was evaluated using an artificial vapor stream representative of the stream at LCAAP. Test columns were filled with an engineered medium that acted as support for micro-organisms. The columns were then inoculated with a liquid, mixed culture of microorganisms that was found to be capable of degrading the chemicals present in the gas mixture. Two series of laboratory tests were performed. The first studied the expectations for treatment under steady-state continuous loading over a range of organic loadings. The second series of tests were necessary due to the cyclical manufacturing process at the plant. These second tests were undertaken to test the limitations of operations under a square-wave loading pattern.
- 5. Initial laboratory studies were performed at mass loading rates consistent with expectations from the site estimates (Table 1). Midway through the tests, the conditions in the laboratory were changed to match the field data in Table 2. These data were collected using the existing 500 scfm blower. The design of the biofilter is now based on 1000 scfm. Thus, the operating conditions with the 1000 scfm blower are not presently known.
- 6. Results of the study were analyzed, conclusions were drawn with respect to the application of this technology to the waste stream at LCAAP, and recommendations were made for broader practical application of this technology to other waste streams at other sites.

	Sample of 3 sa	Sample 1 (avg. of 3 samples)		Sample 2 (avg. of 6 samples)		Sample 3 (avg. of 15 samples)		Average	
Compound	ppmv	μ <b>g</b> /L	ppmv	μ <b>g/L</b>	ppmv	μ <b>g/L</b>	Ppmv	_μ <b>g/L</b>	
Ethyl acetate	53	189	57	206	94	341	68	246	
Ethanol	ND*	ND	18	<b>6</b> 6	ND	ND	<7	<23	
Isobutyl acetate	2	7	1	4	4	14	2	9	
Toluene	0	2	11	38	1	3	4	14	
2-methyl 1-propanol	ND	1	0	1	ND	ND	<1	<1	
n-butyl acetate	1	3	1	3	ND	ND	<1	<3	
Mixed xylenes	ND	ND	1	4	ND	ND	<1	<4	
n-butanol	ND	ND	ND ·	ND	ND	ND	<1	<3	
Total	56	203	89	323	99	358	<85	<303	
*ND = not determined									

able 2. Weasured concentrations at building 2 (approximately our boild ballding la	able 2.	Measured	concentrations	at Building	j 2 (ap	proximately	500	scfm	building	far
--	---------	----------	----------------	-------------	---------	-------------	-----	------	----------	-----

#### Scope

This study focused on determining biofilter design criteria, and the empirical application of biofilter technology to the treatment of VOCs.

#### Mode of Technology Transfer

It is anticipated that the information generated by this study will form a baseline for biofilter design to treat other waste streams at DOD installations.

#### **Units of Weight and Measure**

U.S. standard units of measure are used throughout this report. A table of conversion factors for Standard International (SI) units is provided below.

SI conversion factors								
1 in.	=	2.54 cm	1 cu in.	=	16.39 cm <sup>3</sup>			
1 ft	=	0.305 m	1 cu ft	=	0.028 m³			
1 yd	=	0.9144 m	1 cu yd	=	0.764 m³			
1 sq in.	=	6.452 cm <sup>2</sup>	1 gal	=	3.78 L			
1 sq ft	=	0.093 m²	1 lb	=	0.453 kg			
1 sq yd	=	0.836 m <sup>2</sup>	°F	=	(°C x 1.8) + 32			

## 2 Literature Review

#### **Technological Solutions for U.S. Regulatory Environment**

#### **New Regulations**

Biofilters have been used for odor control since the 1960s (1). In general, this market is serviced with low-tech units treating low concentrations and high air-flow rates. The measured output, perceptible odor, is subjective. With the passing of the Clean Air Act of 1990 and the inclusion of biofilters on the list of innovative technologies within the Act, the biofilter process has received renewed attention as a means of treating volatile organic contaminants. Within the context of the Clean Air Act, it has become necessary to specify the performance of VOC control processes. As the uses for biofilters become more broadly based and the expectations of performance more stringent, these systems will necessarily become more refined (2).

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (PL 101-549) (CAAA) expand on the earlier version of the Clean Air Act of 1970 with a main thrust of tightening existing emission controls on stationary and mobile sources. The CAAA focuses on nonattainment areas, mobile sources, air toxins, acid rain, stratospheric ozone, and global climate protection. Estimates on the impact and costs of the regulations are not yet clear (3-5).

Air toxins control is defined by Title III of the CAAA, which expands the number of regulated hazardous air pollutants (HAP) from a previous total of 7 to 189 compounds. Title III of the CAAA replaces the old National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) program. NESHAP standards passed before November 1990 remain in effect until they are reviewed and revised by the USEPA. The new law requires the regulation of sources of toxic pollution.

Major sources, defined as those plants emitting at least 10 tons/year of a listed pollutant or 25 tons/year total of all listed pollutants, will be required to match targets based on average emissions from 12 percent of their competitor's best controlled plants. For new plants, the emission rates cannot exceed levels obtained by the facilities in their production class with the lowest emissions. If a facility activity is on the list of major stationary sources and is capable of emitting 100 tons/year of any pollutant, then the facility is considered a major source. Any facility that produces more than 250 tons/year of any HAP is considered major, even if it is not included on the list of stationary sources (6, 7).

Area sources such as: dry cleaners using perchloroethane (PCE) and 1,1,1- trichloroethane, coke ovens, synthetic organic chemical manufacturers, commercial sterilizers, chromium electroplaters, industrial cooling towers, halogenated solvent cleaners, gasoline stations, and asbestos sources must have standards set for them that lead to 90 percent reduction of the 30 most serious source pollutants (6). Nonattainment areas are classified and scheduled for meeting compliance by the severity of pollution measured within their boundaries. Metropolitan areas with the greatest pollution have the longest time, up to 17 years, to meet the standards. Until the standards are set, the nonattainment area must meet a 3 percent per annum reduction in VOC emissions (8, 9).

The goal of the Air Toxins provisions of the CAAA is to reduce toxic emissions by 75 percent by the year 2000. Phase I of the program consists of technology-based standards. Phase II involves risk-based reductions. Phase I will be accomplished by implementation of Maximum Achievable Control Technology (MACT) established for each industry by the category standards. MACTs are focused on specific portions of a contiguous facility or the entire facility. Standards are to be developed for roughly 25 percent of the categories every 3 years. All the final standards for the categories are due on 15 November 2000 (3, 4). Any new category added to the list of categories must have standards promulgated within 2 years of addition to the list. If the USEPA fails to promulgate a set of standards, then the owner/operator of the facility must apply for an operating permit within 18 months of the original scheduled date. The permit must be signed by a registered engineer certifying that a Best Available Control Technology (BACT) is in place at the site. Sources must comply with MACT standards within 3 years of issue. One-year extensions may be available for certain sources.

Through the voluntary self-regulation plan, plants that agree to the Federal guidelines will: (1) attempt to achieve a lower compliance level, 90 percent rather than 95 percent, (2) gain a 6-year extension, which may be cost effective in postponing implementation of potentially more stringent reductions, and (3) become the industry leaders in pollution control for the purposes of becoming the 12 percent target to be matched by competitors (6). These aspects of the law create a business climate by which the BACT, for one industry with a close compliance deadline, will have a harder time being accepted than the same technology entering an industry with a longer lead schedule (9). Emissions from oil and natural gas wells are not to be considered as area sources and multiple wells are not to be aggregated as a contiguous facility (6).

The USEPA has a top-down approach for determining the BACT for emission control and reduction. First, available control options are identified. Next, technically unfeasible options are eliminated, and the remaining technologies are ranked in terms of effectiveness. After evaluating economic, environmental, and energy aspects of the most effective technologies, the BACT is chosen (10).

While the apparent minimum removal efficiency of a control technology would appear to be 95 percent, the phrasing of the law to view air pollution as area or facility emissions means that some controlled sites may opt for lower than 90 percent removal in noncritical areas. The vapor control business may also be affected by provision 182(b) of the CAAA. States must now submit plans to the USEPA for owners or operators of gasoline dispensing systems to install and operate a system for gasoline vapor recovery for emissions from the fueling of motor vehicles. Facilities selling less than 10,000 gal of gasoline per month and independent marketers selling less than 50,000 gal per month are not covered by these rules.

Local, regional, or State regulations may also limit the discharge of air toxins or hydrocarbons. For example, the South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 1166, "Volatile Organic Compound Emissions from Decontamination of Soil" is designed to limit the emissions of VOC from soil contaminated with VOC during any type of soil remediation measure. The same district requires VOC emissions to be under 600 lb/day for stationary sources and requires commercial bakeries to control ethanol emissions, according to Rule 1153 (11, 12). Rule 1401 limits the maximum lifetime cancer risk that can be caused by emissions of 47 Carcinogenic Air Contaminants (CAC) to one chance per million unless a Best Available Control Technology for Toxics (T-BACT) is installed. Emissions of benzene and ethylene oxide are limited to just a few pounds per day in this regulatory district (8, 9).

New plant facilities must meet the stringent guidelines set out by the CAAA. After emission predictions are made for a new plant, and the building permits granted, the plant must operate correctly or the permits could be made more stringent. For example, the Lone Star Industries facility in Santa Cruz had no  $SO_2$  emission limit specified in the building permit. After operating emissions proved to be much higher than expected, the USEPA and the local authorities implemented an  $SO_2$  limit and forced the plant to reduce its emissions (13).

#### Available Technologies

There are many methods for treating waste air streams. The technologies are categorized as: dilution, masking, collection, and oxidation. Dilution technolo-

gies include: chimneys (atmospheric dispersion from emission at a high point), horizontal ducting (atmospheric dispersion from emission at a distant point), and use of a remote site (isolation with atmospheric dispersion). These methods do not treat the waste, and are becoming less acceptable under the new laws. Masking methods add masking agents or deodorants to the emitted air to disguise or counteract the malodorants. The odorants are not degraded with these methods, but the odor complaints may disappear. Collection methods, such as carbon adsorption or condensation, transfer the VOC from one physical phase to another. Usually the VOC becomes more concentrated as well. Although these methods remove VOCs from the waste air stream, they still must be treated before disposal (14). If recycling of the VOC is possible, then these methods should be considered. Oxidative technologies use temperature, catalysts, light, chemicals, or micro-organisms to oxidize the VOC into CO<sub>2</sub>, water, and inorganic components. Each technology has advantages, disadvantages, and a range of optimal application. Factors such as airflow rate, temperature, and concentration of VOC will affect the costs of the various technologies (12, 15).

#### **Collection Methods**

#### Carbon

A common treatment for low concentrations of VOC is adsorption onto carbon or activated carbon (16). This method is best suited to relatively small airflow rates (less than 60,000 cfm) with concentrations less than 100 ppm (17). A highly concentrated chlorinated solvent with a very low mass flow rate would be a good candidate for adsorption (18). Often, carbon adsorption is used as a polishing step following a primary treatment technology (19). When the adsorptive capacity of the carbon is spent, the carbon must be regenerated or disposed of as a hazardous waste (17, 20, 21). With each successive regeneration, the carbon loses adsorption efficiency and capital costs for reactivation equipment can be high (18). In addition, removal effectiveness decreases as the carbon becomes saturated with water vapor. When operated under wet conditions, most VOCs do not adsorb well, but under dry conditions, the heat of absorption may create flammable conditions on the activated carbon (22).

#### Condensation

VOCs can be cooled or pressurized until they condense from the air. If the waste stream contains one or two components that can be recycled back into the process, condensation may be appropriate. Condensation can also be a cost effective pretreatment for another air pollution control technology (5). The cost of refrigeration will depend on the boiling point of the components, the concentration, and the airflow rate. To be cost effective, the compound to be recovered should be a high boiling point hydrocarbon, such as a compound with 10 or more carbon atoms, and also have a recovery value (18). For mixed air streams of VOCs, the condensate may be a gummy, partially oxidized mass of VOCs that must still be disposed of (12).

#### **Oxidative Methods**

#### Incineration

Incineration destroys VOCs by burning them at temperatures of 600 to 1500 °C (17). The extent of degradation depends on the flammability of the compound, the incineration temperature, and the residence time in the reaction zone (5, 12, 23). An air stream with relatively constant concentrations of VOCs will perform best, but complex mixtures can easily be treated (24). Generally, streams with VOC concentrations above 2,500 ppm can be economically treated with thermal incineration (25). However, the concentration of organics must be about one fourth of the lower explosive limit (5). For example, Monsanto uses thermal oxidation to treat 60,000 cfm with 50 ppm acrylonitrile and styrene at their Port Plastics plant in Addyston, OH (17).

Three common VOC incineration designs include the thermal oxidizer, the catalytic oxidizer, and the flare incinerator. The thermal oxidizer operates by using the combustion heat available in the waste VOCs. This requires little or no external fuel (5). The catalytic oxidizer employs added fuel and a catalyst bed to burn low concentrations of VOCs. Up to 98 percent removal can be achieved with hydrocarbons such as gasoline, as well as 90 percent removal of some halogenated compounds such as TCE (12, 17). A flare is a flame atop a tower that burns combustible VOCs as the waste air is expelled from the tower. For concentrated streams that exceed the lower flammability limit, flares can be used (above 115 BTU/scf). The flame temperature is the most important factor in determining degradation since complete combustion must occur instantaneously (5). Incineration of some compounds can produce dangerous and corrosive side products such as dioxins or HCl from burning chlorinated compounds and sulfides from burning sulfonated VOCs (12, 26).

#### Light

Light oxidation uses UV radiation to oxidize VOCs to  $CO_2$ , water, and inorganic compounds. High energy short wave photons (180 to 280 nm) excite the VOCs. The photons also excite water vapor to form highly reactive oxygen atoms and hydroxyl radicals. The oxygen and hydroxyls react with the excited VOCs to oxidize them. The reaction rates can be enhanced by catalysts such as iron oxides

or titanium dioxide. This technology is currently an emerging technology in wastewater treatment (27).

#### Scrubbers

A common wet scrubber design uses a column packed with plastic or ceramic packing. Contaminated air is blown through the column while a chemical solution is recirculated over the spheres. The solution reacts with the air contaminants to produce nontoxic products. The scrubbers are usually set up so that the airflow is counter-current to the scrubber solution. Another design employs a tank full of reactive solution through which the contaminated gas is sparged (28). The columns and tanks must be built with materials resistant to corrosion. The chemical solutions are recirculated until the reaction power is used up, and then they must be replaced. Because of the reactive solutions used, safety precautions must be taken as well (18). The chemicals used include: acid, caustic, hydrogen peroxide, DeAmine (by Nutech), chlorine, ozone, hypochlorite, permanganate, lime, surfactants or other reagents to react with the contaminants. The reaction time is fast, usually seconds, but hydrocarbons and chlorinated compounds are often unaffected. For reactive VOCs like alcohols and esters, 95 percent removal can be achieved. This method is also effective for the treatment of SO<sub>3</sub>, and NH<sub>3</sub> (22, 29-31).

Gases containing  $SO_2$  can be treated by passing them through lime to react with the sulfur. The lime can either be a wet slurry or dry and is used in a spray dryer (30). This process is often used in firing coal that contains 3 percent sulfur, and has advanced removal efficiencies of 90 to 95 percent; however, it produces gypsum (calcium sulfate), which must be disposed of. An evaporator and precipitator are two pieces of additional equipment required in this scrubbing process (28). The Statoil's refinery in Norway uses seawater to scrub sulfur compounds from the refinery flue gases using dissolved carbonate and oxygen naturally present in seawater. They claim that no environmental harm is done, and they achieve 98.8 percent removal of  $SO_2$  and 82.8 percent removal of  $SO_3$  (32).

An acid scrubber can be used to eliminate ammonia, but it does not affect the organic components (31). Multiple stage scrubbers use several chemicals in separate tanks to react with the various components in the waste air stream. An example of this would be a water scrubber that absorbs basic compounds, then an oxidative scrubber that reacts with the VOCs, and then a dechlorination scrubber that uses peroxide to remove excess chlorine and provide additional oxidation. When a process stream contains a few compounds, the scrubbers can be very effective; however, when multiple odorous compounds are involved, as in compost odors, the scrubbers may not meet expectations (33).

The Peninsula Composting Facility operated by Hampton Roads Sanitation District tested 16 combinations of scrubbers and still did not achieve complete removal of VOCs and odor compounds (29). The Schenectady, NY, Composting Facility installed a three-stage scrubber to treat 25,000 cfm of odorous air and achieved greater than 99.9 percent removal of ammonia, amines, mercaptans, and dimethylsulfide, but no chlorine was removed (34). For high intensity odors from continuous rendering systems of the inedible animal rendering industry, multistage scrubbers are often used. Volumes up to 10,000 cfm are treated using a venturi scrubber to remove particles and fat aerosols. One or two packed tower chemical scrubbers are then used to remove odors. Up to 99.5 percent removal is possible, depending on the inlet concentrations (35). Monsanto extensively studied chemical scrubbing to treat low level VOCs from plastic production, but achieved only 80 percent removal efficiency; another technology was chosen (17).

#### **Biological Systems**

The above treatments wash, adsorb, or oxidize VOCs, but the following biological methods do all three in one step (14, 20). A biofilter is a bioreactor system in which micro-organisms are attached to a solid support medium. Contaminated air is passed though the filter where the micro-organisms consume the organic carbon to produce  $CO_2$ , water, and biomass (more micro-organisms) (2). Four classes of biofilters, classified on the relationship of the biofilm to the water, are: (1) two phase systems (bioscrubbers), (2) trickling filters, (3) natural medium biofilters, and (4) engineered medium biofilters. Figure 1 shows the relative reliance on water in the four systems versus the reliance on the solid support medium for the stability of the process. Because of the ability to control water better in certain systems, these systems can support optimum biological conditions because the environment (pH, nutrients, etc.) can be controlled along with the water. If designed well, biomass can also be controlled to a certain degree.

Figure 2 shows the relative control in these systems from the standpoint of the environmental conditions and biomass control. Natural bed medium does not allow for ready intervention with regard to the control aspects of pH or nutrients. The only biomass control is through replacement of the bed. Other media provide for increased control, with engineered media designed for the greatest control level. Biological systems are especially well suited to streams that have low volumes (<1000 scfm) with moderate (<1 percent) concentrations up to high volume streams (1000 to 50,000 scfm) with low concentrations (<1000 ppm). However, biofilters are not compatible with: scrubbers, multi-component recovery systems, processes with unknown vapors or vapor strengths, or heavily halogenated compounds (36).



Figure 1. Types of biofilters: relation of water vs. support media.

	2 Trickling Filter	3 Engineered Medium				
Environmental Control	1 Two-Phase					
pH, nutrients	(4) Natural Medium					
		Biomass Control				

Figure 2. Types of biofilters: ease of control.

In biofilter systems, microbes are used to destroy the VOC contaminants. The systems must be maintained to sustain the microbial population. Maintenance includes moisture, temperature, nutrients, and pH buffering (37). The microbes may be present in the filter bed, or the bed may be inoculated with a specific population known to degrade certain VOCs (38).

#### **Bioscrubbers**

A bioscrubber consists of two units, a scrubber and a regeneration basin. In the scrubber compartment, water droplets flow with the waste gas, and the pollutants and oxygen from the waste gas are transferred to the liquid phase (38). Biological oxidation occurs in the regeneration unit, which is typically an activated sludge basin in a wastewater treatment plant (39). Two phase systems were created to optimize liquid scrubbing of the gas in one phase and to perform the degradation in a liquid phase biological reactor. In theory, the entire reaction is dominated by absolute control of the liquid. In reality, these systems work as trickling filters because the biomass cannot be kept from inhabiting the solid support medium (40). At one water treatment plant, air was bubbled up through the activated sludge tanks, and based on smell, no odor was detected (41).

#### **Trickling Filters**

In a trickling filter, the scrubbing and biological oxidation processes occur simultaneously in one unit as compared to two units, as is the case with bioscrubbers (2, 39). The trickling filters consist of columns filled with packing on the surface of which a biofilm develops. Water containing nutrients is supplied at the upper side of the column. Gas is forced to rise against the cascading water flow (38). The packing can be activated carbon, stoneware rings, clay granules, porous glasses, or other materials (42). The packing material supports the microorganisms and may supply the nutrients. After several years of operation, the packing may deteriorate and need to be replenished (38). Trickling filters are modified processes similar to the classical liquid systems used for wastewater treatment. As applied to air treatment, the flow of water is altered slightly to also enhance the transport of the vaporous organics into the water layer. The organics and oxygen are then consumed from the liquid phase by the biomass on the solid support. Trickling filters are dominated by liquid-phase transport resistance and are poor performers on marginally soluble gases, or gases that have high Henry's constants. However, the high degree of liquid side control gives these units the advantage with control of pH or nutrient conditions within the reactor by altering the chemistry of the liquid side. For example, if the medium is acidified due to the pollutants, buffer can be added to the liquid to counteract the pH effect (43).

#### **Natural Bed Biofilters**

Natural bed biofilters consist of a filter bed of natural material where waste gas is forced through a layer of a biologically active packing with a thickness of 50 to 100 cm. Gas can be distributed to the bed through gravel or it can be pressurized through various duct systems (44). The packing material supports the micro-organisms and supplies some if not all of the nutrients, but it must be continuously supplied sufficient water to maintain high humidity (38). 21

Natural bed biofilters, such as soil, peat, compost, or bark, are the best filters from the standpoint of bed cost; however, there is little control of either the environmental conditions or the biomass growth in such systems since the ability to control the water flow is lacking. The relatively small amount of water on the media allows the medium itself to be the primary adsorbent rather than the water. Thus these natural beds have an advantage in that the liquid resistance to transport is minimized. Also, these natural substances may contain the microbes required for degradation.

Various soil types have been tested, including: fertile loam, moist clay/gravel soil, dry clay/gravel soil, and sand. From the results of these tests, it is generally accepted that clay, gravel, and sand are unsuitable for use in soil beds (1). To prepare an area for a natural medium biofilter, generally a trench is excavated and a perforated pipe is laid at the bottom surrounded by gravel to distribute the air. It is covered with a loam, sandy soil, or organic material of 1 to 2 m in depth. A concrete pad can be laid below the filter to keep water from flowing into the groundwater. The upward flow of free air through the bed is 0.2 to 1.0 m/min and a 30 second retention time is recommended (41).

#### Engineered Medium Biofilters

Engineered medium systems are an attempt to provide the advantages of natural media with the liquid phase and biomass control available in trickling filters. The media can be foam, carbon, plastic tubes, and other materials designed according to theories of biofiltration kinetics. Although the engineered media may be more expensive than natural media, higher airflow rates and higher gas concentrations can be treated. Also, natural media have a determined finite life span, whereas engineered media, whose excess biomass may be removed from the medium by mechanical means, should prove to be considerably longer (8, 45). Thus, more air and contaminants can be treated with a smaller bed. These systems are set up in tall columns and nutrients are supplied from the media or from a nutrient solution that is occasionally passed over the column. The moisture content can be tightly controlled to maximize the absorption of more hydrophobic VOCs (2, 45).

#### **Technology Comparisons**

The best emission control technology depends on the application. Many factors need to be evaluated to make sure the technology will meet the needs of the process for the lowest cost, including: process exhaust volume (minimum, average, and maximum flows), process exhaust temperature, solvent concentrations (minimum, average, and maximum flows), solvent compositions, hours of operation per year, process volumes, natural gas and electric costs, problem VOCs (chlorinated, particulate, heavy hydrocarbons, plasticizers, etc.), equipment location (in, out, ground level, roof, etc.), number of individual emission sources involved, and plant elevation or additional static pressure drop required for process ducting. Each method of treatment has its own advantages, disadvantages, and range of optimum application (46).

If products in the waste stream can be recycled, then a collection technology should be considered. Adsorption onto carbon with regeneration to recover the product is feasible if the recovered product value is greater than the operational costs of regeneration or if it outweighs the cost of disposal. Highly concentrated chlorinated solvents are an example of this stream type (18). Condensation is best applied to pure high boiling point hydrocarbons, C10 and above. Mixed products that are condensed may cause a build up of tar in the condenser (12). One collection method, carbon adsorption, can also be cost effective without regeneration, but only for medium to high concentration streams with very low mass flow rates (18).

For contaminants that cannot be recycled, total destruction is often more cost effective than collection followed by destruction. Even a pure VOC, at very low concentrations, may be treated more cost effectively by destruction (2, 45). Destructive methods all involve oxidation of the VOCs to  $CO_2$  and water (47). Very flammable streams, or streams that require little fuel to become flammable can be treated with thermal incineration. Some hydrocarbons at low concentrations and those that are difficult to degrade biologically, are well suited to catalytic incineration (18). In the past, odorous emissions have been treated with chemical scrubbers, but the treatment is often incomplete (17, 18).

Vapor streams of 20 to 5000 ppmv can be treated by biofiltration. The lower concentrations, up to about 1000 ppmv, especially with high airflow rates, are best treated with soil or other natural nutritive beds (48). If designed properly, biofilters are especially well suited to treat streams that vary in concentration from minute to minute (24). The higher concentrations, especially with lower airflow rates, such as less than 1000 scfm and less than 1 percent concentration can be treated cost effectively with an engineered medium biofilter (2, 36, 45). Both systems are best suited to treat vapor streams containing one or two major compounds (24). Biological processes offer a greater choice of oxidation pathways than chemical oxidation, so they treat complex odor mixtures more completely (33).

Both biofilters and carbon adsorption are well suited to combination treatment methods. The carbon can perform polishing after most of the contaminants have been metabolized in the biofilter (19). Another technique uses carbon adsorption and desorption to even out fluctuations in stream concentrations before feeding the air into a biofilter. The contaminants are adsorbed when the concentrations are high and then desorbed when the stream concentrations decrease. Thus the biofilter receives a more constant feeding (49). Figure 3 outlines the best performance ranges for each biological technology.

Figure 4 shows the best stream concentrations and flow rates for each VOC control technology discussed above (50). Table 3 lists the advantages, disadvantages, and relative costs (reference list: 2, 5, 18, 20, 22, 35-37, 45, 47, 51-55).

Various authors have provided cost estimates and comparisons for air pollution control technologies. Because of the different assumptions used, comparisons of the various authors' data are not feasible. However, in the interest of providing some costing data, the following information was included.

Dharmavaram states that the average capital cost for a biofilter is \$20 per cfm. The annual operation cost is between \$5 to \$14 per cfm, which compares to \$18 to \$47 per cfm for scrubbing; \$105 to \$168 per cfm for incineration; and \$179 to \$210 per cfm for carbon absorption (39).

Buck and Seider state a capital cost for a 100 scfm thermal oxidizer of \$56,200 base price with a daily fuel cost of \$60 to \$95. Fuel for a 100 scfm catalytic oxidizer is \$22/day. Both systems require an additional \$6/day for vacuum or compression. To treat halogenated VOCs, the base capital cost increased to \$150,000 for 100 scfm (12).



Figure 3. Types of biofilters: best performance.



Figure 4. Utility ranges of VOCs control devices.

Compound	MW	lb/hr	ppmv at STP	μ <b>g/L</b>
Ethyl acetate	88	5.93	807	3168
Ethanol	46	0.40	103	211
Isobutyl acetate	116	0.79	82	422
Toluene	92	1.19	154	634
2-methyl-1-propanol	74	0.08	13	42
n-butyl acetate	116	1.19	122	634
Mixed xylenes	106	0.79	89	422
n-butanol	74	0.08	13	42
Dibutyl-phthalate	278	0.00	0	0
Weighted Total	90.36	10.43	2503	5576

Table 3. Expected maximum Lake City Building 2 emissions (based on 1960 working hours per year, 22,000 lb per year solvent use, 500 scfm building fan capacity).

Nash and Seibert determined the cost of a thermal oxidizing unit to be \$1 to \$1.5 million, with \$20,000 to \$30,000 per year in operating costs. Biofilters cost about \$20,000 in capital with \$1,000/year operating costs for a 200 cfm unit (36).

Bohn and Bohn determined a soil bed biofilter capital cost to be \$8 to \$10/cfm with an operating cost due to 0.6 W/cfm for blower electricity. Carbon adsorption costs \$30 to \$50/cfm to install or \$70 to \$100/cfm if the carbon will be regenerated. Annual incineration costs are \$15/cfm while those for wet scrubbing are \$8/cfm with additional costs from using 1 W/cfm of electricity (51).

Bohn also computed costs based on the total cost per  $10^6$  cu ft air for incineration (\$130), chlorine (\$60), ozone (\$60), active carbon with regeneration (\$20), and biofiltration (\$8) (22).

Barshter, Paff, and King performed an economic analysis of biofilters. They determined that a 12,000 cfm biofilter would cost \$260,000 for capital and \$55,000/ year for operation and maintenance costs (56).

Prokop compared scrubbing to biofiltration to treat emissions from rendering plants. While incineration, three stage wet scrubbing, and a soil bed biofilter all achieved 99 percent removals, soil beds were the most cost effective treatment method (57).

Pearson, Phillips, Green, and Scotford compared five types of emission control devices for use at a 7000 place broiler (chicken) house to reduce ammonia and odor emissions. Of the five, a biofilter and a bioscrubber were the most promising in operation and costs compared to a mop scrubber, packed column, and spray scrubber. The biofilter cost 3,945 UK pounds per  $m^3/s$  for installation of an experimental unit with 652 pounds (cost) per  $m^3/s$  for annual operation. These costs were about half that of a packed tower (58).

O'Neill, Stewart, and Phillips reviewed air pollution control technology costs from livestock buildings. Costs were calculated in terms of UK pounds per animal. They showed that biofilters were about the same costs as chimneys. Adsorption was more expensive, while catalytic and thermal incineration were the most expensive methods (15).

#### **Industrial Scale Biofiltration**

The idea of using soil to treat odors and waste is as old as burying trash. The first soil bed system biofilter was built in 1953 for treatment of odorous exit sewer gases from Long Beach, CA (47). However, it wasn't until 1957 that a soil bed biofilter was patented by Pomeroy (59). Initial industrial scale biofilters used soil beds to treat odors from wastewater treatment plants.

Mayo designed a soil bed system to treat exit sewer gases from a wastewater treatment plant on Mercer Island, WA in 1964. The system was so effective at removing odors that soil beds were installed at 13 other pump stations on the island (1). These beds required no maintenance, and residents of adjoining lots were unaware of any odors (20). The City of Coronado, CA, installed a soil bed biofilter to control odors at the main sewage pump station in 1971. In 1987, the bed was expanded because the sludge load increased and the activated carbon filters, used for odor control, were unreliable. The land containing the soil bed was made into an outdoor shopping and restaurant area, where previously the odor was too strong for the land to be usable. Cities that have followed suit and now treat sewer gases and wastewater treatment plant odors with soil beds include: Tamarac, FL, Toenberg, Norway; A. Coors Co. in Golden, CO; and A. J. Simplot in Hermiston, OR (20).

As soil beds came into use for sewer odors in the United States, they were also being used to treat composting odors in Europe. In 1964, the first European soil bed was installed at a composting plant in Geneva-Villette Switzerland to treat 2200 cfm ( $3600 \text{ m}^3/\text{hr}$ ) of raw odor (60). In 1967, a mature compost bed biofilter was built in Duisberg, West Germany to treat 10,000 cfm of odors with 95 to 99 percent removal from chicken manure composting. People live as close as 100 m from the plant without odor complaints (20). As confidence was gained using biofilters for odor abatement, the technology was applied to waste air from animal rendering plants. A meat waste treatment plant in Moerewa, New Zealand installed a compost biofilter based on the 9-year history of the Duisberg system. The filter was initially filled in early 1978 with compost. At first, the compost was not aged, and moisture was not controlled. After changing the bed to filtered, mature compost, the removals of H<sub>2</sub>S were consistently 99 percent (23).

Bohn, Shimko, Ottengraf, Durfee, Ziminski, and Prokop have reviewed many other installations of biofilters (20, 61-66). European biofilters currently treat VOCs emissions from the following industries: adhesive production, coating operations, chemical manufacturing, chemical storage, film coating, investment foundries, iron foundries, print shops, waste oil recycling, coffee roasting, coca roasting, fish frying, fish rendering, pet food manufacture, slaughter houses, tobacco processing, industrial wastewater treatment plants, residential wastewater treatment plants, composting facilities, and gases extracted from landfills (8). Other industrial examples are summarized below.

#### **Bioscrubbers**

In the production of fish food, nitrogenous compounds must be treated. A bioscrubber was made aerobic in the scrubber section such that nitrification of the waste could occur. The bioreactor was operated under anaerobic conditions so that denitrification would occur in the regeneration tank. Under these conditions,  $40,000 \text{ m}^3$ /hr of waste air was treated to 95 percent odor reduction (67). 27

The Tillman Water Reclamation Plant in Los Angeles, CA, was required to treat emissions when they requested permits for their expansion. Foul air was generated from the upstream preliminary and primary treatment processes, and the wastewater aeration tank and the activated sludge, had to be treated. The study showed that the activated sludge bioscrubber process was highly effective in reducing the net emission from the combined system, and that it used the naturally occurring micro-organisms in the waste stream. The cost analysis showed that biofiltration was a highly cost effective method of controlling VOCs emissions. The fine bubble diffusers used in the aeration tanks were the key to efficient biofiltration. These diffusers enhance VOCs removal by creating very small bubbles in the aeration tank, thus improving oxygen transfer. The system achieved 83.9 percent removal of VOCs (9).

#### **Trickling Filters**

The U.S. Department of Energy and Envirogen are testing trickling bed filters and bioscrubbers as treatments for TCE removed from contaminated aquifers. TCE is stripped with vapor extractors and then biodegraded (68). The Blue River Secondary Facilities in Kansas City, MO, use four trickling beds to treat 50,000 cfm of a variety of odorous compounds. The beds are 150 ft in diameter, 20 ft deep, and are filled with plastic media. Before installation, the city received more than 25 complaints per year. After 2 years of operation, only one odor complaint was received, for an odor not originating from the facility (69).

#### **Natural Bed Biofilters**

In sewer systems in the Netherlands, pumping sewage from small villages to larger cities caused turbulence in the sewage, and released  $SO_2$  and  $H_2S$  into the atmosphere that caused odors and concrete corrosion. To resolve the problem, the fumes were fed through a natural bed biofilter;  $H_2S$  was reduced by 99.7 percent (70).

Biofilters were used to remove solvents from waste gases. The biofilter consisted of compost inoculated with pre-cultivated micro-organisms. Industrial plant field tests showed that formaldehyde removal was 80 percent. The filter was only  $3.5 \text{ m}^3$  and used a water scrubber for pre-cleaning followed by a biofilter of compost/wood chips. Styrene removal efficiency was 50 percent at another plant. Two containers were piped in parallel for the first stage with another four in parallel for the second stage (71).

Envirogen used their field pilot system to treat a slip stream of spray booth discharge from a fiberglass coating process. With residence times of 15 to 30 seconds, 85 to 95 percent removal of styrene was achieved, despite plant shutdowns, discontinuous daily operations, and fluctuations in the inlet concentrations on a minute-to-minute basis. The filter bed included styrene degrading micro-organisms, nutrients, and other additives (72). 29

#### Soil Beds

S.C. Johnson Co. of Racine, WI, makes consumer products packaged in aerosol cans. Propellant is released during the filling process, so a soil bed biofilter was installed to treat the propelled vapor stream. The bed is  $190 \text{ m}^2$ , 0.9 m deep, and has a 5-minute residence time to treat 2000 ppmv total hydrocarbons. The system worked well even in winter at temperatures of 12 to 24°C to achieve 90 percent removal. Industrial odors, propane, isobutane, and n-butane were decreased by 95 percent under warmer temperature (73).

Soil beds are used at Dow Chemical Company for waste air streams containing VOCs, such as mercaptans, as an inexpensive alternative to incineration. This enables companies such as Dow to use their incineration capacity for streams that cannot be treated biologically. The soil bed biofilter is filled with 20,000 cu ft of soil (36, 74).

#### Bark

A pilot scale biofilter in Gent, Belgium efficiently deodorized emissions from blanching of brussel sprouts and cauliflower by removing aldehydes, nitriles, iso-thiocyanates, and sulfides. A full-scale biofilter was built,  $42 \text{ m}^2$ , 1 m deep, and filled with tree bark. The efficiency of the 7,000 m<sup>3</sup>/hr biofilter was high for the aldehydes, but only 45 to 65 percent removal was achieved for the sulfides. After 6 months of operation, the removal efficiency decreased due to the accumulation of isothiocyanates. The build up may have inhibited the micro-organisms (75).

The Water Pollution Control Facility in Dartmouth, MA, used a bark biofilter to treat odors, sulfur compounds, and ammonia; 19,300 cfm of waste air was treated with a 45-second retention time. They found that longer retention times increased the total amount of VOCs removed (76). A hard board production plant in St. Veit used a bark compost biofilter to treat 400 to 600 m<sup>3</sup>/hr. Although the inlet gas temperature was above 40 °C, the biofilter was still effective at VOC removal (77).

#### Compost

GEKRO in Holland is a rendering facility. All process air is fed through perforated pipes covered in 15 in. of natural compost. It worked so well that the gas from the water treatment lagoons is also fed through the bed to treat those odors as well. Initially, chemical scrubbers had been used to remove the odors, but the biofilter worked so well that the scrubbers remain only as a back-up system (78).

In New Zealand, waste gas from an oil refining plant contains sulfur compounds. A biofilter bed of compost (garden and mushroom), with lupines to prevent compression, was filled to a depth of 0.8 m with a total bed volume of 5 to 6 m<sup>3</sup>. It was built on a concrete pad and covered with a roof. The residence time is 4 to 5 minutes, during which an inlet concentration of 350 to 5000 ppm  $H_2S$  was reduced below 1 ppm. On average, the removal was 86 to 99 percent. The only problem encountered was a build up of a strong, oily odor in the compost. Incineration was used before the biofilter was installed, but leaks in the duct work caused recurring odor problems and complaints (26).

The Monsanto Corporation had to treat 20,000 cfm of waste air with VOCs from their Saflex plastic production facility. Incineration and chemical scrubbing were their preferred methods of treatment, but they were both too expensive for this application, so a biofilter was built. The biofilter bed is compost, built over the area of a basketball court, and regularly achieves 90 percent removal rates (17).

A biofilter was installed on a muffle furnace at a metal finishing plant. Compounds that required treatment included: four types of lacquer (epoxy-phenol, alkyd-amino, alkyd-urea-formaldehyde and alkyd-amino-epoxy), alcohols, alkylcellosolves (alkyl ethers of ethylene glycol), esters, and alkylated aromatics. The total organic carbon concentration varied between 200 to 3000 mg C/Nm<sup>3</sup>. The extent of degradation depended on the compounds: 90 percent removal was obtained for alcohols, alkylcellosolves, ketones and 95 percent for esters, but only 40 percent removal for alkylated aromatics (C9-C12) was obtained. The gas load was 80  $\text{Nm}^3/\text{m}^2$ -hr. The installation consisted of a water cooler, dust filter, gas humidifier, and biofilter. The biofilter had 2 columns connected in series, each with a filter bed height of 1 m and a diameter of 1 m with a total volume of 1.6m<sup>3</sup> of compost, which was the filter bed material. The gas stream was 50 to 150 m<sup>3</sup>-hr for 16 hrs/day. The type of lacquer was changed several times a day. Several micro-organisms were present or added to the filter bed, including genera Nocardia (capable of degrading aromatics) and genera Hyphomicrobium (capable of degrading dichloromethane). Nutrients were added, and the waste gases were cooled from 80 to 120 °C to 30 to 60 °C and humidified with an ultrasonic sprayer to almost 100 percent relative humidity (79).

A yeast production plant with a 36,000 cfm, 300 ppmv ethanol waste air stream tried biofiltration to treat the emissions. They began with a 300 cu yd compost/tree bark filter bed for 18,000 cfm of the stream. After 3 months, the bed was dry and efficiency had decreased. When the decrease in efficiency was noticed, additional water was added directly to the bed and the inlet air was humidified. Neither of the measures was able to re-establish the removal efficiency of the compost bed. Due to the compost initially being handled improperly, it dried irreversibly. The headloss or pressure drop was also observed to increase as the compost decomposed. The vapor flow rate was scaled down to 6,000 cfm to improve moisture control. The design was modified to slope the walls and corners to reduce sidewall effects, and maintenance was improved. After all these changes were implemented, 95 percent removal was achieved (56).

In 1987, Jacksonville, FL, had serious odor complaints stemming from a treatment plant. At first, a caustic scrubber tower followed by granular activated carbon was installed, but these measures were only partially successful. Then a biofilter was installed and filled with sludge and wood chips. However, the biofilter was not as effective as projected because: (1) the gas velocity was too high, giving a loading rate of 3,300 cu ft/sq ft hr which is excessive, having a residence time of only 5 seconds, (2) poor gas distribution led to channeling in the filter bed, and (3) moisture, pH, temperature, and nutrients were not monitored or maintained (80).

The VT Biofilter for waste gas purification consists of microbiologically active compost and environmentally safe added components. The filter material provides a large buffer capacity for intermittent loads and excellent moisture regulation with optimal pH stabilization. The use of the biofilter at a leather factory reduced the airborne concentrations of  $3.1 \text{ mg/m}^3$  sulfide to  $0.08 \text{ mg/m}^3$  (97.4 percent removal). The bed was  $9 \text{ m}^3$  and treated 6000 m<sup>3</sup> air/hr (81).

The BIOBOX<sup>®</sup> is filled with Vamfil, a modified compost which can treat up to 20 g of carbon/m<sup>3</sup> Vamfil/hr. Vamfil is produced by a Dutch compost company, VAM. A BIOBOX<sup>®</sup> was placed in service at a sewage pump in Schiedam to remove  $H_2S$ , at a polymerization plant to remove  $H_2S$  and  $CS_2$ , at a food processor in the Netherlands, and at a chemical manufacturer with solvents in the waste air stream (82).

#### Peat Beds

Using a filter of bark, peat, and composted sewage, Brown and Caldwell with ARCO Products Company are treating a slip stream of gasoline derived petroleum air emissions from a soil vapor extraction and treatment system. The biofilter removal rates were observed to be compound specific (25).

A pilot scale peat biofilter was installed at the night soil treatment plant in Atsugi, Kanagawa Prefecture, Japan. The peat was inoculated with *Thiobacillus thioparus* DW44. Hydrogen sulfide, methanethiol, dimethyl sulfide, and dimethyl disulfide in the exhaust gas were decreased by 99 percent. No remarkable decline of pH, which often causes a deterioration in bacterial activity, was observed, mainly because  $SO_4^{*}$  reacted with  $NH_3$ . The inoculation of a specific sulfur degrading organism into the biofilter overcame the long acclimation periods usually required to reach steady-state, and resulted in enhanced removal efficiency of the malodorous gases (83, 84).

#### **Engineered Medium Biofilters**

The Gas Research Institute of Chicago, IL evaluated laboratory scale engineered biofilters to treat benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX) from the exhaust of a glycol regeneration unit. The glycol is used to dehydrate raw field gas and is regenerated by boiling water from it. The vapor also contains BTEX. The filters were filled with MBI's proprietary pelletized media. Removal efficiency reached 95 percent with a load of 55 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr of BTEX (2, 45).

A pilot scale engineered biofilter was installed at a soil vapor extraction site. A gas station, run by the Imperial Oil Company in Farwell, MI, had leaking underground storage tanks. The soil was cleaned by vacuum extraction, and the biofilter was used to destroy contaminants in the vapor. Throughout the study, 76 percent of the BTEX was removed with loading rates of 3.75 g/m<sup>3</sup> hr to 56 g/m<sup>3</sup>hr, even with temperatures ranging from 23 to 90 °F (85).

#### **Technological Innovations in Biofiltration**

#### Theory

#### Mechanisms

VOCs can be removed from a vapor stream by several mechanisms in a biofilter including: absorption to water, adsorption in the filter media and biomass, nonbiological transformations, and biodegradation (73). The importance of sorption phenomena will depend on the media used. For example, it is known that VOCs, ammonia, and sulfur compounds will adsorb onto granular activated carbon, soil, and peat (86, 87). It is also well known that water has a high capacity for alcohols, ketones, and highly soluble compounds. This process depends on the affinity between the VOCs and the media and will be affected by moisture, temperature, pH, and concentrations. Generally, once the filter media have been in contact with the waste air stream, they will reach their saturation point and will not adsorb any more VOCs. Nonbiological transformations of VOCs include hydrolysis, oxidation due to ambient oxygen, and reactions due to the pH of the media and liquid phase. The importance of these nonbiological transformations will depend on the VOCs treated, and on the operating conditions in the biofilter. The main mechanism of VOC elimination in a biofilter is biodegradation. The macro-kinetics of the elimination processes in a biofilter bed can be modeled as an absorption process in a wet biolayer, accompanied by a biological degradation reaction (38).

Specifically, the process of biodegradation involves all of the following mechanisms (86):

- mass transfer of the contaminant from the bulk gas phase to an interface
- dissolution of the contaminant from the gas phase to the liquid phase at the interface
- diffusion of the contaminant through the bulk liquid to a thin liquid film
- diffusion of the contaminant through the thin liquid film
- partitioning of the contaminant from the liquid phase to the biofilm surface
- diffusion and biodegradation of the contaminant in the biofilm
- back diffusion of the contaminant from the media to and into the biofilm.

Therefore, solubility, concentration, and biodegradability of the contaminant are important in the overall biodegradation kinetics (88). Also, medium particle composition and size, porosity, water content, airflow rate, biomass density, and the species of micro-organisms present in the filter will significantly affect the overall kinetics (89).

#### **Kinetics**

The kinetics in a biofilter involve many parameters. However, a good model is very useful in determining improved reactor designs and operating regimes. Researchers have studied degradation rates and determined the kinetics of biodegradation. Because removal efficiency is independent of concentration in many biofilters, kinetics and models are discussed in terms of removal rates (90). Maximum elimination capacities are also used when discussing factors that affect kinetics. Maximum elimination capacity is the maximum mass of particular VOCs that can be degraded in a specified time by a specified volume of filter media. Also, odor measurements can be quite subjective. Whenever possible, removals are stated in terms of compounds, to provide a common basis for com-
parisons. Odor sampling is discussed in detail by van Doorn and van Harreveld (91).

At high contaminant concentrations, degradation kinetics are zero order. The biological layer has a fixed limited capability to oxidize contaminants present in excess. Above critical concentrations, removal is limited by biological activity, so the concentration of the component to be degraded becomes independent of the rate of degradation. Overall conversion decreases when higher pollutant concentrations are fed because excess contaminant passes through the filter untouched. Thus, the elimination capacity of the reactor is constant at a high inlet concentration. In the case of high inlet contaminant concentration, there is no diffusion limitation to the wet biolayer; the conversion rate is only controlled by the reaction rate (38, 41, 88, 89, 92-102).

At low inlet concentrations, or when the contaminant has low water solubility, degradation kinetics are first order. As the concentration of the component to be degraded increases, the rate of degradation increases as well. Removal of a component is controlled by the rate at which it can reach and penetrate the gasliquid interfaces, and the rate is proportional to concentration. In other words, the biofilter is limited by diffusion of the contaminant into the biolayer, suggesting that the biolayer is not fully active. Below critical air phase concentrations, diffusion in the biolayer is the rate limiting factor. The concentrations of VOCs that the cells can digest are probably limited by diffusion in these cases. Reaction rates and the Thiele modulus may also play a role here. Diffusion limits the elimination capacity, and the capacity of the biofilter increases with the increased inlet concentration. Collectively, these are known as Michaelis-Menton enzyme kinetics (38, 41, 88, 89, 92-102).

As biofilters develop under operating conditions, distinct regions are found with regard to nutrients, pH, gas concentration, and biomass density. Thus, biofilters may have several physical regions operating under different kinetic modes. At the gas inlet, the concentration of contaminant is high and zero order kinetics prevail. Toward the gas outlet, the effluent is less concentrated, so first order kinetics may take over. Thus, in one biofilter, both types of kinetics should be considered. In the last stages of a biofilter, the design should be modified to encourage diffusion (103). In a 36-in. deep bed, concentrations were measured at various depths, 50 percent of the contaminant was degraded in the first 10 in. The mid and upper sections worked as polishers; the mid third removed 40 percent on average while the top third usually removed 10 percent (104).

Other factors will affect the kinetics including: residence time, temperature, and the presence of oxygen, nutrients, or co-metabolites. It is also well known that increasing the residence time of the components to be degraded will increase the extent of degradation. The micro-organisms have more time to absorb, digest, and eliminate the waste (105). Biological activity doubles with each 10 °C rise in temperature within certain limits. For biofilters, the elimination capacity will also double with a 10 °C temperature rise because the microbes are more active (106).

Any factor that aids biological growth can help increase biodegradation, such as co-metabolism. A primary substrate can be fed to a biofilter that is also being fed a low concentration of a contaminant. The contaminant is then used as a secondary substrate, while a primary substrate sustains the cells (112).

Any factor that can limit biological activity will also limit biodegradation. Diffusion of oxygen into the biolayer can be limiting if the oxygen concentration in the gas stream is not high enough (107). Limited nitrogen or phosphorus can limit cell growth. Lack of these nutrients will also limit biodegradation (108-110). Performance was shown to be poor under steady-state conditions where the inlet VOCs concentrations were low because of limiting gas-phase concentrations below which the biofilms cannot be sustained (111).

### Models

Using the biodegradation kinetics, models of biofilters can be designed. As the kinetics have been refined, so have the models. The models are used to size biofilters to full-scale and to indicate more efficient operating regimes (56).

The simplest models are for steady-state waste streams with one component, assuming either first or zero order kinetics (89, 98, 113, 114). Kampbell combined zero order kinetics with first order into a hyperbolic function dependent on the contaminant concentration (73). The effect of oxygen is added in Shareefdeen's biofilter model. These models assume plug flow and are more or less complex in determining diffusion rates across interfaces. Hodge added non-steady-state operation, the effect of  $CO_2$  evolution, and the qualities of the filter media including adsorptive capacity and porosity to his model (14, 97). While the adsorptive capacity of the granular activated carbon was substantially reduced by water and microbial growth, it remained highest for the three media. The compost microbial community had a higher degradation rate constant. Biofilters packed with activated carbon provided the best maximum short-term efficiency treatment overall (14).

Smith, Biswas, Suidan, and Brenner developed a model for the trickle bed biofilter. The effects of biological growth on the hydrodynamics of flow are accounted for. They also calculated the effects of the biological growth on the hydrodynamics of the flow. The full Monod kinetic rate expression is used in describing VOCs consumption in the biofilms. They developed the relationship between the flux into a biofilm and the corresponding biofilm thickness. This led to a prediction of the biofilm profile through the bed depth, with thicker films at the inlet of the filter where concentrations are higher and correspondingly less dense biofilms at the outlet where the concentration was lower. Eight dimensionless groups were identified that completely determined a unique solution of the model equations. For specific VOCs and biofilter packing medium, the efficiency can be expressed as a function of one of these groups. The resulting efficiency curves can then be reduced to an equation that can be used for simple empirical design correlation (111). Research by van Lith extrapolated the basic model to account for mixtures of contaminants and used it for designing filter beds up to 2000 m<sup>3</sup> (100, 101).

Leson and Winer determined that the typical flow in a biofilter is laminar. The Reynolds number varies between 0.2 and 0.5 (115). According to Ottengraf's updated model and experimental results, co-current and countercurrent flow in a trickle bed produce equivalent degradation. The model shows that recirculation of the liquid phase reduces concentration gradients in the trickle bed (116). Ockeloen, Overcamp, and Grady also included bed height in co-current versus countercurrent operation models. They found that co-current operation was more efficient, especially with sparingly soluble contaminants (117).

### **Design Parameters**

Theories abound in regards to biofilter kinetics and models, but pilot and fullscale units are still designed with rules of thumb and empirical scale-up (42). According to the kinetic model above, the biofilter is not diffusion limited at the concentration where the kinetics switch from first order to zero order, this is the inflection concentration (73). Thus, the equipment and nonbiological process is most efficient when operating at or above that concentration. Increasing diffusion in the biofilter will increase the inflection concentration. Diffusion kinetics are influenced by the media, the filter design, the airflow rate, and the compounds to be degraded.

Biodegradation may be the limiting factor at any inlet concentration, however, the limitations are often most obvious above the inflection concentration. Media, nutrients, moisture, pH, temperature, and the compounds to be degraded will all influence the biodegradation rate. To take advantage of the kinetics inherent in a biofilter, the first stages should be designed to maximize biological degradation, while later stages should be modified to maximize diffusion.

### **Reactor Design**

In bioscrubbers and trickling filters, the contaminant must diffuse through a liquid phase for degradation to occur. Thus, if the contaminant is not extremely water soluble, the rate of diffusion will be slow and the inflection concentration will be low (38). Engineered and natural medium biofilters are not covered in water. Thus, contaminants may also absorb directly to the media instead of first diffusing through a liquid phase (2, 20). These systems may exhibit much higher inflection concentrations than bioscrubbers or trickling filters with insoluble contaminants.

Soil beds usually require covering a large area of land to have a large enough bed volume. This land can be covered with a greenhouse to facilitate the cultivation of shallow rooted plants which could reduce sulfate excesses and resupply soil organics. Plants would also help keep the soil loose to improve aeration and porosity (1). The plants may also take up recalcitrant compounds that are not readily degraded.

Soil beds with trenches are very inexpensive to build, but any leachate, or water flowing through the bed is not contained. Thus, if it is contaminated, it can flow into the groundwater below. Thus, new natural filter beds are made in containers. These containers can keep leachate from draining into the groundwater. In addition, they can be stacked (38, 118, 119). Therefore, the same total bed volume can have a much smaller footprint than a conventional soil bed. Also, series operation is possible so that design parameters can be modified to maximize removal at each concentration as the waste gas flows through the bed (60).

Airflows that have widely varying concentrations are not generally treated with biofilters. However, with a small carbon adsorption unit as a prefilter, biofiltration can be a viable technology. The carbon filter adsorbs contaminants when concentrations are high. When the inlet concentrations decrease, contaminants desorb from the carbon and flow into the biofilter (49, 120).

Sometimes pretreatment of the gas is required to maintain temperatures between 50 and 104 °F. Humidification of the gas, reducing aerosols present to 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup> and removing particulates that may clog the filter pores are also required (35, 53, 121). The parameters and pH maintenance are more easily monitored and adjusted in several small beds versus one large bed (67, 119).

Carbon adsorption units can also be used as a polishing step. Biofilters are not as efficient at extremely low concentrations because the microbes starve for lack of adequate growth substrate. Therefore, to achieve extremely low exit concentrations, a carbon adsorption unit is sometimes a better technology to use to eliminate the last bit of contamination.

#### Media

Porosity of the medium will affect diffusion kinetics, as will adsorptive capacity. The hospitality of the media for micro-organisms will play a role in the biodegradation kinetics. Media should have: (1) high adsorption capacity, (2) low pressure drop, (3) high nutrient content, (4) pH buffering capacity, and (5) adequate moisture content (112). Effective biofilter solid phase media were found to be those permeable to airflow and able to support high density microbial populations. Obviously, medium choice in a biofilter is very important.

#### **Porosity/Headloss**

The porosity of particulate matter in the medium is very important. If the medium porosity is low, the pressure loss through the bed becomes high. When the medium is extremely porous, the air/medium contact time is minimal and sorption is limited. The media must also be the correct porosity to maintain moisture. One author stated a goal of 32 percent pore space (122). Natural media including tree bark, various composts and sludges, various soils, peat, wood chips, diatomaceous earth, granular activated carbon, and grass have all been tested as biofilter media, solely or in various combinations (11, 82, 102, 123, 124). After the biofilter is placed in service, the organic components of the media will break down. As the media break down, the pores are filled and the entire bed compacts (63). Soil pores are closed when trenches are dug for the gas distribution system in a full-scale natural bed biofilter. The trench digger seals the soil pores as it scrapes away the dirt. Repeated wetting and drying of filter material can also seal pores. Diffusion is severely limited from these actions (35, 101). This compression limits diffusion and overall biofilter efficiency. Headloss, or the pressure drop across the filter bed, is often used as a measure of porosity. As a bed compacts, the headloss will increase. Build up of biomass growing on the medium will also increase the headloss (102).

Soil beds are effective because VOCs are sorbed at very low loading rates under strongly aerobic conditions at the soil surface. Soil is a mix of activated carbon, silica, alumina, iron oxide, and lime. It has 40 to 50 percent porosity, 1 to 100  $m^2/g$  silica, and transition metal oxides catalyze the oxidation of inorganics. It also has a high buffer capacity, a large amount of adsorptive humic matter, and a large natural microbial population. Soil also does not irreversibly dry (20). In addition, since soil has lower porosity, slowly degraded compounds are retained longer and have a better chance of being removed. Compost is more porous than soil, so smaller beds can be used. It is better suited to larger airflows with easily degraded VOCs. However, compost must periodically be stirred to prevent caking, and it must initially be sieved to achieve a homogeneous distribution of particles (22, 125). Fibrous peat is flexible and light and has better water permeability and lower pressure drops than soil or compost (93).

Engineered medium incorporates porous medium with supports or unique shapes to limit compression (45, 110, 116, 126, 127). In this way, headloss is consistently low. Engineered medium may use perlite, pelletized GAC, lava rock, celite, ceramic shapes, polyurethane, glass beads, and plastics as supports for the biomass (86, 110, 116, 128, 129). The engineered medium also allows bed washing, so that excess biomass can be removed (86, 114, 130). A 1- to 2-hr backwash will decrease the efficiency for several days, but overall performance stability is enhanced (130). Some medium size guidelines were set out by Wittorf, media with a random packed bed of particles 4 to 8 mm will clog quickly as will media up to 16 mm diameters. Tube form supports aligned with airflow were therefore used. They were made of polyethylene sintered with GAC (di = 40 mm, da = 30 mm) (110). Overall, porosity and headloss can easily be maintained with engineered media so that diffusion kinetics, due to porosity, are constant through the life of the filter.

### Adsorption

The adsorptive capacity of the biofilter medium affects overall kinetics in several ways. During start-up, the medium adsorb contaminants until the medium capacity is reached. Adsorption is the main removal mechanism during filter startup (14). During steady-state operation, adsorptive media can remove nonwater soluble contaminants from the air stream (21, 41). As the airflows through soil and compost pores, pollutants partition out on the surfaces. Micro-organisms oxidize the adsorbed organic gases to CO, and renew the soils sorption capacity (20). Difficult to degrade compounds may be retained longer in the bed, so that they are degraded more completely before emission (45, 92, 114). Additionally, the adsorptive capacity of the medium can be used to smooth contaminant concentrations for non-steady-state operation. In these cases, the filter medium adsorbs contaminants while the emission process is running. Then when the emission process is off, the contaminant back diffuses from the medium and is degraded by the biomass. The micro-organisms receive a smoothed concentration of contaminant, so biodegradation kinetics are better overall than without the smoothing process (72, 120). Soil, compost, and peat all have high natural adsorptive capacity (22, 131, 132).

39

Medium choice also affects biodegradation rates depending on its ability to support the microbial population. A medium that provides nutrients, retains moisture, buffers pH, and is nontoxic will support more organisms (86, 102). Organic natural medium such as compost, peat, and bark are most hospitable for microorganisms, and support the highest biodegradation rates (11). However, compost and peat can dry irreversibly if the moisture content is not maintained (22). Soil will crack and cause channeling when moisture is lost (22, 80). Engineered media may have nutrients added to overcome their inherent inert nature. Medium amendments such as calcite, limestone, and oyster shells have been added to both natural and engineered medium to increase the buffer capacity (22, 123, 128, 133). However, nutrients, moisture, and pH can also be adjusted using operational procedures. A medium that lacks nutrients should not be eliminated from consideration.

#### **Airflow Rates**

The superficial gas velocity also affects biofilter kinetics. Velocity affects diffusion, and plays a role in the moisture balance that can affect biodegradation kinetics. A high velocity gas at a certain concentration will diffuse more contaminant into the biomass and medium than a low velocity gas at the same concentration. This effect occurs when the boundary layer is disturbed by high shear from a high gas flow rate. In the first case, more total contaminant is put into the reactor, thus more diffusion occurs, and the inflection concentration is higher (106, 107, 129). However, if the total concentration of contaminant is too high, it may cause substrate inhibition or be toxic to the micro-organisms (72, 118, 119, 125, 134). In many research cases, increased gas velocity decreased residence time, while the total loading of contaminant was constant and the inflection concentration decreased. Thus, the inflection concentration decreased for a given total mass of contaminant with decreased residence time because diffusion did not have enough time to occur (19, 76, 114, 135, 136).

### Compounds

The compounds to be degraded affect both diffusion kinetics and biodegradation kinetics. The concentration and total mass put into the biofilter will affect diffusion kinetics. Higher concentrations will increase diffusion unless substrate inhibition occurs (119). The type of compound will also affect diffusion kinetics. If the compound is very soluble in water or the medium, diffusion will be increased with a concurrent increase in the inflection concentration (21, 41). Increased volatility of a compound will have the opposite effect, slowing diffusion (89). The type of contaminant will affect biodegradation kinetics. Bohn has made some generalizations about compounds and their degradability (Table 4) (22).

The sorption of hydrocarbons increases exponentially with carbon number, which offsets their somewhat slower biodegradability compared to analogous lighter molecular weight compounds (20). Table 5 lists compounds degraded by biofiltration.

Many VOCs are not produced at the same concentration 24 hours/day. Fortunately, the microbial flora appear to survive at least a 2-week period, during which time the filter bed is not fed VOCs (98). For example, styrene polluted air discharged from a fiberglass spray booth operation was investigated using a field pilot biofilter containing 30 cu ft of packing. The test program evaluated response to rapid changes in pollutant concentration, discontinuous daily and weekly plant operation, and extended periods of shut-down. Average removal efficiency was greater than 95 percent, as measured by on-line total hydrocarbon. On resumption of service after shutdown periods of 2 days to 2 weeks, the unit recovered to greater than 90 percent removal efficiency within 5 to 8 hours. On Monday mornings when a re-acclimation period was observed, degradation efficiency was typically 50 to 80 percent for the first few hours, depending on the vapor residence time, with a steady increase in efficiency over the next 3 to 6 hours. To minimize the re-acclimation period, a styrene feed system was installed to introduce styrene to the inlet before the spray booth operated. No reacclimation period was observed after the feeding system was added. During normal daily operations, the spray booth was manned for two shifts, from approximately 7:00 a.m. - 12:00 midnight. The concentration of organics in the spray booth effluent stream varied from as high as 130 ppmv to as low as 13 ppmy. These extreme swings in concentration occurred some 20 to 40 times in a typical 1-hour period. The spray booth was not operated over the weekend, and the plant was shut down for 4 days over the Thanksgiving holiday and for approximately 2 weeks between Christmas and the New Year. The average concentration of organic in the inlet was 44 ppmv for the first month of operation (72).

Rapid VOCs	Rapid Volatile Inor- ganic Compounds	Slow VOCs	Very Slow VOCs
alcohols	H,S	phenols hydrocarbons	halogenated hydro-
aldehydes	NOx (not N <sub>2</sub> O)	methylene chloride	carbons
ketones	SO,	aliphatics degrade faster	PCE
ethers	HCI	than aromatics such as xy-	TCE (150 min reten-
esters	NH3	lenes, toluene, benzene,	tion time)
organic acids	PH <sub>3</sub>	and styrene	CCI
amines	SiH		PAHs
thiols	HF		CS,
compounds w/o N or S as functional groups			pentachlorophenol

	Table 4.	Biodegradability	y of various co	mpounds.
--	----------	------------------	-----------------	----------

Compound	Inlet Concentration	Outlet Concentration	% Efficiency	Reference
total petroleum hydrocarbons	6.2 10 <sup>.5</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	2.9 10 <sup>-5</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	53	(25)
diesel fuel	600 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	100 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	83	(89)
gasoline	20, 000 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	14, 000 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	30	(89)
ethanol	5300 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	33 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	99	(81)
	1, 000 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	100 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	90	(89)
isopropanol	4915 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	<10 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	99	(81)
acetone	5 ppbv	1 ppbv	85	(137)
benzene	4.2 10 <sup>-7</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	4.8 10 <sup>-9</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	99	(25)
	850 ppb	109 ppb	91	(95)
	8 ppbv	2 ppbv	80	(137)
ethyl benzene	3.5 10 <sup>-7</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	4.5 10 <sup>-8</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	87	(25)
toluene	3.2 10 <sup>-6</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	6.8 10 <sup>-8</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	98	(25)
	925 ppb	68 ppb	95	(95)
xylene	2.3 10 <sup>-6</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	1.4 10 <sup>-7</sup> lb/min/ft <sup>3</sup>	94	(25)
	224 ppb	27 ppb	91	(95)

678 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

75 ppmv

18 ppbv

4000 mg/L

5210 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

220 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr

3 -50 ppmv

17.7 ppm

0.5-5 ppmv

20-2000 ppmv

22 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

3 ppmv

3 ppbv

200 mg/L

890 mg/m<sup>3</sup>

150 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr

0.04 ppm

96

95

94

85

83

68

98

>99

99

99

(127)

(86)

(138)

(137)

(81)

(139)

(140)

(95)

(137)

(106, 116)

### **Operational Parameters**

styrene

a-pinene

trichloroethylene

dichloromethane

hydrogen sulfide

### **Micro-Organisms**

Table 6 lists species of micro-organisms suited to degrading certain compounds. Generally, the microbes should have wide tolerances to moisture, pH, and nutrients so that they are resilient to upsets in operating conditions. There are roughly 1 billion of these micro-organisms in a gram of soil or compost. Fungi are also present, with about 100,000 colony forming units in a gram of soil or compost. The fungus degrades more complicated molecules by excreting extracellular enzymes that break down polymers (22). Fungi are generally very resilient as they form spores when conditions become too harsh. Microbes that are suited to a contaminant will exhibit better kinetics than ill suited species (98). Even a well-suited microbe will perform better after it is acclimated to a specific contaminant (139, 141, 142).

Compound	Microorganism	Reference
acetaldehyde, butanone, and other aldehydes and ketones	Gordona corynebacterium	(144)
degrades a-pinene to cis-verbenol and verbenone and trans sobrerol	Aspergillus niger	(86)
pinene	Pseudomonas maltophilia, Serratia maraces- cens	(86)
phenol	Pseudomonas putida heterogeneous culture and a pure strain, Candida tropicalis, Fusarium floccuferium, andTrichosporon cutaneum	(141)
xylenes and styrene	Nocardia	(141)
1, 2 dichloroethane	Xanthobacter autotrophicus	(141)
dichloromethane	Hyphomicrobium sp. gj21, Pseudomonas pu-	(106, 116, 139)
trichloroethylene	Pseudomonas cepacia 64, Pseudomonas mendocina KR-1 (with co-substrates)	(138)
sulfide	Bacillus, Mycoides andStreptomyces thiobacilli	(1, 145)
hydrogen sulfide	Xanthomonas sp. DY44	(146, 147)
hydrogen sulfide, methanethiol, dimethyl sulfide, and dimethyl di- sulfide	Thiobacillus thioparus Tkm, Thiobacillus thio- parus DW44, Basidiomycete cephalosporium, Penicillium, Aspergillus, Trichoderma, Methy- lotrophic strain 155, Pseudomonas acid ovorans Dm <sup>2</sup> -11	(148-153)
dimethyl sulfide	Hyphomicrobium	(154)
dimethyl disulfide	Alcaligenes, Thiobacillus thioparus	(93, 144)

Table 6. Some microorganisms used to degrade various compounds.

Mixed populations as well as pure strains can be used with various results (141, 143). Soils, composts, and peats generally provide a consortia of microbes. Four bacteria isolated from peat biofilters, *Thiobacillus thioparus* DW44, *Thiobacillus sp.* HA43, *Xanthomonas sp.* DY44 and *Hyphomicrobium sp.* I55, were selected to enhance the removal ratios of hydrogen sulfide, methanethiol, and dimethyl sulfide in a mixed gas system. Two bacteria, DW44 and I55, which degrade hydrogen sulfide, methanethiol, dimethyl sulfide, and dimethyl disulfide, were mixed with DY44 or HA43 which degrade only hydrogen sulfide and methanethiol. Enhanced removability was observed by mixing the four species (143).

Some micro-organisms have an extremely hydrophobic cell surface, like Gordona which uses acetaldehyde, butanone, and other aldehydes and ketones. These micro-organisms can absorb contaminants directly from the gas phase, instead of from the water phase. This ability is especially useful for contaminants that are not very soluble in water. Corynebacterium and Gordona bacteria have lipase activity and these may hydrolyze the fat (144). To avoid plugging the biofilter, micro-organism growth should be controlled. When the death rate and dead cell matter equal the growth rate then the total amount of biomass should remain constant and clogging may be avoided (66). There are several ways to control biomass including limiting nutrients, washing, and sloughing (106, 109). Washing also provides additional water to the filter bed to help maintain the moisture balance (125). Nutrient limitation is discussed below.

A few studies have been done on the emission of micro-organisms from biofilters. In general, finely structured homogeneous packing materials emit lower numbers of bacteria than more heterogeneous materials like compost or peat, and the number of molds discharged is generally low compared to the number of bacteria. The concentration of micro-organisms of a highly contaminated inlet gas is considerably reduced, but an extra contamination is observed with a low inlet contamination. It appears that the emission rate also increases at higher gas velocities (155).

## Nutrients

Without nutrients, the biomass will die. Micro-organisms require oxygen, nitrogen, phosphorous, and trace minerals. In some cases, a carbon co-substrate must be fed for contaminant degradation to occur. If any of the above factors are limited, biodegradation kinetics will suffer. For example, degradation of toluene with nutrients is 80 to 100 percent, but without the nutrients removal was as low as 20 percent (118).

In the case of an engineered medium, nutrients must be fed to the biomass. In a trickle bed design, nutrients trickle down the medium and airflows up or down the packed bed. Nutrients in the leachate are recycled after nitrogen additions and pH control. Nutrients included mineral salts, yeast extract, and trace elements trickled through the filter (7). It is thought that natural medium biofilters generally provide the nutrients required (98).

### Oxygen

Oxygen is required for aerobic degradation of the contaminants. If the waste gas is at a very high concentration, there may not be enough oxygen present for complete removal. A stoichiometric balance should be performed to ensure that oxygen is present in excess (63, 88). The medium shape may also affect the rate of oxygen dissolution in engineered medium. Lenskii et al. determined correlations that describe oxygen transfer in trickle bed filters. They found that increasing the liquid flow increased oxygen transfer (156). Sareefdeen also states some oxygen correlations and incorporates oxygen into his biofilter kinetic model. Based on the typical cell composition of  $CH_{1.8}O_{0.5}N_{0.2}$ , he calculated that 0.25 kg of dry biomass can be produced with 1 kg of oxygen. Because oxygen is intimately involved in biodegradation, both oxygen and the VOCs must be considered to determine if oxygen flux to the biofilter may be a limiting factor. At various positions in the biolayer, either oxygen or the VOCs may be limiting, so both must be included in modeling calculations (107).

### Nitrogen

Based on the typical cell, nitrogen is about 7 to 12 percent of the cell mass (157). Available nitrogen should be at 200 mg/kg or more for good microbe nutrition and cell growth (108). Ammonium chloride and ammonium sulfate have both been used to increase available nitrogen (62, 158). Both contaminant carbon uptake and mineralization could be dramatically improved following the introduction of nitrogen in the ammonium form (109). A recent CERL study indicated that nitrate was better nitrogen source than ammonia in trickling filters treating ethyl ether. A more detailed discussion will be included in a forthcoming CERL report (Work Unit U29 of this project).

To control unlimited cell growth and prevent biomass plugging, nitrogen can be limited. Because nitrogen is needed for cell growth, but is not used in the buffering system, it is an easy way to limit the cell growth without affecting pH. However, maximal removal of contaminants occurred when conditions for unlimited microbial growth were present and starvation for nitrogen significantly diminished contaminant removal. A biomass with growth arrested by nitrogen starvation is unable to carry out the net synthesis of nitrogen-containing compounds, and thus is unable to expend the same amount of energy on anabolic reactions as a biomass under unlimited growth conditions (109, 110). In addition to providing microbial nutrition, the addition of ammonium sulfate drove solvents from the leachate (110).

### Phosphorous

Based on the typical cell composition, phosphorous is about 1 to 3 percent of the cell mass. Phosphorous must be provided to the biomass for growth to occur (157). Severin et al. found that 0.0048 grams of phosphorous were consumed per gram of BTEX removed (45). He also states that the engineered biofilter should be fed nutrients at a rate similar to that needed for good growth in any biological system to obtain good, sustained removals of 85 percent or more (2).

### **Co-Metabolites**

The micro-organisms need carbon to grow and reproduce. When the carbon source is a recalcitrant contaminant, the micro-organisms may be carbon limited. Thus, feeding extra carbon may help them grow and degrade more of the contaminant. In one case, molasses was added to a nitrogen reducing biofilter. The micro-organisms acclimated faster and removed more contaminant (128).

However, if too much co-metabolite is added, the micro-organisms may not degrade all of the contaminant. A balance must be found for each system. For example, co-metabolic TCE oxidation by certain micro-organisms has been associated with enzyme inactivation and cell toxicity resulting in a rapid loss of degradative activity. Competitive inhibition of phenol oxidation has been observed with TCE concentrations as low as 10 mM, and increased co-substrate concentrations should inhibit TCE degradation. It is necessary to balance the cell density and co-substrate feed rate with the inlet concentrations of TCE to prevent loss of activity of the bioreactor (138). Another example of co-substrate addition is the addition of 2 g/L yeast extract to stimulate the growth of HA43 (93).

In an acetone degrading biofilter pilot test for DuPont, cresols, phenol, and other aromatics were also degraded. When the acetone feed was stopped, sharp decreases in biological activity was observed. This was attributed to micro-organisms being poisoned by the recalcitrant VOCs (54).

#### Moisture

Control of moisture levels in biofilter medium is critical to maintaining odor and/or VOCs removal performance. Lack of moisture control is perhaps the most common cause of poor biofilter performance and premature medium replacement (159). Humidity problems cause 50 to 75 percent of all biofiltration problems. Media that are too wet or too dry are prone to failure. Excess water can cause blockages that increase headloss in the filter (77, 159, 160). Too little water will cause cracks and channeling in the filter bed (23, 86). Variation in moisture content is an important factor affecting the rate of deterioration. Weather can also play an important role in moisture variation in the filter bed due to wet and dry periods. Moisture causes the medium to swell while dry weather allows the medium to shrink, due to evaporation. Evaporation is more of a problem at higher temperatures and flow rates. Shrink-swell cycles decrease filter volume and cause lumps. Thus, gas residence times are reduced and there is less water phase for micro-organisms to grow on (161). Biofilters act like humidifiers for exhaust air, so they expend water. Even when the filter bed is not exposed to the elements, drying out will occur unless the incoming air is at least 98 percent humid. Moisture demand increases with increased temperatures, especially higher than 57 °F. The internal bed temperature also increases from oxidation occurring in the filter, which in turn increases evaporation. Moisture control can be provided by a combination of feed gas humidification and application of water to the medium surfaces (159, 160).

Without sufficient water, micro-organisms will not survive and flourish. Thus, the inflection concentration will decrease drastically if the amount of water is inappropriate for the needs of the micro-organisms (127). Aerobic microbes are generally most active when the moisture potential is in the range of 0.1 to 0.5 bars. This range corresponds to perhaps 8 to 10 percent moisture content of a sand, 20 to 25 percent of a loam soil, 40 to 50 percent of a compost bed, and 60 to 75 percent of a peat bed. This range also corresponds to a range of relative humidity in the air phase of 99.5 to 100 percent in the pores of the medium (35, 37, 93). Compared to bacteria, fungi are generally more tolerant to low water activity (158). Too little water may also encourage mite infestation, and too much moisture can encourage fungal growth (2). The reduction of the water activity may improve the mass transfer of poorly water soluble compounds (158).

Water can be applied several ways to the biofilter: humidifying the inlet air, or spraying filter material with spray nozzles, cloth hoses, and other systems. Spray must be evenly distributed throughout filter to prevent channeling (48, 98, 162). A humidification stage with a spray column and closed water recirculation circuit can also be employed (62). If water is added too quickly, ponding may result and cause headloss problems. The rate of water addition is limited to about 20 to 30 L/m<sup>2</sup>-hr. The flow of air and water through the filter will also affect moisture losses. When both the water and gas flow from top to bottom, the filter may perform better because the filter material is driest and warmest when gas enters the filter bed. Prehumidification alone will not keep the filter from drying. Biological oxidation is exothermic, so gas becomes warmer as it travels through the filter. When this occurs, it is not fully humidified so it takes water from the filter medium, which cools the reactor (101).

### pН

Micro-organisms grow best at their optimal pH. However, when some compounds are degraded, acid is produced, which lowers the pH of the medium. For example, acid intermediates like acetic acid from ethyl acetate and butyl acetate may be produced when these contaminants are degraded. If the medium or leachate are not buffered, the pH will change drastically, which will affect the micro-organisms and cause a decrease in the biodegradation kinetics (145, 163, 164).

In one case, dimethylsulfide was oxidized stoichiometrically to sulfuric acid. Due to the acidification of the inoculated biofilter, the maximum inflection concentration decreased from 30 to 12 g/m<sup>3</sup>-day after 2.5 months. This acidification was counteracted and the removal capacity was increased (up to more than 50 g/m<sup>3</sup>-day) by spraying a buffered mineral solution over the biofilter (154).

In another example, bacteria associated with hydrogen sulfide oxidation were isolated from a peat biofilter to which various concentrations of hydrogen sulfide gas were supplied. After acclimation of the peat, a facultative autotrophic bacterium, *Thiobacillus intermedius*, was primarily responsible for hydrogen sulfide oxidation. The number of cells increased at pH>3, but decreased when pH fell to <3 when breakthrough of hydrogen sulfide was finally observed. When the pH was controlled at about 3, consistent removal of hydrogen sulfide continued without a decline in the number of cells (165).

Other methods of maintaining pH include: addition of phosphate buffer solution of pH 7 every 2 days; and adding chalk, marl, or water insoluble alkalis to the medium to keep pH from dropping (62, 93). However, Allen and Yung recommend that slurries should not be used for pH control, as they add fines to the filter medium, which can decrease porosity and increase headloss (162).

### Temperature

Biological activity doubles with each 10 °C rise in temperature within certain limits. For biofilters, the elimination capacity should also double with a 10 °C temperature rise because the microbes are more active (106). However, Bohn says that the optimum temperature is 100 °F (37 °C) but that the temperature response curve is rather flat from 10 to 60 °C. Careful control of biofilm temperature is not required (22). Most other authors give the same temperature range of 10 to 60 °C (93, 121, 128).

# 3 Methods

This chapter details the monitoring, sampling, storage, analysis, calibration and standard operating procedures that were established to ensure quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) for the lab work that was done for this project. W Where applicable, these procedures will also be observed for the VOC field scale reactor once it is in place and operating.

# **General Biofilter Column Information**

The biofilter columns used in all of the experiments were constructed of 1 cm thick glass pieces with an ID of 10.16 cm (4 in.), and varying in length. The reactors were built using these pieces, resulting in columns approximately 92.5 cm (36.4 in.) in height with an average total volume of 18.5 L. A second set of experiments were carried out with the reactors being separated into three different stages by perforated plates made of PVC. The plates were 0.635 cm thick and had 1 cm holes punched in them such that air and liquid could easily pass through the reactor. This modification resulted in three separate stages of media 52 to 67 cm in height and 5 to 10 cm of air space between the stages (Figure 7).

The support medium used in the columns was made of a polyurethane material that had nutrients and buffer incorporated into it. Two variations of the medium were tested. The first set of experiments were set up with medium that was **cut** up into cubes approximately 2.5 cm in size. Due to shortcomings of the cubic medium with regard to long term compression, a second shape in the form of a cylindrical annulus was incorporated in some of the later reactors. The new shape of media had a piece of PVC tubing glued in the middle of it, with outer dimensions of roughly  $3 \times 4$  cm and an inner radius of 1 cm.

In addition to the structure change to cut down on the compaction of the medium in the reactors, the airflow through the reactors was also reversed to an upflow direction of air for the second set of experiments. Furthermore, the biofilter columns were modified to separate the stages using plates secured into place throughout the reactors. This change was done to reduce compaction, allow improved fluidization during column washing, and more closely simulate the fullscale reactor.



Figure 5. Column 2b tracer study (day 0).

House air, controlled using a rotometer, was used to flow air through the columns. The columns were fed using syringe pumps, Harvard Syringe (South Natick, MA) plumbed into the air lines going to the reactors. Humidification was not necessary as the leachate was monitored on a daily basis, filled to a level of 1.5 L on an "as-needed" basis, and recycled over the bed using a Masterflex pump, Cole-Parmer (Chicago, IL). The temperature of the columns was not controlled, but the temperature of the pilot plant was recorded on a daily basis and the average temperature during this time was 24 °C. The leachate was removed from the reactors daily and the pH of the leachate was measured using a pH meter. The pH was recorded and adjusted to approximately pH=7 during the first set of experiments and pH=8 during the second set using Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Removal efficiencies were monitored by performing daily injections of influent and effluent gas samples on a gas chromatograph (GC). Once per week, the leachate was replaced with a new nutrient solution. The leachate was removed and analyzed for TS/TVS, alkalinity, N and P. These analyses were done to enable a mass balance calculation.

# **Inoculum Isolation**

A multi-step isolation procedure was used for the development of an inoculum capable of treating the target gases. The inoculum was developed through the enrichment of naturally occurring micro-organisms present in the soil. The procedure involved the successive enrichment and subsequent cultivation of microorganisms that were capable of sustaining themselves on the substrates that they were fed as their primary carbon source. The mixed consortia of microorganisms that were isolated were typical of those that can be found in any nonsterile soil.

There were initially three compounds targeted in this study: methyl ethyl ketone (MEK), acetone, and ethanol. Of the three compounds, MEK was determined to be the most recalcitrant and was chosen as the compound that the inoculum isolation would be focused on initially. As the project continued, the target site was changed, as was the set of target gasses. However, the culture of MEK degrading organisms thus obtained appeared completely suitable for ethyl acetate degradation, as noted below.

# Isolation of Methyl Ethyl Ketone and Ethyl Acetate Degrading Microbes

The development of the inoculum was performed using a 1-L batch fermenter, New Brunswick Scientific, Inc. (Edison, NJ). The fermenter was filled with 1 L of Maclennans Minimal Salts (MMS) medium (Appendix A) and 1 percent ethanol (v/v) as a readily degradable substrate. The pH of the medium was 7 and the fermenter was run at room temperature. The fermenter was inoculated with a 5 percent soil extract, prepared by adding 5 g of soil to 95 g of distilled water. No growth was observed in the fermenter after 24 hours and the isolation attempt did not result in the successful cultivation of micro-organisms.

A second attempt was made using a soil extract prepared in a Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) solution, Appendix B. The fermenter was set-up the same except it contained 0.01 percent yeast extract as isolation without the addition of it was unsuccessful. Yeast extract was used as an amendment to the isolation broth to provide micro-nutrients. Bartha suggests that up to 0.05 percent yeast extract can be used without the danger of the organisms using the yeast extract as their primary source of carbon (167). This cultivation attempt yielded dense microbial growth within 24 hours. After 4 days of growth, a 15-L carboy containing the same MMS media and 30 ppm of MEK was connected to the fermenter. This solution was then passed through the fermenter at a rate of 1.0 to 1.5 ml/minute to encourage the present microbial growth to attack the MEK as a primary source of sustenance. This resulted in an enrichment chemostat that was selecting for MEK microbes. After 48 hours, dense growth was again observed and after 72 hours of continued exposure to MEK as a growth substrate, the micro-organisms were harvested in glycerol vials and frozen at  $-100 \,^{\circ}C$ . Since ethanol was used as the carbon source for the MEK isolation, the only other compound that needed to be tested on the MEK degrading microorganisms was acetone. The 15-L carboy was replaced with a second carboy containing MMS, 30 ppm acetone and the enrichment process was repeated. The microbes that were isolated to degrade MEK also showed the ability to degrade acetone. After 72 hours of continued exposure, the micro-organisms were harvested and stored as described above.

Once it was determined that the vapor mix would include ethyl acetate, a 1-L fermenter was set-up to determine if the previously isolated MEK organisms could degrade ethyl acetate. The same enrichment procedure was used, which resulted in a dense growth of micro-organisms after 24 hours. These microbes were also harvested and stored for future use.

Throughout the remainder of the study, as new columns were brought on-line, organisms present in the leachate of existing columns served as the inocula for the new columns.

# **Column Inoculation**

Inoculation of the columns was accomplished by pumping nutrients, Appendix C, that contained the previously isolated microbes over the top of the packed bed and allowing it to flow down through the bed. The inoculation of the columns was from <0.1 to 11.1 percent (on a volume basis) and was varied to determine how much was actually required to ensure a quick start-up of the columns. The percent inoculation was based on the total bed volume of 15 L, so a 1 percent inoculation would consist of 150 ml of a very dense population of ethyl acetate degraders added to a volume of nutrient solution and passing it over the column bed for 48 to 96 hours, and then periodically thereafter. During start-up, the columns were fed ethyl acetate laden vapor that passed through the column and solubilized into the liquid. Subsequently, the micro-organisms began to digest the contaminant and multiply. As the micro-organism population increased, some of the microbes attached to the packing material forming a biofilm. The establishment of this biofilm is what drives the successful start-up and removal of contaminants in the biofilter column.

# Monitoring and Sample Recording

Critical column operation parameters were monitored and recorded daily. This information was recorded on a Daily Monitoring Data Sheet (DMDS – Appendix

52

D) and filled out during each monitoring check. Any changes in experimental conditions or upsets to the columns were noted on this sheet. If changes were made to a column, they were implemented after the GC sampling was completed for the day the changes were made. Similar sheets for the VOC field reactor will be developed. The DMDS served as the official record of the conditions in a column on any given day of an experiment. The data sheets included: nutrient replacement, leachate refilling, washing procedures, bed height, changes made in column parameters, samples taken, etc. Table 7 shows a summary of the information recorded on a daily basis.

A spreadsheet was established for each column and the raw GC data was imported daily into these spreadsheets from the Turbochrom (Cuperino, CA) PC Nelson, a subsidiary of Perkin-Elmer, summary files. Leachate samples were taken from the reactors on a weekly basis and various analyses were performed. The results from these analyses were collected and recorded on data sheets or from printouts of analytical equipment that performed the analysis. These results were also entered into the spreadsheets. The other analyses of the columns included:

- Nutrient Analysis: N-NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>, P-PO<sup>-3</sup><sub>4</sub>, N-NO<sup>+</sup><sub>3</sub>, N-NO<sup>+</sup><sub>2</sub> on leachate and medium
- Total Solids (TS) and Total Volatile Solids (TVS) of leachate and medium
- Alkalinity of leachate and medium
- Fungus monitoring of the biofilter exhaust
- Washing on an "as-needed" basis

# **Regular Sampling, Storage, Analysis and Calibration**

Table 8 lists summary of the various analyses performed and the methods employed.

Room temperature	°C
Gas flow rate	L/min
Leachate volume	ml
Amount of water and/or new nutrients added	ml
Leachate pH (before and after adjustment)	pH units
Amount of buffer added	mi
Headloss of column	cm
Syringe level (before and after, if refilled)	mi
Syringe rate	ml/hr

Table 7. Information recorded on daily monitoring data sheet.

Parameter	Method				
Target Gases	Varian 3600 Gas Chromatography (GC)				
Total Solids (TS)	TS dried at 105°C Standard Method 2540 B				
Total Volatile Solids (TVS) TVS Ignited at 550°C Standard Method 2540 E					
N-NH₄ <sup>+</sup>	Salicylate Method*				
P-PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>-3</sup> QuikChem Method No.10-115-01-1-A					
N-NO <sub>3</sub> , N-NO <sub>2</sub> QuikChem Method No.10-107-04-1-A					
Alkalinity Orion 960 Autochemistry System					
Fungus Monitoring Modified Millipore Technical Note-014					
Note: Standard Methods = Examination of Water and Wastewater (17th Edition). *Salicylate Method = Communications In Soil Science Plant Analysis, 1051-1062 (1983).					

Table 8. Analytical methods for samples taken from the VOC columns.

# Target Gas Sampling

### Sampling

Samples were taken at the influent, the effluent and at two equidistant points within the columns (representing 1/3 of the total bed volume). The 5.0 ml samples were collected with SGE 10.0 ml gas tight syringes, Alltech Associates, Inc., (Deerfield, IL) that were equipped with valves to allow samples to be transported to the GC without the risk of gas loss. Triplicate/duplicate samples at each sample port were taken in the direction of the effluent of the column to the influent to prevent disruption of any concentration gradients. The septa covering the sampling ports on the columns were checked periodically and replaced as necessary to prevent leaking. After each injection into the GC, the syringes were cleaned by flushing them several times with house air to remove any residue gas and to prevent carryover. Blank injections were made periodically and after standard injections to verify the syringe cleaning technique. On site, if any gas samples are to be taken and carried back for analysis, they will be transported in Tedlar Gas Sampling Bags, BGI Incorporated (Waltham, MA).

#### **Analysis and Calibration**

Gas phase target compounds were measured by injecting 5.0 ml of gas into a Varian 3600 GC (Walnut Creek, CA) equipped with a flame ionization detector (FID). The capillary column installed on the GC was 30 m X 0.32 mm with a 0.25  $\mu$ m film thickness, manufactured by Supelco (Bellefon, PA). The GC temperatures for the oven, injector and detector were 40, 100 and 200 °C respec-

tively. The carrier gas was helium and the flow was 4 to 5 ml/min. The gas samples that were taken from the columns were injected into the GC immediately. The data was processed using Turbochrom, a data handling software.

The standard curves for each of the target gases were made by performing triplicate injections of 10 different concentration levels of each individual component. Standards were made up in modified 2-L volumetric flasks. The volumetric flasks were modified by equipping them with gas tight valves and septa ports. These flasks were flushed with house air for 30 minutes between different standard levels. To verify the GC response for a sampling day, a triplicate injection of one concentration level of the standard curve was done. If the GC response varied greater than 10 percent, several levels of the calibration curve were checked. If these check standards also fell outside the  $\pm 10$  percent, the entire standard calibration curve was redone immediately. The slope and intercept were calculated based on the standard GC response.

# Total Solids (TS) and Total Volatile Solids (TVS) Determination

The purpose of calculating the TS and TVS was to assist in determining the biofilm yield. The biofilm yield is defined as the mass of biomass formed per gram of substrate that is degraded by the biomass.

### Sampling and Storage

Samples of approximately 500 ml were taken from the leachate on a weekly basis, when a column was washed and also when it was taken out of service. They were stored at 4 °C for less than 1 week in either capped plastic or Nalgene containers, a subsidiary of Subron (Rochester, NY), until they could be analyzed.

#### Analysis

Solids samples were done in triplicate and prepared from a well mixed leachate or wash sample. Using a wide mouth graduated pipette, 10 ml of the leachate was transferred to a weighed aluminum dish. The dishes were then transferred to a 105 °C vacuum oven and dried overnight. After drying, the samples were cooled in a desiccator for at least 15 minutes and then weighed. The increase in weight over that of the empty dish represented the total solids.

The TVS was determined by igniting the TS in a furnace at a temperature of 550 °C. All weights and volumes of the samples were recorded on a Total Solids Data Log Sheet. The TS and TVS were used to calculate the final biomass accumulation.

55

# Phosphorus, Nitrate and Ammonia Determination

### Sampling and Storage

Duplicate samples were taken from the weekly leachate or column washing samples for the nutrient analysis determination. Samples were centrifuged to remove a majority of the solids, then immediately passed through a Nalgene (subsidiary of Subron, Rochester, NY), 0.45  $\mu$ m syringe filter into two 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes. The duplicate samples were placed in a -20 °C freezer until they could be transported to Michigan State University (MSU) for analysis.

#### Analysis

The analysis of the nutrient samples was performed by the Crop and Soil Science Laboratory at MSU using a LACHAT instrument. The principles behind the methods that were used to perform the nutrient analysis are outlined below:

- **P-PO**<sup>3</sup> The orthophosphate ion reacts with ammonium molybdate and antimony potassium tartar under acidic conditions to form a complex. This complex is reduced with ascorbic acid to form a blue complex that absorbs light at 880 nm. The absorbency is proportional to the concentration of orthophosphate in the sample.
- $N-NO_3$ ,  $N-NO_2$  Nitrate is quantitatively reduced to nitrite by passage of the sample through a copperized cadmium column. The nitrite (reduced nitrate plus original nitrite) is then determined by diazotizing with sulfanila-mide followed by coupling with N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenediamine dihydrochloride. The resulting water soluble dye has a magenta color that is read at 520 nm. Nitrite can also be directly determined by reacting the sample with sulfanilamide without using the cadmium column.
- N-NH<sup>+</sup> KCl extracts were prepared from the frozen samples. The direct estimation of the ammonium in the extracts was done by using the salicylate method. This method relies on measuring the maximum molar absorptivity of the emerald green color that is formed when NH<sub>3</sub> and salicylate react in the presence of NaOCl at high pH.

### Alkalinity Measurements

To maintain an acceptable pH range in the reactors, the nutrient solution was buffered to pH=8. This initial buffer was not always enough to keep the pH in the desired range once the solution circulated over the biofilter media. Therefore additional buffer solution was added to the columns leachate as needed, based on a daily pH check. The alkalinity of the leachate or wash samples was measured, usually at the same time the TS/TVS and nutrient samples were being prepared. The alkalinity test was done on an Orion 960 Autochemistry System (Cambridge, MA). Triplicate 20 ml, well mixed samples were dispensed into 50 ml beakers using 25 ml pipettes. The samples were then titrated with 2N  $H_2SO_4$  to an endpoint pH=4.5. The neutralization involved Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, but the standard in the industry is normally expressed as CaCO<sub>3</sub>, so the numbers were reported as mg/L of CaCO<sub>3</sub>.

## Fungus Monitoring

An area of growing concern when operating a biofiltration system is that microorganisms may be discharged in the exhaust air stream. This is justified since biofilters are engineered to provide ideal conditions for organisms that will degrade a target compound. In this study, we were requested by Lake City personnel to investigate fungal emissions based on the concern that biofilters may give off fungal or yeast spores, linked to health problems should they be given off in large numbers. Due to this, the columns were monitored once per week to check for eucaryotic micro-organisms in the off-gas exhaust of the biofilters. This was achieved by using a two-piece all glass impinger unit and as described in Technical Note-014, Millipore (Marlborough, MA). The impinger unit was fitted with tubing that could be easily connected to the exhaust of the biofilters.

The selective medium chosen for the monitoring was called Rose Bengal Medium, Appendix E. The selective agent in the media was chloramphenicol, an antibiotic that inhibits eubacterial protein synthesis. Using a sterile pipette, 30 ml of the Rose Bengal medium was transferred aseptically to the impinger unit just before sampling. The rotometer on the biofilter to be sampled was adjusted to 6 L/min, and the unit was then connected to the exhaust of a biofilter for 46 minutes. This was the amount of time it took to sample 0.283 m<sup>3</sup> (10 cu ft) of air.

After the sampling was completed, the impinger was clamped off and removed from the biofilter exhaust sample line. The impinger fluid was immediately drawn through a sterile 3-piece monitoring unit, also obtained from Millipore. The walls of the impinger were rinsed with a small amount of additional Rose Bengal Medium. This wash water was also processed through the monitoring unit. The monitoring unit contained a filter (0.45  $\mu$ m) and a pad through which the selective medium and rinse water was passed. The monitoring unit was then placed in a 28 °C incubator and Colony Forming Units (CFU) numbers of eucaryotic organisms were obtained using visual observations of the units after 1 week of incubation. After each sample was completed, the impinger unit was cleaned and sterilized in an autoclave for 20 minutes. 57

# Column Washing

It was anticipated that the column would need to be washed on a regular schedule as a form of preventative maintenance. As the laboratory study progressed this was not found to be the case, as will be discussed in more detail in the Results section of this report. Depending on the loading to each column and other factors, such as direction of airflow and medium type, each column had different washing requirements.

In general, the washing of a column consisted of removing the leachate and filling the entire column with 10 to 15 L of 1/10 nutrient solution (Appendix C) and sparging air through the column for a period of time to scrub off the attached biomass. Each time a column was washed, a portion of the washing solution that was removed from the column was saved and the same analyses were performed on the leachate samples, as described above.

# Special Testing, Sampling, Storage, Analysis, and Calculations

In addition to the regular sampling and various analyses that were required to maintain the columns, there were also several other tests that were required. Some were performed before start-up, some during the course of the columns operation, while others only after a column was taken out of service.

### Leak Testing

Column leak testing was done to verify the integrity of the columns once the columns were filled with the appropriate medium. The airflow was checked with a bubble meter at the influent of the column, where the contaminant was added to the air stream. The observed flow was then calculated and the bubble meter was moved to the effluent of the column where the measurement of the airflow was measured and calculated again. Differences in the two observed flow rates indicated whether there was any air leaking from the column. If there was a difference, leaks were located by squirting a soap and water solution wherever there were connections on the columns. Leaks were immediately detected because the solution bubbled on contact. Leaks were repaired and the column was retested. Columns with good integrity had an influent airflow equal to the effluent airflow.

### **Retention Time Distribution and Void Volume Testing**

Retention time and void volume testing was performed after the results from the column leak test were completed satisfactorily. An inert tracer was injected in a

pair of the lab scale reactors at the beginning of their operation and after a period of approximately 4 weeks. The tracer studies were conducted in an effort to quantify the reduction in reactor volume as a result of biomass accumulating on the support medium. The inert tracer used in this study was helium. Helium has minimal solubility in the thin liquid layer surrounding the biomass and has no biological activity, thus it act as a conservative tracer. The presence of helium in a gas sample was measured on a Hewlett Packard 5890 GC (San Fernando, CA) equipped with a thermal conductivity detector (TCD). The GC was fitted with an Alltech Carbosphere 80/100 mesh stainless steel column (Deerfield, IL) that was 6 feet long and had a diameter of 1/8 in. The temperatures for the oven, injector and detector conditions were 200, 180, and 200 °C, respectively. The carrier gas was nitrogen and at a flow of 25 ml/min.

A 10 ml slug of high purity helium obtained from AGA (Cleveland, OH) was injected into the influent of the column. Gas samples were then taken from the effluent port or the influent port of the column using a 1 ml gas-tight syringe, Supelco (Belefon, PA), for a period of time spanning several multiples of the theoretical packed bed retention time. These gas samples were then analyzed for the presence of helium as described in the previous paragraph. This process was repeated several times each for the effluent of the column and the influent of the column. The results of these trials were averaged to come up with time course curves for the influent and effluent sections of the columns.

A cumulative summation plot was then created from the tracer data to show the average gas flow behavior. These plots showed the percent passage of tracer versus the normalized bed retention. The normalized bed retention is defined as the ration of the sample time to the expected empty bed retention time for the flow through and volume of an empty bed. This cumulative summation plot was then analyzed to develop measures of flow behavior as developed by Morrill (166). From this plot, the dimensionless time of passage of 10, 50, and 90 percent tracer passage was measured. The 90 percent time of passage was then divided by the 10 percent time of passage to calculate the Morrill index for each column.

### Breakthrough Testing

The dominant removal mechanism of contaminants from the vapor stream is the biological degradation by the micro-organisms forming the biofilm. To verify that adsorption of ethyl acetate to fresh dry medium was not a major removal mechanism, breakthrough studies were performed on one biofilter column. The breakthrough study consisted of passing the target compound, in this case ethyl acetate, through fresh dry medium and sampling of the influent and effluent from the column.

### Buffer Capacity Testing

Tests were conducted on the media to determine its buffering capacity. The ability of the medium to buffer against pH change is an important characteristic that can assist in preventing pH upsets in the reactor.

The buffer capacity of the media was measured by analysis of the ability of a known quantity of medium to counteract pH shifts in a small volume of water. Titrant addition and pH measurements were made using an Orion 960 Autochemistry System (Cambridge, MA). Samples of 0.5 grams of biofilter medium, that had been cut into small pieces, were mixed with 30 ml of water in a 50 ml beaker. The initial pH was measured and then increments of 0.1 N  $H_2SO_4$  were added with the pH measured after each addition of acid. The same procedure was repeated on a fresh suspension of medium, but increments of 0.1 N NaOH were added and the pH measured after each addition. This procedure was also carried out for 30 ml of water without the biofilter media. The buffer capacity was then determined as the difference between the potential (expresses as grams of CaCO<sub>3</sub>) of the media in water and water alone to withstand a pH shift from 8.5 to 5.5 per gram of medium.

## Headloss Testing

Headloss across the reactor beds was measured in centimeters using U-tube water manometers located on each column. The headloss represents the pressure drop that occurs in forcing the air through a column filled with medium. The headloss across all lab scale columns was recorded daily.

# 4 Results

The results discussed first were obtained as a result of the physical and chemical tests to which the columns and medium were subjected. The second set of results that will be discussed were obtained from the operation of the laboratory columns. The majority of the laboratory data were obtained under steady-state loading conditions. Dynamic loading square-wave trials were performed later in the laboratory studies in an effort to simulate some of the problems associated with intermittent loading that the Lake City biofilter might experience. Throughout the study, six 15-L biofilters were operated under eight experimental modes. Six of the experimental modes consisted of operating the columns under steady-state loading conditions, while the other two experiments were run under square-wave loading. A general description of the column's operational conditions and individual column performances are presented in this section as well. A summary of the fungus monitoring results, which was conducted on five of the eight columns, is also included.

# **Physical and Chemical Testing Results**

There were three series of tests performed to measure the physical properties of the biofilter medium and laboratory columns.

### Tracer Study

Five helium studies were performed, as described in Chapter 3, to better define the hydraulics of the laboratory columns. In the Figures 6 through 10, cumulative sum helium recovery are plotted versus dimensionless retention time for the influent and effluent ports. A corrected "bed influence" is plotted as the difference between the time of passage between the effluent and influent. The importance of the curve on this plot is the corrected estimate of the bed retention. Standard discussion of tracer data centers on finding  $T_{10}$ ,  $T_{50}$  and  $T_{90}$ , which represent the times of passing of 10, 50, and 90 percent of the tracer. Morrill indices (ratio  $T_{90}/T_{10}$ ) represent the degree of mixing; where unity is perfect plug flow and any result nearing 3 is complete mixing.



Figure 6. Column 1 tracer study (day 48).



Figure 7. Column 2b tracer study (day 0).



Figure 8. Column 2b tracer study (day 30).



Figure 9. Column 3 tracer study (day 0).

### 63



Figure 10. Column 3 tracer study (day 30).

Column 1 was constructed with the cubic foam medium. A helium tracer study was conducted on day 48 of operation. At this time, the column was being operated at 15 L/min, or a 65-second empty bed retention time. The structure of the bed had changed significantly after the bed had collapsed. High headloss (20 cm) was observed, a noted increase over starting conditions. Figure 6 is a plot of the tracer at the influent port, effluent port, and an estimate of the bed hydraulics for Column 1. Data are plotted as the cumulative sum of the fractions of the total tracer versus the ratio of the observation time. In this case,  $T_{10}$ ,  $T_{50}$  and  $T_{90}$  fall at roughly 0.25, 0.6 and 1.4 bed retentions.

Four other tests were conducted, two each on Columns 2b and 3. These columns were filled with the hollow cylindrical medium. Both columns were tested on day zero and day 30 of operation. Flow rates to the columns were roughly 15 L/min for nominal empty bed retention times of 65 seconds. The data for Column 2b are presented in Figures 4.2 and 4.3. The data for Column 3 are presented in Figures 9 and 10. Times of passage,  $T_{10}$ ,  $T_{50}$ , and  $T_{90}$  are summarized in Table 9. In these tests, it was observed that there was little to no increased headloss, between day zero and day 30.

It may be generalized from these results that, in a collapsed state, the cubic medium showed higher dispersion and a shorter median retention than observed with fresh and with used cylindrical medium. The cylindrical medium and internal support helped alleviate some poor flow characteristics.

Column	Type of Medium	Day of Test	Airflow (L/m)	Nominal Empty Bed Retention (seconds)	<b>T</b> <sub>10</sub>	T <sub>50</sub>	T <sub>90</sub>	Morrill Dispersion Index
1	Cubic	48	15	65	0.26	0.38	0.91	3.5
2b	Cylindrical	0	15	65	0.44	0.45	0.54	1.2
2b	Cylindrical	30	15	65	0.44	0.46	0.67	1.5
3	Cylindrical	0	15	65	0.46	0.49	0.82	1.8
3	Cylindrical	30	15	65	0.42	0.43	0.76	1.8

Table 9. Summary of helium tracer results.

# Ethyl Acetate Breakthrough Testing on Dry Medium

An ethyl acetate gas stream was applied to a 15 L column of dry cubic medium. The influent was 100 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1589.3  $\mu$ g/L) ethyl acetate. A general sorption curve is presented as Figure 11. The first effluent sample at 5 minutes shows breakthrough at a concentration roughly 50 percent of the influent. Breakthrough of more than 90 percent of the influent occurred by 30 minutes. From this curve, it was calculated that a 15 L laboratory column can sorb approximately 0.72 g of ethyl acetate. With the exception of Column 6, the laboratory columns were fed a minimum of 280 g of ethyl acetate. The maximum error that could be attributed to sorption was 0.3 percent of the total contaminant removal. The effect of sorption was therefore ignored as a significant removal mechanism in the analysis of the data generated in this study.



Figure 11. Ethyl acetate breakthrough study.

# **Buffer Capacity Determination**

The buffer capacity test was carried out as described in **Headloss Testing** (p 60) and the results are reported as moles of H<sup>+</sup> per gram of medium. Figures 12 and 13 show the change in pH caused by the addition of base or acid. The graphs contain curves for both the medium/water mixture and the water alone. The first foam tested (Scottdel Foam 1) had a buffer capacity of  $4.2 \times 10^{-6}$  moles of H<sup>+</sup> per gram of medium. The second foam tested (Scottdel Foam 2) had a buffer capacity of  $1.1 \times 10^{-5}$  moles of H<sup>+</sup> per gram of medium. The buffering capacity caused by the water used in the testing procedure was subtracted out of the above results. Therefore, the buffer capacities reflect the amount of buffering provided by the medium.

# Laboratory Columns and Biological Efficiency

There were a total of six biofilters operated under eight different conditions. The columns that will be discussed first were fed under steady-state loading conditions as summarized in **Steady-State Loading** (p 67). The second set of columns are categorized under the heading of square-wave loading and will be discussed in **Square Wave Loading** (p 82).



Figure 12. Buffer capacity test of biofilter medium (Scottdel Foam 1).



Figure 13. Buffer capacity test of biofilter medium (Scottdel Foam 2).

# Steady-State Loading

An operational summary of each column fed under steady-state loading conditions is listed in Table 10. A summary of mass balance is presented in Table 11. Each column is discussed in detail.

	Table 10.	Steady	-state	column	operationa	I conditions
--	-----------	--------	--------	--------	------------	--------------

Column	Days of Operation	Type of Medium	Feed	Loading (g/m³-hr)	Average Removal	Days to Start-Up (>90% Removal)	Inoculation Volume (% of bed)
1	>199	cubic	Ethyl Acetate	6.4-110	90%	4	0.1%
2a	54	cubic	Ethyl Acetate	55	91%	2	6.6%
2b	99	cylindrical	Low Mix	12.5-25	91%	15	0.1%
after shut-down	120-136	cylindrical	Ethyl Acetate	22.1	92%	1	
3	99	cylindrical	Low/High Mix	75-100	91%	21	0.1%
after shut-down	120-136	cylindrical	Ethyl Acetate	22.1	93%	<1	
4a	59	cubic	Ethyl Acetate	55	96%	10	11.1%
5	72	cubic	Ethyl Acetate	110	86%	15	0.1%

67

	Column	Column	Column	Column	Column	Column
	1	2a	2b	3	4a	5
Ethyl Acetate IN/Target (g)	3110	675	646	932	987	2806
Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual (g)	2937	723	444	1789	923	3474 .
Ethyl Acetate OUT/GC Data - actual (g)	379	35	62	238	67	595
Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual (g)	2558	689	381	1550	855	1879
Total Solids OUT (g)	702.9	162.5	441.4	1121.6	228	517.4
Total Solids (g TS/ g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	23.9%	22.5%	99.4%*	62.7%*	24.7%	20.5%
Total Solids (g TS/ g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	27.5%	23.6%	115.7%*	72.3%*	26.7%	20.5%
Total Volatile OUT (g)	216.5	52.6	99.1	498.4	93.5	225
Total Volatile Solids (g TVS/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data – actual)	7.4%	7.3%	22.3%*	27.9%*	10.1%	9.1%
Total Volatile Solids (g TVS/ g Ethyl Ace- tate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	8.5%	7.6%	25.0%*	32.1%*	10.9%	12%
Grams of Nitrogen USED	142	41.7	20.8	99.1	51.1	57
N USED (g N/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	4.8%	5.8%	4.7%*	5.5%*	5.5%	2.3%
N USED (g N/g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	5.6%	6.1%	5.5%*	6.4%*	6%	3%
Grams of Phosphorus USED	39	12.6	0.39	25.2	16.6	34.3
P USED (g P/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	1.3%	1.7% ·	0.09%*	1.4%*	1.8%	1.4%
P USED (g P/g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	1.5%	1.8%	0.1%*	1.6%*	1.9%	1.8%
Grams of Buffer as CaCO <sub>3</sub> USED	178	42	95	-65	-44	-29
Buffer USED (g CaCO <sub>3</sub> /g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data – actual)	6.1%	5.8%	21.5%*	-3.7%*	-4.8%	-1.2%
Buffer USED (g CaCO <sub>3</sub> /g Ethyl Acetate OUT/GC Data – actual)	7%	6.1%	25%*	-4.2%*	-5.1%	-1.5%
*These values are not adjusted for the other	minor const	tituents in th	he mix and a	re expressed	t as ethyl ace	etate only.

Table 11. Results of the Mass Balance Analyses for Columns 1, 2a, 2b, 3, 4a, and 5.

A variety of feed stocks were used throughout the study. During some of the tests, ethyl acetate was used as the sole component in the feed. In other tests, some of the columns (2b and 3) were fed with mixed component stocks. There were two stock organic mixtures; designated as "Low Mix" and "High Mix." The recipes for Low Mix and High Mix are presented in Table 12. The difference between the two recipes was the ratio of the mass ethyl acetate to the mass of minor components. In our nomenclature, "Low Mix" designates a lower fraction of minor components, whereas "High Mix" designates a greater ratio of minor components.

Compound	Low Mix% Concentration (w/w)	High Mix% Concentration (w/w)
ethyl acetate	86.6	30.5
ethyl alcohol	1.2	6.1
isobutyl acetate	2.3	12.2
toluene	3.5	18.3
2-methyl-1-propanol	0.2	1.2
n-butyl acetate	3.5	18.3
xylenes	2.3	12.2
n-butanol	0.2	1.2

Table 12. Composition of feed mixes.

The different feed component mixtures were used for a variety of reasons; particularly to either enhance the concentrations of the lower components to better monitor against the lower detection limits of the GC, or to determine the capacity of the biofilters to degrade the minor components in the presence of ethyl acetate. In the following sections, descriptions of the feed mix and reasons for its use are presented. Additionally, the tables describing the operation summaries make reference to the feed mixes used during each phase of study for each column.

### Column 1

Column 1 was the third column constructed and continues to be operational, over 1 year after it was inoculated. It was packed with 300 g of cubic medium to a bed height of 175-180 cm and did not have the separating PVC plates between the sections. It was inoculated with a 0.1 percent inoculation mixture consisting of 15 ml of leachate that had been removed from Column 2a and 1400 ml of nutrient solution (Appendix C). A breakdown of the operational conditions is located in Table 13. All data pertaining to ethyl acetate removal are presented in Figure 4.9.

As discussed in the following paragraphs, this column showed high initial removal efficiency, but a poor headloss trend was evidenced within the first 2 weeks. The airflow was switched from upflow to downflow and a shift in target leachate pH was made to minimize ponding and control fungal growth.
Date	Time (Days)	Airflow (L/min)	Loading (g/m³-hr)	Leachate pH	Recycle Rate (260 ml/min)	Bed Height (cm)	Headloss (cm)
11/30	1-6	7.5	110	5.15-7.12	constant		0
12/6	7-13	7.5	110	4.59-7.47	15 min/day		0-2
12/13	14-45	7.5*	110	6.63-8.33*	15 min/day	134-113	0-20
1/14	46-51	15	12.5	7.32-8.35	15 min/day	113	1-10
1/20	52-65	15	25	6.80-8.90	15 min/day	110	2-20
2/3	66-104	15	12.5	6.97-8.80	15 min/day	110-109	2-20
3/14	105-112	35	6.4	7.15-8.60	15 min/day	109	10-30
3/21	113-119	35	21.4	6.70-8.51	15 min/day	109	6-28
3/29	120-142	35	16	6.38-8.48	15 min/day	109	6-25
4/21	143-166	35	16	5.90-8.21	twice/day*	109	7-34
5/15	167-199	35	16	6.70-8.52	15 min/day	109	8-34
6/17	6/17 Reactor is still active, but data beyond this date will not be presented in this report.						
*Airflow	reversed fro	m upflow to	o downflow; p	H target chang	ged from 7 to 8 on	day 14	

Table 13. Column 1 operational summary (reactor set up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7).



Figure 14. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 1.

The initial empty bed retention time in the column was 2 minutes with an initial loading of ethyl acetate on the column of 110 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (3207.1  $\mu$ g/L). The airflow was initially upflow, but was reversed to downflow on day 15 of operation due to the high headloss. The headloss had reached 20 cm while operating in the upflow mode. After flow reversal, the headloss was reduced to 1 cm. The pH was initially targeted at 7 for the first 14 days, at which time the target pH was increased to 8 for the duration of the study. The decision was made to maintain the leachate target pH for all of the columns at this higher pH to discourage the growth of fungus. If left uncontrolled, fungal growth eventually plugged the medium in the columns restricting liquid and airflow.

Leachate was recycled continuously at 260 ml/min for 6 days. On the 7th day, leachate was recycled once per day for 15 minutes. The recycling of the leachate occurred after the pH of the leachate had been adjusted. Under these operating conditions, Column 1 reached >98 percent removal of ethyl acetate in 4 days. These conditions were maintained for 45 days during which time the removal of ethyl acetate remained consistently high, >95 percent for 18 out of 20 data points collected during steady-state.

On day 46, the loading of ethyl acetate on the reactor was lowered to 12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (200.4  $\mu$ g/L) and the retention time was decreased to 1 minute. This resulted in a very low loading of ethyl acetate onto the column and although the detection limits of the GC should have been low enough to detect these levels, no reliable data were collected during this low loading period. Due to this, on day 52, the loading was doubled to 25 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (400.9  $\mu$ g/L). This resulted in improved data and >90 percent removal of ethyl acetate was observed for 7 of the 8 days that GC injections were performed. Figure 14 indicates that the removal was zero percent during this low loading period, more than likely this dip is a result of the low loading.

On day 66, a low loading target of 12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (200.4  $\mu$ g/L), of ethyl acetate was resumed using an improved syringe pump to feed the ethyl acetate. A more reliable feed rate resulted in much better GC results. These parameters were maintained from day 66 to 104. The removal during this time period was >90 percent. The bed height also stabilized during this time period at 109 cm.

On day 105, a double operation change was made; the airflow rate was increased from 1 minute to 25 seconds and the syringe rate was halved. The rotometers that were used to control airflow to the columns were limited to a maximum reading of 35 L/min, and this is what dictated the retention time to be 25 seconds. The resulting loading to the column was 6.4 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (102.6  $\mu$ g/L), and in71

fluent concentration proved difficult to monitor. The GC data collected during this time were sporadic and inconsistent.

Due to the sporadic GC results that were being obtained between day 105 and 112, the loading of ethyl acetate onto the column was increased to 21.4 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (343.6 µg/L) on day 113. The retention time remained at 25 seconds and the removal remained sporadic. On day 120, the loading of ethyl acetate to the reactor was reduced to 16 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (256.9  $\mu$ g/L) to more closely resemble the actual plant waste stream. Removal once again dropped off and got as low as <50 percent. Observations of the column bed indicated the biofilter was extremely dry, probably due to the high airflow through the reactor, and it was decided to recycle the leachate more often on the column, twice per day versus once per day. The headloss on the column stabilized to 8 cm during the time when the column was not recycling the leachate, but would reach 34 cm when it was recycling. The increase in leachate recycling appeared to help the removal efficiency of the reactor and the removal was >80 percent for 8 out of 9 of the last sampling days. After day 167, the routine of recycling the leachate once/day was started again and removal did not appear to be affected as it has remained >80 percent. The reactor was still active after having been in operation for more than 1 year with minimal maintenance.

Column 1 was never washed, as it was decided the columns would only be washed on an "as-needed" basis. Weekly leachate samples were taken throughout the study. This enabled a mass balance to be performed (Table 8).

#### Column 2a.

Similar to Column 1, Column 2a (the second column put into operation) was also packed with 300 g of cubic medium to a bed height of 175 to 180 cm and did not have the separating PVC plates between the sections. It was inoculated with 1.2 L of the isolated ethyl acetate degraders and 500 ml of nutrient solution (Appendix C). This was a large volume of inocula, approximately 6.6 percent on a volume basis. A discussion of Column 2a's operational conditions are listed in Table 14. Ethyl acetate removal data are presented in Figure 15.

The airflow to the column was upflow until day 24. Initial loading of ethyl acetate onto the column was 55 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1603.6  $\mu$ g/L) and the retention time of the column was 2 minutes. After inoculation, the leachate was recycled continuously over the column bed for 4 days at a rate of 420 ml/min. The removal after 48 hours was >99 percent. It remained high for the next 16 days (Figure 15). On day 5, it was decided to put a timer on the recycle pump and only recycle the leachate for 5 min/hr. The leachate pH was initially targeted at 7 until day 24.

Date	Time (days)	Airflow (L/min)	AirflowLoadingRecycle RateBed HeightHeadlossL/min)(g/m³-hr)Leachate pH(420 ml/min)(cm)(cm)						
11/11	1-23	7.5	55	5.98-7.76	constant	180	0-50		
12/5	24-37	Reactor shut-down for cleaning, cleaned from day 28 to day 33.							
12/19	38-54	7.5*	55	6.30-9.10*	15 min/day	105-93	0- >50		
1/4		R	eactor shut-d	own and medium	was washed and	squeezed.			
*Airflow	reversed	from upflow	to downflow	pH target chang	ed from 7 to 8 on (	day 38			

Table 14. Column 2a operational summary (reactor set-up with cubic foam medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7).



Figure 15. Ethyl acetate removal rate for column 2a.

On day 24, the column was shut-down due to high headloss (>50cm). The column had extensive biomass growth near the top of the bed. The media had collapsed and a fungal infestation had occurred. The column was taken out of service from day 24 to 37. During this period, the column was washed twice, on day 28 and days 31 to 36. The first washing procedure consisted of flooding the column with tap water and bubbling air through the bottom of the column overnight. This procedure removed a majority of the biomass, but exacerbated the compression of the media with a resultant increase in headloss.

After the first wash, it was attempted to restart the column. After restarting the column, it was noticed that fungus had started to grow near the bottom of the column bed. Due to the fungal growth, the headloss across the reactor on day 30 became so great that the fluid from the manometer was forced back into the re-

actor. A second, more aggressive wash on days 31 to 37 was necessary. In the second wash, the column was subjected to the recycling of 1600 ml of caustic (2N NaOH) without air scouring for 24 hours. After 48 hours of dormancy, the caustic was removed and the column was subjected to two washes with water to remove solids and three washes with water to remove excess caustic. Due to the aggressive and caustic nature of the wash, the column was reinoculated with 100 ml of leachate taken from Column 1 and 700 ml of nutrient solution (Appendix C), this was a 0.5 percent reinoculation.

It was felt that fungal growth and/or the direction of the airflow had caused conditions for the high headloss to occur. Therefore, after day 38, the target pH of the leachate was maintained at 8 to inhibit fungal growth, and the direction of the airflow was switched. The leachate was recycled 15 min/day after the second washing. Removal of ethyl acetate reached >90 percent within 24 hours and remained there until the headloss on the reactor again exceeded the manometer (Figure 15). This was due to a recycling error where the leachate was accidentally recycled for 2 hr rather than the target 15 min. The reactor was shut-down on day 55. Table 4.3 shows the results of the mass balance done on the column.

#### Column 2b

There were two physical modifications and one operational change that made this column different from Columns 1 and 2a. First it was set up with the new cylindrical, annular medium. The second modification was that PVC plates were used to separate the stages to help cut down on compaction. The first stage (top) contained 180 g of medium, the second stage (middle) had 130 g, and the third stage (bottom) 170 g. The bed height for the column was 67 cm, 57 cm, and 52 cm for the respective stages. It was operated in a downward airflow and the pH of the leachate was targeted at pH=8 on a daily basis. The operational difference for Column 2b was that it was fed a mixture of components referred to as the Low Mix, Table 4.4. This mixture contained eight of the volatile organic components in the ratio anticipated in the actual waste gas stream at the Lake City munitions plant. Table 15 summarizes the columns operational conditions.

Column 2b was the fifth experimental column constructed. It was inoculated with 15 ml of leachate from Column 1, 350 ml of nutrients (Appendix C), and 2 L of water representing a 0.1 percent inoculum. The leachate was recycled over the bed at a rate of 420 ml/hr for a period of 1 week, at which time the leachate pump was put on a timer and the leachate was recycled 15 min/hr. Initially the loading rate on the column was 25 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (400.9  $\mu$ g/L). The removal of the ethyl acetate varied up to day 30, as indicated by Figure 16. Thereafter, the removal of ethyl acetate was high and consistent.

Date	Time (Days)	Airflow (L/min)	Loading (g/m <sup>3</sup> -hr)	Leachate pH	Recycle Rate (260 ml/min)	Bed Height (cm)	Headloss (cm)
1/31	1-31	15	25⁺	5.58-8.80	15 min/day	67/52/57	0
3/3	32-57	15	25⁺	6.88-8.45	15 min/day	67/52/57	0
3/29	58-98	15	12.5*	5.76-8.85	15 min/day	59/51/56	0
5/9	99	Washed column.					
5/9	99-119	15	off	5.79-8.60	5 min/hr	63*/46/55	0
5/30	120-136	15	22.1 @ 20 hr/day <sup>++</sup>	5.80-8.35	5 min/hr	63/46/55	0
6/15	Reactor sh	ut-down an	d medium was	washed and s	queezed.		
<sup>t</sup> low mi	ix feed						
++othyl	acotato only						

Table 15.	Column 2b ope	rational summary	(reactor set-u)	ıp with cylir	ndrical,	annular
medium v	with PVC plates	separating sectio	ns, airflow wa	s downflow	, target	pH = 8).

tethyl acetate only

\*higher due to washing



Figure 16. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 2b.

On Day 58, the loading to the column was cut in half to 12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (200.4  $\mu$ g/L) to more closely represent the actual plant. From day 1 to 62, GC results indicated that the minor components of the feed mixture were not readily degraded (Table 17). In an attempt to degrade some of the minor components such as toluene and xylenes, additional organisms obtained from a liquid treatment reactor fed on BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, and mixed xylenes). This was done once per week, by adding 100 ml of the BTEX organisms to the fresh

nutrients supplied during routine leachate replacement between days 63 and 98. The efficiency of minor components removal did not appear to be helped through the addition of these BTEX organisms. The results are presented (in comparison) to Column 3 results in the next subsection (Table 4.9).

A significant amount of growth, which appeared to be fungal in nature, was noticed at the top of the third stage of the reactor and the column was washed on day 99. The column was flooded with 10 L of 1/10 nutrient solution (Appendix C) and air was sparged up the column at a rate of 35 L/min for 15 minutes. This solution was then removed and replaced with another 10 L of 1/10 nutrient solution. This was bubbled through the column for 30 minutes. This was then removed and 10 L more of the diluted nutrient solution was added to the column, while 35 L/min of air was bubbled through the column for 60 minutes. After washing, the column was put into a 3-week stand-by mode (day 99 to 120). During this time, the leachate, which consisted mostly of water, was recycled over the bed 5 min/hr, and air containing no organics was fed to the reactor. The level of leachate was maintained to assure proper humidification. No additional maintenance was performed on the column during this time.

On day 120, feed was restored to the column, but consisted of ethyl acetate only. It was fed a loading of 22.1 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (350.8  $\mu$ g/L) for 20 hrs/day. This was the loading rate and cycle that was expected at the munitions plant during this time frame. The column responded well and >90 percent removal was observed after only 24 hours (Figure 16). The column was shut-down on day 136. No headloss was observed during this time period.

Weekly monitoring of the off gas for fungal spores was performed on Column 2b and the results will be presented in **Fungal Monitoring** (p 86). Table 11 gives the mass balance for the column.

	Colum	n 2b (Low Mix)	Column 3 (High Mix)		
Compound	% Removal	# of Observations	% Removal	# of Observations	
ethyl alcohol	77.6	6	96.4	21	
isobutyl acetate	68	10	90.6	24	
toluene	60.5	27	34.8	24	
2-methyl-1-propanol		······	96.6	23	
n-butyl acetate	_		95.9	23	
mixed xylenes	71	22	35.6	24	
n-butanol	_		36	20	

#### Table 16. Removal efficiencies of minor compounds.

#### Column 3

Column 3 was set-up identically to Column 2b, except for a slightly different volume of medium in each stage; 150 g, 135 g, and 180 g in the first, second, and third stages with the height of each being 58 cm, 53 cm, and 68 cm respectively. The column was initially fed the same Low Mix as Column 2b for the first 25 days, but it proved to be too difficult to monitor the concentrations of the minor constituents. The column was thereafter fed a mixture referred to as the High Mix (Table 12). As with Column 2b, Column 3 was also operated in a downward airflow and the pH of the leachate was targeted at 8 on a daily basis. A summary of operating condition in Column 3 is presented in Table 4.8. Figure 17 shows removal results. Table 17 lists the removal efficiencies of the minor compounds for both Columns 2b and 3.

Column 3 was the sixth column constructed and put into operation. It was inoculated with 15 ml of leachate from Column 1, 1050 ml of nutrients (Appendix C) and 2 L of water, representing a 0.1 percent inoculation on a volume basis. This was recycled over the column at a rate of 420 ml/min for a period of 1 week. After this time the leachate pump was put on a timer and the leachate was recycled 15 min/hour. As with Column 2b, additional BTEX organisms were added (100 ml once per week), from days 63 to 98, when the nutrients were replaced.

Loading from day 1 to 8 of 75 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1192.0  $\mu$ g/L), and was increased to 100 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1589.3  $\mu$ g/L) from day 9 to 25 in an attempt to increase the loading of the minor constituents so their removal could be monitored. At this high loading rate of ethyl acetate, the removal efficiencies of the minor components were very low and sporadic. It was determined that the levels of the minor constituents were too low to be consistently tracked with the GC. Closure on the influent mass balance, between the syringe rate and the GC results, was not consistently met.

After day 26, the feed was switched to the High Mix. The column was fed this mixture at a rate of 75 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1192.0  $\mu$ g/L). After the High Mix was started on the column, the influent became more constant and was able to be more reliably measured on the GC (Figure 17). Similar to Column 2b, the removal of ethyl acetate remained >90 percent until the column was put into the standby mode on day 99.



Figure 17. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 3.

The removal efficiencies of the minor compounds were better for Column 3 than for Column 2b (Table 4.9). For Column 2b, the removal data for ethyl alcohol, isobutyl acetate, toluene, and mixed xylenes ranged from 60 to 80 percent. However, the data for n-butyl acetate, 2-methyl-1-propanol and n-butanol were inconclusive and consequently were not presented. The GC analytical results for Column 3, with the concentration of ethyl acetate at a lower level, lead to better quantification of the minor constituents. For Column 3, removals of >90 percent were observed for all of the components except for toluene and xylenes, which were >30 percent.

Column 3 was washed twice during its operation, on day 63 and day 99. The first wash was not very effective, and a considerable amount of biomass remained on the medium. The wash consisted of the following: 15 L of a 1/10 nutrient solution (Appendix C) being added to the column and sparging air at a rate of 35 L/min through the column bed. After 15 minutes, the leachate was removed and the procedure was repeated. The performance of the reactor was not affected and removal remained high. On day 99, a more thorough wash as described above for Column 2b was performed. This procedure proved to be very effective, such that no biofilm could be detected visually. After washing, the reOn day 120, after a 3-week stand-by period, a small amount of glucose (3 g) was added to the leachate before restoring the feed to the column. The recycle pump was put on a timer to recycle 5 min/hr. The sugar was added with the logic that it might activate the micro-organisms that were present. After 24 hours, the feed gas was restored to the column, but consisted of ethyl acetate only. The loading was the same as Column 2b, 22.1 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (350.8 µg/L), for 20 hr/day. This column also responded well, with >90 percent removal being observed within 24 hours of start-up (Figure 17). The column was shut-down on day 136. No headloss was observed during this time period.

## Column 4a

Column 4a was the first biofilter constructed, and was similar to Column 1 and 2a. It contained approximately 290 g of the cubic medium with a bed height of 175 to 180 cm. Table 18 gives the operational summary for Column 4a. Figure 18 shows the ethyl acetate treatment data.

The retention time for the column was 2 minutes throughout all days of operation. It was inoculated with 1 L of previously isolated ethyl acetate degraders and 500 ml of nutrient solution. The leachate was recycled continuously at 260 ml/min for 24 hours. On Day 2, another 1 L of ethyl acetate degraders was added and the recycle rate was increased to 420 ml/min. This resulted in an approximate inoculation of 11.1 percent on bed volume basis. The leachate was left on continuous recycle until day 12, at which time it was placed on a timer and recycled for 5 min/hr. The airflow was upward and the target leachate pH was initially 7.

Date	Time (days)	Airflow (L/min)	Loading (g/m <sup>3</sup> -hr)	Leachate pH	Recycle Rate (420 ml/min)	Bed Height (cm)	Headloss (cm)	
11/7	1-28	7.5	55	5.97-7.90	constant		0-50	
12/5	29-31	7.5	55	4.99-7.41	once/day		15-32	
12/8	32-42	7.5	55	6.52-8.50*	5 min/day		4-60	
12/20	44		Washed column.					
12/21	45-59	7.5	55	7.02-8.20	15 min/day	115->105	0.8->man	
1/4		Rea	actor shut-dov	vn and medium	was washed and	squeezed.		
*Airflow r	eversed from	n upflow to c	lownflow on d	lay 32; pH targ	et changed from 7	to 8 on day 42.		

Table 17. Column 4a operational summary (reactor set-up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7).



Figure 18. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 4a.

The loading on the column was 55 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1603.6  $\mu$ g/L). The removal efficiency of ethyl acetate reached >90 percent on day 10 and the high removal was observed. The column was washed once, on day 44, as described in the methods section. The decision to wash the column was made based on the high headloss experienced. Also on day 44, the direction of the airflow was reversed and the leachate target pH was increased to 8. After the column was washed, the efficiency immediately went back up to >90 percent removal and the leachate was only recycled 15 min/day until it was shut-down on day 59. Shut-down was due to high headloss.

#### Column 5

Column 5 was the fourth column constructed and was set-up similar to Columns 1, 2a and 4a. It contained approximately 290 g of the cubic medium, had a bed height of 175 to 180 cm, was operated in the upflow air mode and the leachate was initially maintained at a pH of 7. Table 19 gives a summary of Column 5's operational conditions. Figure 19 shows removal efficiency data.

The retention time on the column was 2 minutes for days 1 to 45. It was inoculated with 15 ml of leachate from Column 2a and 1400 ml of nutrient solution, representing a 0.1 percent inoculation. There was an extraneous crimp top stuck in the bottom of the reactor for the first 4 days of operation, which resulted in the leachate/inoculum being recycled at a rate less than the target of 260 ml/min. This had an impact on the start-up such that the slow start was noticeable and unexpected. The problem was corrected on day 4 and the leachate retargeted to a flow rate of 260 ml/min. From day 8 to 38, the leachate flow target was 260 ml/min for 15 min/day. From day 39 to 45 the recycle pump was put on a timer and the leachate was recycled 1 min/hr, which caused the headloss to increase, so it was switched back to 15 min/day.

Date	Time (days)	Airflow (L/min)	AirflowLoadingLeachateRecycle RateBed HeightHeadloss(L/min)(g/m³-hr)pH(260 ml/min)(cm)(cm)						
11/30	1-8	7.5	110	4.99-7.25	constant		0		
12/8	9-38	7.5	110	6.06-8.20*	15 min/day	175->147	0-5		
1/7	39-45	7.5	110	6.15-8.42	1 min/hr	17->127	2-15		
1/14	46-62	15	15 110 6.19-8.52 15 min/day 122->117 1-20						
2/2	65	65 Washed column.							
2/3	66-72	66-72 15 150 <sup>+</sup> 7.20-8.29 15 min/day 117->100 48 - >50							
2/9	Reactor shut-down and medium was washed and squeezed.								
* Airflov * reconr	* Airflow reversed from upflow to downflow; pH target changes from 7 to 8 on day 10								

Table 18. Column 5 Operational Summary (reactor was set-up with cubic medium, airflow was upflow, target pH = 7).



Figure 19. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 5.

The target pH for the leachate was increased to 8 on day 10 and the airflow was reversed on day 11. Loading of ethyl acetate on the column was initially 110 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (3207.1  $\mu$ g/L). Removal was extremely low considering the loading and slowly increased until it was >80 percent around day 10 (Figure 19). It reached >90 percent on day 15, but did not consistently remain there and fell to 80 percent. It remained like this until day 60, at which time removal efficiency began to drop off until it fell below 60 percent on day 65.

It was attempted to wash the column, as described in the Methods section on day 65, to try and restore removal efficiency. After washing, the headloss increased substantially from 20 cm to 48 cm. Although the washing procedure removed most of the biomass from the medium, visual inspection revealed that the washing procedure and set-up of the column allowed the medium to absorb a lot of liquid. After washing, the column's recycle pump was accidentally left on for 2 hours, which resulted in the liquid from the manometer being forced into the reactor. In addition to this, the feed was not restored properly resulting in a lack of feed. The column was shut down on day 72.

#### Square-Wave Loading

Table 20 gives an operational summary of the two columns fed under squarewave loading conditions, Columns 4b and 6. Mass balances were also done on these columns. Table 21 lists the results. Each column will then be discussed in detail, including a summary of each test condition, any changes made in the column operation, and the results of the changes.

#### Column 4b

Column 4b, the seventh biofilter constructed, was set-up with the new cylindrical annular medium. The reactor was built with the PVC plates separating the three stages. The first stage (top) contained 190 g of medium, the second stage (middle) had 130 g, and the third stage (bottom) 140 g. The bed height for the column was 67 cm, 51 cm, and 57 cm for the respective stages. The retention time of the column was 1 min, the airflow was downflow, and the target leachate pH was 8 (maintained throughout the experiment). Table 22 summarizes operational conditions for Column 4b. Figure 20 shows removal efficiency data.

The column was inoculated with 15 ml of leachate from Column 3, 50 ml of nutrients and 1.435 L of water, a 0.1 percent inoculation on a volume basis. This was recycled over the column at a rate of 260 to 420 ml/min for a period of 34 days. After this time the leachate pump was put on a timer and the leachate was recycled 15 min/hr for the duration of the experiment. This reactor was set-up to obtain information on square-wave loading. The column was fed ethyl acetate for 5 hrs/day at a loading rate 50 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (801.8  $\mu$ g/L). During the first 30 days the reactor was in operation, the removal was <80 percent and sporadic. The influent concentration was fairly constant, but because it was so low, the biomass took a long time to establish itself on the medium.

	Column 4b	Column 6
Ethyl Acetate IN/Target (g)	338	41
Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual (g)	279	31
Ethyl Acetate OUT/GC Data - actual (g)	85	10
Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual (g)	195	21
Total Solids OUT (g)	187.4	92.8
Total Solids (g TS/ g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	67.1%	295.9%
Total Solids (g TS/ g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	96.1%	435.8%
Total Volatile Solids OUT (g)	22.8	6.6
Total Volatile Solids (g TVS/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	8.2%	21%
Total Volatile Solids (g TVS/ g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	11.7%	31%
Grams of Nitrogen USED	21.5	12
N USED (g N/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	7.7%	38.3%
N USED (g N/g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	11.1%	56.5%
Grams of Phosphorus USED	4.4	4.3
P USED (g P/g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	1.6%	13.8%
P USED (g P/g Ethyl Acetate TREATED/GC Data - actual)	2.3%	20.3%
Grams of Buffer as CaCO <sub>3</sub> USED	98	61
Buffer USED (g CaCO <sub>3</sub> /g Ethyl Acetate IN/GC Data - actual)	35.1%	195%
Buffer USED (g CaCO <sub>3</sub> /g Ethyl Acetate OUT/GC Data - actual)	50.3%	287.3%

Table 19. Results of the mass balance analyses for columns 4b and	Table 19.	Results of the mass bala	nce analyses for	columns 4b and (
---	-----------	--------------------------	------------------	------------------

Table 20. Column 4b operational summary (reactor set-up with cylindrical annular medium and PVC plates separating sections, airflow was downflow, target pH = 8).

Date	Time (days)	TimeAirflowLoading*LeachateRecycle RateBed HeightHeadloss(days)(L/min)(g/m³-hr)pH(260-420 ml/min)(cm)(cm)						
2/28	1-45	1-45 15 50@5hr/day 4.15-10.10 constant 67/51/57 0						
4/14	46-101	46-101 15 50 @ 5 hr/day 5.65-9.50 15 min/hr 54**/51/56 0						
6/9	102-116 15 50 @ 10 hr/day — 15 min/hr 54/51/56 0							
6/23	Reactor shut-down and medium was washed and squeezed.							
*Glucos 109, 11 **remov	*Glucose Additions: 30 g on days 25, 26, 31, 38 and 45; 15 g on day 49; 3 g on days 84, 86-88, 91, 93-104, 108- 109, 112-115 **removed some of the medium from the first stage							

83



Figure 20. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 4b.

It seemed the column was "hungry" and glucose was added as a secondary substrate on day 24. Table 22 lists the amounts of glucose and the days that it was added. Once the biomass was established, the removal was >90 percent. This was evident from days 24 to 49. High removal efficiencies were retained even though no supplemental glucose was added from day 50 to 78.

From day 78 to 83, the column efficiency slowly decreased. The leachate was observed under the microscope and the density of the organisms was low. It was decided to give the microbes 3 g of glucose per day to provide a more constant food source. This was done from day 84 to 115, with only a few exceptions (see note, Table 22). By day 102, this had not been observed to increase the density of the organisms in the leachate and the removal efficiency remained low. At this time, it was decided to feed the column the same loading, except to feed it for 10 hrs/day versus 5 hrs/day. This seemed to help the removal efficiency and it slowly rose from a low of 40 percent on day 100 to >90 percent on day 115 (Figure 20). The column was shut-down on Day 115.

#### Column 6

Column 6 was the eighth and final biofilter constructed. It was set-up similar to Column 4b with only slight differences in the amount of the cylindrical annular medium that was used in each stage. The first stage (top) contained 180 g of medium, the second stage (middle) had 145 g and the third stage (bottom) 180 g. The bed height for the column was 65 cm, 55 cm, and 57 cm for the respective stages. The retention time, airflow, and leachate pH were the same as stated previously for Column 4b. Table 24 and Figure 21, respectively give a summary of Column 6 operational conditions and removal efficiency data.

Before inoculating the column, it was flooded with 1/10 nutrient solution (1 L of nutrients (Appendix C) and 9 L of water). A decision was made to try this and see if it helped speed up the start-up of the column, since it had been noted that the bed of Column 4 looked dry when it was started. Column 6 was then drained and inoculated with a 0.1 percent inoculum on a volume basis. The inoculum included 15 ml of leachate from Column 1, 200 ml of nutrients, 30 g of glucose and water to 1.5 L. The glucose was added to help supplement the low loading of ethyl acetate, with the intention of helping the biomass establish itself more rapidly than was observed in Column 4b. The inoculum was recycled over the column at a rate of 260 ml/min for a period of 14 days. After this time, the leachate pump was put on a timer and the leachate was recycled 15 min/hr for the duration of the experiment.

Column 6 was also set-up to obtain information on square-wave loading dynamics, except at a much lower loading rate of 9.4 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (150.3  $\mu$ g/L). As with Column 4b, it was only fed for 5 hrs/day at this loading rate. During the first 30 days the reactor was in operation, the removal was <80 percent and sporadic (Figure 21). The influent concentration was fairly constant, but because it was so low, the biomass took a long time to establish itself on the medium. The startup time to obtain 90 percent removal was 9 days. Once the biomass was established, the removal stayed around 90 percent.

Column	Days of Operation	Days Monitored	Feed	Loading (g/m³-hr)	Avg. CFU Observed per Sampling (0.283 m <sup>3</sup> (10 ft <sup>3)</sup> )
1	11/30/94-ongoing	70-198	Ethyl Acetate	6.4-110	· 5
2b	1/31/95-6/15/95	42-136	Ethyl Acetate	12.5-25	4
3	1/31/95-6/15/95	42-136	Low Mix	75-100	11*
4b	2/28/95-6/23/95	14-116	Ethyl Acetate	50 @ 5 hr/day	10
6	3/28/95-6/1/95	7-80	Low/High Mix	9.4-15 @ 5 hr/day	7
*A monito	ring unit that contained 1	77 CFU is not included	d in this average.		

Table 21. Results of off-gas monitoring of columns.



Figure 21. Ethyl acetate removal data for column 6.

In an attempt to maintain high removal efficiency, 30 g of glucose was added to the column once per week when changing out the leachate. It was thought that this might provide the microbes with something to eat when the column was not being fed ethyl acetate. The leachate was observed under the microscope on the days of glucose addition and again on the days after glucose addition. Surprisingly, the density of the organisms did not appear to increase. A slight decrease in removal efficiency was observed on day 21. It was thought that perhaps too much glucose was being fed to the column and the this could interfere with ethyl acetate removal efficiency. The last glucose added was on day 21. Thereafter, glucose addition to the leachate was terminated. The removal efficiency continued to decline from day 21 to 65. The column was shut-down on day 65.

## **Fungal Monitoring**

Five columns were monitored periodically for eucaryotic emissions during the course of the laboratory study. Each of these columns was tested under different operational parameters. Table 24 shows the days the columns were monitored and the average colony forming units (CFU) observed per sample. Each sample represents  $0.283 \text{ m}^3$  (10 ft<sup>3</sup>) of air. During the course of study, each column un-

86

derwent a number of operational perturbations, including the extended shutdown periods on Columns 2b and 3, as listed in Table 25.

Raw counts of the CFU observed for all the column samples and for house air are presented in Table 26.

Fungal monitoring was performed routinely for each column once per week. In some cases, several samples of the same column were taken on a given day to investigate statistical aspects of the sampling regime. Of the 87 samples that were prepared, only two had CFU counts greater than 50. Figure 22 shows the frequency distribution of total eucaryotes in the biofilter off-gas. Forty percent of the time no CFUs were found on the monitoring units and 94 percent of the sampling monitors contained less than 20 CFUs.

Column	Perturbation
1	Fed ethyl acetate only. On 3/14/95 increased SGV from 110 m/hr to 226 m/hr.
2b	Fed Low Mix of components from 1/31-5/9/95. Washed on 5/9/95.
	No feed to column from 5/9-5/30/95. Fed ethyl acetate from 5/31-6/15/95.
3	Fed High Mix of components from 1/31/95-5/9/95. Washed on 4/4/95.
	Washed on 5/9/95.
	No feed to column from 5/9-5/31/95. Fed ethyl acetate from 6/1-6/15/95.
4b	Fed ethyl acetate only. Square-wave loading, 5 hr/day, 2/28-6/9/95.
	Increased Square-wave loading from 5 hr/day to 8-10 hr/day from 6/9-6/23/95.
6	Fed ethyl acetate only. Square-wave loading, 5 hr/day, during all days of operation.

#### Table 22. Column perturbation summary.

	Column 1		Column 2b		Column 3		Column 4b		Column 6		House Air	
Date	FL	YL	FL	YL	FL	YL	FL	YL	FL	YL	FL	YL
2/7/95	1	0									0	0
2/10/95	0	0										
<b>3</b> /7/95	0	0								ļ		
3/13/95	1	0	0	0	0	0	46	0		<u> </u>		
3/20/95	6	0	0	0	2	0	8	0				
3/27/95	9	0	0	0	0	0	2	4				
4/4/95	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20		
4/10/95	0	0	0	1	9	1	7	0	0	1		
4/17/95	5	0	6	3	3	0	10	0	· 0	0	0	0
5/2/95	0	0	0	0	20	0	5	0	5	0	0	0
5/9/95	11	0	1	0	1	0	0	9	5	13	6	0
5/10/95			2	0	0	0						
5/15/95	42	0	0	0	19	0	4	16	1	19	0	0
5/22/95	0	0	4	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	4	0
5/30/95			0	0	6.25*	0.25'					0	0
5/31/95	6	0	0**	0**								
6/1/95			1	13	19.5#	0#	0	0	0	0		
6/2/95												
6/5/95	0	0	2	0	4	0	7	10	0	2	11	0
6/6/95												
6/7/95			5	0	0	20						
6/15/95	0	0	6 <sup>@</sup>	12.5 <sup>@</sup>	19 <sup>@</sup>	26 <sup>@</sup>						

Table 23.	<b>Observed CFU</b>	fungus-like (fl)	) and yeast-like	(yl) CFU per	0.283 m	³ (10 fť	) of air sampled
-----------	---------------------	------------------	------------------	--------------	---------	----------	------------------

\* Average four times monitoring.

\*\* Average of three times monitoring.

# Average of four times monitoring. An additional monitor with 177 CFU was not averaged into this number.

<sup>e</sup> Average of two times monitoring.



Figure 22. Frequency distribution of total eucaryotes in biofilter off-gas.

# 5 Discussion

This section addresses the results from the laboratory phase of the CERL work performed in preparation for the installation of the full-scale biofilter at the Lake City bullet tipping production plant.

#### Physical Media Testing

Three tests were performed on the medium and the columns: buffer capacity, ethyl acetate adsorption capacity, and airflow characteristics of the packed columns. The implications of these tests are presented below.

#### Tracer Study

The tracer results demonstrate one aspect of the feasibility of modeling the biofilter columns. The cylindrical medium used in a majority of the lab work performed has stronger plug flow characteristics than the cubic medium. The plug flow character of the cylindrical medium may have been even greater if the medium pieces had been of a smaller circumference, or if the laboratory column were of a larger diameter. A small amount of tracer was observed to pass through the columns in a short period of time, which is usually attributed to a "sidewall effect" of the column, allowing some of the gas through the column untreated. It is not anticipated that there will be "short circuiting" of gas flow in the large-scale reactor.

#### Medium Breakthrough Study

The breakthrough study shows that the removal of contaminants from the vapor stream by the physical process of absorption will be a minor source of removal. The gas stream expected at Lake City should be in the range of 0.03 lb/1000 cu ft (500  $\mu$ g/L) at an airflow rate of 1000 scfm (28.3 m<sup>3</sup>/minute). The observed ethyl acetate sorption to the medium was 3 lb/1000 cu ft (0.72 g/15 L) so the break-through of the contaminants will occur in less than 2 hours. The reactor system is expected to operate for at least 1 year; the medium life is anticipated to be 3 to 5 years. At an average medium life of 4 years, with a 20 hour per day, 4 day per week, 45 week per year production operation, removal by sorption would account for less than 0.02 percent of the mass of contaminant removed.

## **Buffer Capacity Determination**

The buffer capacity test on the medium showed that some buffering capacity resides within the medium. This additional buffering capacity is an important feature of the reactor, as it can provide a more stable environment for the microorganisms. Enhancing the medium characteristics to provide better buffering capacity will be an important step towards a more reliable and stable reactor system. A medium with the ability to provide a stable pH range during reactor operation, shut-down, cycling, or upsets will result in the microbes functioning in a more predictable and consistent manner. However, it will be seen that the total capacity of the column medium (roughly 0.15 g CaCO<sub>3</sub> buffer capacity) is small compared with the total buffer added to the columns during operation (42-178 g CaCO<sub>3</sub> buffer capacity).

### Inoculation and Column Start-up

The key to a successful start-up of the columns was directly related to an active inoculum being applied to the columns, as shown by the data in Tables 7. and 17. This section will discuss the inoculum isolation procedure, as well as what determined a successful inoculation and start-up.

## Inoculum Isolation

The development of an inoculum from common soil points to the versatility of natural sources of inoculum. The formation of an inoculum from a source such as this, without cultural separation and purification, results in a mixed culture. Mixed cultures are thought to be more resilient to microbial upsets that could cause a bioengineered system to shut-down. The removal of the target gases proved to be possible without a specific pure culture for each contaminant.

## Inoculation

Under steady-state mass loading ranges that were greater than 25 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (400.9  $\mu$ g/L), inoculation and start-up of the columns was accomplished by adding the inoculum and nutrient/buffer solution to the column and allowing it to recycle through the column in the presence of the contaminant stream being treated. Removal of the target compound in excess of 80 percent can be anticipated in a 9-day time frame.

The first columns that were set-up, Columns 2a and 4a, were inoculated with a large volume of starter culture. This was done to ensure a successful start-up of

the columns. It was determined that using this amount of inoculum, scaled to field reactor volumes, would prove to be an unreasonably large volume, requiring between 2200 and 3800 L for the 1000 cu ft biofilter. Faced with this potential problem, an effort was made to determine the smallest reasonable volume of inoculum that would provide a successful field start-up. The remainder of the columns were started with a culture volume of 0.1 percent on a volume basis. This amount was determined to be adequate, although start-up generally took a few days longer on most columns than had been seen on Columns 2a and 4a. In one case, however, good removals of ethyl acetate were achieved within 4 days (Column 1). Column 1 appeared to be a special case since a very large loading of ethyl acetate, 110 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (2304  $\mu$ g/L), may have accelerated the growth on the column.

When low loading rates were applied to the biofilter, or the biofilter was started up under square-wave loading, the low mass loading did not seem to be conducive to the rapid development of a biofilm. Biofilm formation appeared to be hindered by the relatively low quantity of the carbon source that was available to the micro-organisms. In the columns where low loading was not resulting in a healthy biofilm, a supplemental carbon source was added to the leachate to circulate over the biofilter bed. The supplemental carbon source was glucose. The glucose apparently gave the micro-organisms sufficient metabolite to establish an initial biofilm. Once the biofilm was established, the addition of the supplemental carbon source was reduced or eliminated.

Column 4b, one of the square-wave loaded columns, was initially started without glucose addition. After 24 days of poor ethyl acetate removal, a glucose addition regime was started. Within a few days, better results were observed, culminating in full start-up by day 35. The other square-wave loaded column, Column 6, also had glucose added to it and start-up appeared to occur in 9 days. The high removal of ethyl acetate on Column 6 was short lived and never thereafter achieved a consistently high removal efficiency. It would appear that the overall loading of ethyl acetate, 9.4 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (150.3  $\mu$ g/L) for 5 hrs/day, was too low for a healthy biomass film to become fully established, even with the additional glucose. No attempt was made to increase the amount of glucose that was added to the system. Therefore, no conclusion can be drawn as to what effect this would have had on the system at this low loading.

## **Column Performance**

The majority of the work performed in the lab was done on ethyl acetate alone. This work was performed at three different airflow rates (superficial gas velocities) and multiple mass feed concentrations. Two columns were fed a contaminant feed that was representative of actual exhaust gas samples obtained from Lake City AAP. The first of these columns was set up to treat the mixture of compounds in approximately the proportions existing in the vapor stream at Lake City AAP. Analytical uncertainties in determining the removal of the minor constituents in this test led to the creation of a second mix, which still had the same proportions of minor constituents, but contained less ethyl acetate.

### Steady-State Removal of Ethyl Acetate

The observed contaminant removal in the laboratory biofilter columns containing only ethyl acetate varied from 76 to 93 percent. When the start-up periods were excluded, the removal was 86 to 96 percent. There was no strict correlation between removal and mass loading. The columns appeared to enjoy ethyl acetate very much, with the micro-organisms metabolizing as much as could be fed. More importantly, the columns generally had very consistent removal performance during the course of their trials. The performance of Column 4a demonstrates this (Figure 18). Once the start-up phase was complete, the removal of ethyl acetate from the vapor stream was consistent, with the exception of one dip in performance, 99 percent or more. Column 4a demonstrated that a biofilter with proper moisture, nutrient, and buffer control would exhibit maximum operational removal performance.

Figure 23 further exemplifies the consistency of the performance of steady-state ethyl acetate removal. In this figure all nonstart-up data are plotted for all steady-state columns as removal versus loading ( $g/m^3$ -hr). The plotted line represents the best fit to all column performance of approximately 99 percent.

#### **Removal of Contaminant Mixes**

The two columns fed the mix of compounds representative of the waste gas at Lake City AAP demonstrated that ethyl acetate is degradable, even when other compounds are present. It was anticipated that the components (toluene and xylenes) would have shown better removals than the approximate range of 60 percent for Column 2b and 35 percent for Column 3, especially since additional BTEX degrading organisms were added to both columns from days 63 to 98. The minor constituents removal efficiency of Column 2b was more difficult to monitor than Column 3, which had a higher percentage of the minor constituents. Overall, based on the mass loading, removal of >90 percent of the amount of waste loaded onto the columns was consistently observed. It is encouraging that ethyl acetate degradation does not seem to be impaired by the presence of these contaminants. The inability to degrade high levels of the other components may be due to a number of factors. One organism cannot be expected to degrade every compound effectively. Perhaps the large loading of ethyl acetate creates the condition where the organisms that consume compounds other than ethyl acetate are at some disadvantage. This is exemplified by Columns 2b and 3, which were fed the "Low and High" mixes, respectively. When fed higher concentrations of ethyl acetate, the minor components removal efficiencies increased. Therefore, it should be expected that the field-scale biofilter has the potential to perform satisfactorily if the production plant personnel should desire to change the component mix somewhat.

## **Dynamic Loading Removal**

The key to successful application of biofilters in cyclical operation modes lies in understanding how biofilters respond to changes in the concentration of contaminant that is present in the gas flow. In this study, we operated some of the test columns under square-wave loading conditions.

#### Dynamic Mass Loading Removal

During the study, a total of four different dynamic flow tests were performed. Columns 4b and 6 were operated on loading cycles of 5 hours in length, 5 days per week, for the majority of their respective trial runs. Columns 2b and 3 were loaded for 20 hours per day for the last 2 weeks of their respective operational cycles. The average removal for these two columns was 92 and 93 percent respectively.

The Column 4b trial run took an exceptionally long time to start-up. In fact, start-up did not occur during the first 24 days. Start-up only began after a glucose addition regime was initiated. The initial start-up phase of the column run took 35 days to complete. From day 35 until day 80, the biofilter column removal was generally over 90 percent and relatively stable (Figure 20). Removal began to drop off at this time and attempts were made to re-establish performance by adding varying amounts of glucose. These attempts failed, and on day 102, the feed duration was changed to 10 hours per day. The column responded to this and removal increased to over 90 percent by day 115. The need for a supplemental carbon source at start-up was established by the experimental results of Column 4b. Without the supplemental carbon source, it is not certain that stable removal performance would have been initiated.

Column 6 was operated on a dynamic loading pattern of 5 hours per day and a very low mass loading, 9.4 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (150.3  $\mu$ g/L) for a majority of the experimental

trial. The addition of 30 g of glucose/week was not found to cause this column to perform consistently at a high removal percentage at this low dynamic feed rate. It was felt that the supplemental carbon would assist the start-up and maintenance of a healthy biofilm in the lab column, but this simultaneous feed of contaminant and glucose did not improve this low mass loaded column performance. Figure 21 shows the removal performance of Column 6.

## Shut-Downs

During the course of the experimental work, it became evident that the Lake City AAP would, on occasion, shut-down for periods of time beyond the normal 3day weekend. These shut-downs would have some undetermined effect on the biofilter and required investigation. The contaminant feed was shut off to Columns 2b and 3 during course of operation. The flow of house air was continued and the packed beds were kept moist by continuing the regularly scheduled leachate recycle. The columns were left in this operational mode for a period of 3 At the end of 3 weeks, glucose was added to Column 3 before reweeks. establishing feed. Glucose was added to Column 3 to determine if a supplemental carbon source would speed removal start-up. Glucose was not added Column 2b. Both columns were fed ethyl acetate only at a rate of 22.1 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (350.8  $\mu$ g/L) 20 hr/day. There is no visual evidence that the addition of a supplemental carbon source was necessary to ensure the ethyl acetate would be efficiently removed at restart. Both columns achieved >90 percent removal within 1 day of re-addition of ethyl acetate feed.

## Washing Cycles

Initially, it was thought that the columns would need to be washed on a regular basis, perhaps as often as once per month. Early in the study, it was discovered that this was not going to be the case; several of the columns did not need frequent washing. It was decided to only wash the columns as needed, which was indicated by a decrease in the removal efficiency of a column or high headloss. The first columns started (Columns 2a, 4a, and 5) contained cubic medium. On backwashing the medium, the column bed collapsed and caused column failure. Columns 2b and 3 were also washed, but they contained the new reinforced media and the columns were modified to have separating plates between the stages. These columns demonstrated that the engineered medium had the capacity to be washed, something that is of utmost importance especially with biofilters that may experience high loadings. 95

Headloss may not be a good indicator of the need for washing with the cylindrical annular medium, as very little headloss was ever noted with this bed packing material. Disregarding the experiences with Columns 2a, 4a, and 5 and relying only on the experiences with cylindrical medium, the following observations may be made. With these columns, we implemented a wash cycle based on a visual observation of need. Simply stated, the biomass on the medium looked thick. Column 3 was loaded at a rate of from 75-100 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (1192-1589  $\mu$ g/L) and was washed once after 63 days of operation and again after 36 more days. Thus it required two washings for a total of 186,000 g/m<sup>3</sup> substrate fed. Column 2b was fed 25 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (400.9  $\mu$ g/L) for 57 days and 12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (200.4  $\mu$ g/L) for 41 days. This column could perhaps have gone longer without washing, but was washed on day 99. The total load was 46,500 g/m<sup>3</sup> fed. Thus, at some point in between 46,500 and 93,000 g/m<sup>3</sup>, it would be prudent to consider washing a biofilter.

Washing of Column 2a was performed only after a fungus was allowed to become encrusted on the medium and plug the column. The washing intervention on this column was substantially different than the other column washes and is outlined in Appendix E. In this case, it was necessary to completely disrupt all biological growth to cleanse the column of the fungus so that the biofilter would operate correctly again. It was also necessary to reinoculate this column because all biological activity was destroyed by the washing cycle.

## **Biomass Yield**

The yield of biomass was an important consideration in the laboratory phase of this project. Biological processes produce cells as part of the metabolism of carbon. In a biofilter, respiration increases the cell mass on the biofilter medium as a direct result of this substrate uptake. From the mass balance data obtained in the experiments, between 7.6 and 12 g of dried cell mass were produced for every 100 g of ethyl acetate treated (Tables 11 and 21). From a process point of view, the importance of biomass yield is in scheduling preventative maintenance cycles. The amount of biomass in the leachate will also be a consideration in the sewering of the leachate from the biofilter system. It cannot be understated that growing cells require nitrogen, phosphorus, and trace minerals, which must be added to the system in proportions consistent with the cell yield.

## **Nutrient/Buffer Requirements**

The MBI medium has a buffer and nutrient component incorporated into its matrix. This research has found that the incorporation of the these components into the structure of the medium creates a surface that the micro-organisms adhere to easily and consequently form a biofilm. The existence of these components in the medium matrix makes the calculation of a mass balance difficult. There is no discernible method to calculate the actual amounts of the buffer and nutrient constituents in the medium that were used to control the pH or that were used by the micro-organisms. We can calculate the mass balance based only of the quantity of these chemicals that were added with the buffer or nutrient solutions.

## Nutrient Balance

The observed nitrogen usage by the biofilm in the columns varied between 2.3 and 7.7 g/100 g for the measured influent ethyl acetate and 3.0 to 11.1 g/100 g of the ethyl acetate measured as treated by the biofilter columns. The phosphorus use varied from 1.3 to 1.8 g/ 100 g for the measured influent ethyl acetate and 1.5 to 2.3 g/ 100 g of ethyl acetate measured as treated. These mass balance values of nutrient used are mitigated somewhat by the bio-availability of these macronutrients in the medium complex. A general microbial nutrient requirement ratio to avoid nutrient limitation is usually expressed as  $C_{100}N_{10}P$ . In grams, this would be 12 g nitrogen and 2.6 g phosphorus per 100 grams of carbon. Based on the amount of ethyl acetate actually fed to the columns, the supplemental nitrogen fed to the columns was between 35 and 118 percent of this idealized amount. The supplemental phosphorus fed was between 92 and 127 percent. From the mass balance numbers on the treated ethyl acetate, nitrogen used in the columns was between 46 and 170 percent and the phosphorus used was between 106 and 162 percent of the anticipated requirements of the biofilm.

The nutrient balance data suggests that the nitrogen needed for the biofilm was provided for sufficiently by the  $C_{100}N_{10}P$  "rule of thumb." Only Column 4b used the nitrogen in excess of this amount. Column 4b was fed supplemental glucose, which would increase the need for nitrogen. For phosphorus, the results were somewhat different. The phosphorus used by the biofilm was usually in excess of this rule of thumb, as much as 62 percent in excess. Given the lab results, a better rule for the design of the biofilter systems for this gas stream would be  $C_{100}N_{10}P_{1.6}$ . This design rule would more accurately reflect how the biofilm, in these experiments, used the nutrients for this gas stream with respect to the sludge or biofilm age, as observed in the laboratory work. Given that the biofilm is capable of obtaining nitrogen and phosphorus from "old" cells that have ceased to function, it is reasonable to assume that, as the biofilm ages, less of the macronutrients will be required. Therefore, the longer the period of time between preventative maintenance cycles, the lower the mass of macronutrients that would be required to maintain the biofilter performance.

97

#### **Buffer Balance**

Of the calculated mass balances, the mass balance of the buffer added showed the most variance. For Columns 3, 4a, and 5 the amount of buffer removed in the leachate was greater than the amount applied. The amount of buffer used on Columns 2b, 4b, and 6 were 25 percent more than the average buffer consumption per gram of ethyl acetate treated that was observed for all columns and all tests during the study. There are three potential explanations for these widely divergent results.

First, there is an indication that the buffer incorporated in the media is available to mitigate the pH changes caused by the acid producing metabolism of the micro-organisms. The bio-availability of the buffer is an advantage of an engineered medium such that it helps the biofilm be more resistant to pH upsets. The observed results from the laboratory experiments showed that some of the buffer contained in the medium was soluble in the leachate. It is anticipated that the amount of buffering capacity will diminish over time and eventually become depleted.

A second reason for the observed buffer mass balance results pertains to the cases when significant amounts of buffer were used relative to the amount of ethyl acetate being treated. The seemingly excessive amounts of buffer used can be explained by the high control point of the pH. Carbonate was chosen as a buffering agent because of the low risk of overdosing. The natural equilibrium of the carbonate system keeps the pH from rising excessively when buffer is added to the leachate. Carbonate's natural alkalinity equilibrium is around 8.3. Therefore, significant buffering capacity is used to keep the pH=8. There is a trade-off apparent for the higher pH to keep the fungus growth in check and the higher amount of carbonate required.

Finally, there is a possibility that carbonate came out of solution as a precipitate in slurry form. Slurry was observed in Columns 4b and 6, and when the leachate was removed, a significant portion of the slurry remained in the column. Since the pH was adjusted based on the leachate sample, excess carbonate may have been added to these columns.

The quantity of buffer required for the columns showed much variability and it would appear to be highly specific to the operating conditions. Of all of the columns, only Columns 1 and 2a provide any reasonable values for the amount of buffer. The results from these columns indicate that about 6.5 g of buffer expressed as  $CaCO_3$  will be required for every 100 g of carbon, as ethyl acetate treated.

# **Fungal Monitoring**

Fungal spores are a concern of potential biofilter users. The uncontrolled release of fungal spores to the open atmosphere could have undetermined health effects. To gather information about the presence of fungal spores, the biofilter columns were monitored on a weekly basis for a significant part of the laboratory trials. A high degree of variability was observed between columns of approximately the same age. This could be attributed to any number of things such as: different loading rates, superficial gas velocities, forms of the medium being used, etc. Several times, multiple samples were taken from the same column, and the results obtained also had a high standard deviation. Multiple sampling and averaging of the results could present a more reliable estimate of the number of eucaryotic CFUs being discharged in the exhaust of a biofilter. However, we have no indication that completely random release can be discredited.

It was anticipated that the number of eucaryotic organisms given off when a biofilter was first started-up would be higher than after a reactor had been running for several weeks. Columns 4b and 6 were tested at start-up and demonstrated a relatively high number of CFU. It is difficult to reach a conclusion about a steady-state column from these data since Columns 4b and 6 were non steadystate columns. For columns that were operated for longer periods of time, such as Columns 1, 2b and 3, the number of CFUs observed on the monitors increased with time of operation. The leveling off of CFUs was expected, but it was not expected for the number of CFUs to fluctuate so much. It was also thought that washing the columns would show an effect on the number of CFU emitted from the biofilters. Although this was shown to be the case both times that Column 3 was washed, it showed no effect on Column 2b. This was expected since washing a column would appear to be comparable to the start-up period of a biofilter. Similar results were obtained after the extended shut-down period of Columns 2b and 3, where Column 2b showed no effect and Column 3 showed a slight increase in the number of eucaryotic emissions. Lastly, although various loading rates of ethyl acetate were fed to the columns and it was thought that this would show some effect on the columns, no correlations between loading rates and CFU could be made.

# 6 Translation to Field

Biofiltration is not yet an exact engineering science. No literature or scholarly models exist that allow the direct scale-up of a biofilter from known physical constants to a working field scale unit. Given this, the laboratory data we have collected for the past year is invaluable for the installation of a working system. Uncertainties exist, however, about the true make-up of the bullet tipping process contaminant gas stream. When estimates were made on a simple mass balance approach of the gas stream constituents, there seemed to be a substantial difference between the assumed and actual make-up of the gas stream. The contents of the VOC source were taken as the direct make-up of the gas stream without considering how much of the contaminants were caught up in the application. The initial estimates for Lake City AAP indicated that the VOC concentrations would be as high as 137 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (4000  $\mu$ g/L). Subsequent testing at the facility resulted in the discovery that the actual concentrations were much lower. Since that time, the Lake City AAP has undergone design changes to its ventilation system, and its production has increased — so the true make-up of the contaminant gas as well as the overall loading to the biofilter has more than likely changed from the data that initial and intermediate estimates were based on. The following sections detail the anticipated installation, start-up, maintenance, and sampling needs that the field unit is going to need.

#### **Field Unit Installation**

The biofilter that will be installed at the Lake City AAP, Independence, MO, will be 1000 cu ft in volume. In addition to the cement pad the unit will be placed on, the biofilter will require telephone, electrical, water, and sewer connections. The telephone connection, for the remote telemetry, will be hard wired. The biofilter will have a float switch in the leachate to actuate the water supply or the drain. It will also be equipped with a pH feedback pump actuator to control the pH of the leachate. To allow remote monitoring of the system, the biofilter will also be equipped with a Photo Ionization Detector (PID) that will make it possible to obtain qualitative measurements of removal efficiency without the need to sample manually. Although the use of a Flame Ionization Detector (FID) would have allowed for individual component monitoring, it was decided to use a PID due to the explosive nature of the waste stream.

## Inoculation and Start-up of the Field Unit

Production at the Lake City AAP is expected to be 10 hours per day, 4 days per week for a single shift, and 20 hours per day, 4 days per week for a double shift duty, when the biofilter system is installed at the plant. Based on the latest sampling at the plant, it is expected that the concentration of the gas exiting the building will be closer to  $12.5 \text{ g/m}^3$ -hr (216 µg/L), much lower than the original estimate of 137 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (4000 µg/L). The gas stream should be composed primarily of ethyl acetate, with the other compounds making up a minor part of the contaminant stream. The gas retention time (empty bed retention time) in the field biofilter is expected to be 1 minute.

Based on laboratory observations, the field unit will require a minimum of 28.3 L of active inoculum, a 0.1 percent inoculation. To facilitate start-up of the column, a solution made of 1/10 the concentration of the normal nutrients (Appendix C) will be applied to the column before inoculation. This startup solution will soak the media and provide a nutrient-rich environment for the micro-organisms. This solution will be circulated for a period of at least 24 hours before the inoculum is applied.

In the laboratory, it was observed that, during a cyclic loading pattern of the biofilters, a supplemental carbon source appeared to facilitate a successful start-up of the system. This was found to be the case in the laboratory columns where the loading was not only cyclic, but also extremely low, <12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (<216  $\mu$ g/L). Start-up will be with 22.7 kg of granulated table sugar and 1.5 kg of brewer's yeast.

After inoculation, the nutrient/yeast extract/sugar solution will be continuously recycled over the column bed while the contaminant is fed to the column. The continuous recycle of nutrients/inoculum should help establish a healthy biofilm. From past results, the biofilter system should be removing a minimum of 80 percent of the contaminant gas fed to the column within 9 days. After this start-up phase, the column system, if properly maintained, should continue to improve and should remove at least 95 percent of the ethyl acetate and a significant percentage of the other compounds that are in the vapor exhaust stream.

## **Buffering/Nutrient Feed**

The biofilter system at the Lake City AAP will have a nutrient/pH buffering control loop. It will be possible to maintain the pH with this control loop by adding the desired buffer to the nutrient solution, which will be added based on the nutritional requirements of the biofilter. With this type of nutrient/buffer system, the nutrient to buffer ratio will be an important parameter. Due to the many different parameters tested and the uncertainty of the gas stream concentration at the plant, the laboratory experimentation did not identify a precise value for the nutrient to buffer mixture. Identified as a reasonable starting point from the experimental results is the ratio of 7 g of CaCO<sub>3</sub> (equivalents)/100 g of ethyl acetate. The macronutrients were identified as  $C_{100}N_{10}P_{1.5}$ . The nutrient mix then becomes a solution of nitrogen, phosphorus, and buffer corresponding to the amounts outlined in Table 27.

In addition to the macronutrients listed above, there are also many trace vitamins and minerals that the micro-organisms will need in order to flourish. These are required in very small amounts and will be provided by adding a small amount of brewer's yeast to the nutrient mixture.

#### **Preventative Maintenance**

Preventative maintenance (PM) will be performed on the Lake City column as required, and it is anticipated that the need for PM will be quite minimal. The laboratory columns were washed when the pressure drop across the packed bed became unacceptably high or the removal efficiency dropped off. The modification of the media after the first phase of the laboratory experiments improved the media so much that in later experiments, headloss was not an issue. The reactors that were fed a higher amount of ethyl acetate, >500  $\mu$ g/L, did require to be washed to remove the excess biomass to maintain high removal efficiency, but the required frequency of washing was much less than was anticipated. There appears to be operational parameters, such as contaminant loading, nutrients, and retention time that alleviate the need for washing (i.e., the biomass that is created is broken down at an equal rate).

For instance, Column 1 has never required to be washed, even though it was setup with the cubic media. The loading onto the column was reduced significantly early in the columns operation, and in addition to that, the retention time was also lowered. Both of these changes were made to more closely mimic the field scale unit. The favorable response of Column 1 to these changes and its continued high removal of ethyl acetate after 1 year in operation are very encouraging for the field biofilter unit. Table 24. Nutrient/buffer requirements.

Compound	per 100 grams of Ethyl Ace- tate (grams required)				
Nitrogen	6				
Phosphorus	2				
CaCO <sub>3</sub>	7				

# Field Sampling/Monitoring During and After Demonstration

During the demonstration, both MBI and CERL personnel made field visits to verify biofilter performance. These visits were to verify the removal efficiency of the biofilter unit, perform a visual system check, obtain samples of the leachate for analysis, and replace the nutrient/buffer mixture.

Although the unit was equipped with a PID, the PID was not capable of accurately measuring the concentration of the individual components in the vapor exhaust stream, which varied in constituent concentration. Manual gas sampling consisted of capturing multiple air samples of the influent and effluent gas in both Tedlar bags and crimp vials. This dual method of sampling was performed in an effort to demonstrate a new sampling technique that has proven itself to be considerably more accurate in preliminary lab studies.

Samples of the leachate were obtained for an analysis of the solids content, the residual nutrient, and buffer levels. The nutrient/buffer tank was replenished during these visits, with appropriate changes to the content of the mixture based on the previous leachate analysis. As the biofilm established itself on the bed, fewer nutrients (specifically trace nutrients) needed to be added to the solution.

Lake City AAP personnel were expected to continue to analyze and monitor the system after the demonstration if it is kept at Lake City AAP.

# 7 Conclusions

1. This study has successfully provided bench-scale data that will support the demonstration of the use an engineered medium as the packed bed material in a biofilter. Engineered media have several inherent advantages (more consistent characteristics) over natural media:

a. An engineered medium helps control pressure drop (headloss) of the biofilter bed.

b. An engineered medium can be washed. Significant amounts of the biomass can be scrubbed from the medium surface. By controlling biomass build-up in this manner, engineered systems can operate at higher mass loading rates, which decreases the overall size of the biofilter units. (These first two advantages were demonstrated repeatedly throughout the laboratory experiment.)

c. Engineered media are very resistant to microbial attack, in contrast to the performance of the natural bed (packing material) biofilter, which had a shorter life span as a result of microbial attack on the media.

d. Engineered media also have an advantage over natural media biofilters for biomass control. The lack of biomass control is the principle mass loading limiting factor for natural medium systems.

2. The results of the laboratory phase of the project show that biofiltration can successfully treat ethyl acetate and other minor constituents present in the LCAAP vapor stream (Tables 10 and 20). From the data collected at laboratory scale, more than 90 percent ethyl acetate removal is anticipated at full scale as well as 90 percent of the minor constituents. Note that these figures do not include the start-up phase of the experimentation, when the removal of these compounds is expected to be sporadic until consistent removal is established after approximately 7 to 10 days.

3. The study also revealed significant procedural information about inoculating the laboratory biofilter columns, and also about the result of low or cyclical mass loadings. a. During the laboratory experimentation, biofilter start-up or "inoculation" was studied insignificant detail. To facilitate the start-up of a remote site, it is critical to understand as much about the inoculation procedure as possible.

b. For low mass loadings, <12.5 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (<200  $\mu$ g/L), or cyclical loadings, the inoculum needed assistance in initiating a healthy biofilm. For biofilters treating medium to high mass loadings, 25 to 110 g/m<sup>3</sup>-hr (400 to 3207  $\mu$ g/L), inoculation was accomplished by applying the inoculum mixed with a nutrient solution to the packing material. The mixture was circulated around the column while the contaminated gas stream passed over the bed.

4. It was discovered that the addition of a supplemental carbon source in controlled amounts provided enough carbon for the inoculum to initiate a biofilm. The additional carbon did not make the inoculum predisposed to metabolizing only the supplemental carbon source. The researchers postulate that the mechanism involved here is solely the provision of enough carbon nutrient to start and maintain a biofilm. The use of a supplemental carbon source should not be confused with the biological term "co-metabolism." Co-metabolism is the transformation of a compound by organisms that do not obtain energy or carbon for cell growth from the transformation, and hence require an alternative source of carbon and energy. The supplemental carbon source identified in this study was glucose, which proved indispensable in establishing a healthy biofilm in columns 4b and 6.

5. Evidence also showed that the use of a supplemental carbon source can be overdone, and that continuous use of supplemental carbon may cause the biofilm to become predisposed to its digestion at the expense of the target compound.

6. This study investigated the use of pH as a fungus formation control method on the packed bed of the biofilter, and also monitored the columns' off-gas for eucaryotic discharge.

a. The control of fungus growth on a biofilter packed bed is an important concern. Fungus can plug the biofilter and increase the pressure drop of vapor flowing through the reactor. During the course of this study, it was determined that the fungus predisposed to form on the biofilter in this vapor stream was less inclined to be active when the pH control point was raised to above pH=7. No negative implications were found for the microbes that were being used to treat the target compounds at these higher pH ranges. Consequently, a reasonable fungus control method was found for this vapor stream.
b. The results of this study and others indicate that biofilters appear not to be a source of concern in regard to eucaryotic micro-organisms. Other types of activities that are sources of enormous amount of spore production relative to biofilters, such as those relating to agriculture (the harvesting of hay, or stored grain or fodder), are more likely to cause health hazards than biofilters. This study concludes that the advantages of reducing dangerous emissions such as benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, mixed xylenes, formaldehyde, or styrene through treatment far outweigh the potential risk of dangerous eucaryotic organisms being discharged from a biofilter. In fact, while biofilters provide ideal conditions for the organisms that degrade these toxic compounds, these same toxic compounds may also serve to keep pathogenic eucaryotes from being able to establish a niche.

7. General information was obtained regarding the amounts of buffer and nutrient requirements to maintain biofilter removal performance. Nutrient and buffer balances proved to be the most difficult control parameters to identify. Each column trial was operated at different concentrations or mass loading with several different substrates containing vapor streams treated. A widely divergent range of mass balance percentages resulted from the different mass loading conditions. After adjusting for differences in loadings and concentrations, it was determined that about 7 g of CaCO<sub>3</sub> equivalents are necessary per gram of ethyl acetate treated for pH control. The addition of nitrogen and phosphorous seem reasonably governed by the relationship  $C_{100}N_{10}P_{15}$  in this work.

8. Studies were performed to investigate the flow of the contaminant stream through the biofilter packed bed. With the use of an inert tracer, flow patterns were constructed of the columns with two different medium types. Laboratory results demonstrated a significant increase in the relative plug flow character of the biofilters when the annular cylindrical medium was tested as compared to the cubic medium. Plug flow is desirable because it creates a greater concentration gradient, increasing mass transfer. Since the rate removal or degradation of contaminants in the biofilter is generally governed by the mass transfer of the contaminant to the biofilm, biofilter packing material with higher plug flow characteristics is favored.

## Bibliography

- 1. Carlson, D.A., and C.P. Leiser, "Soil Beds for the Control of Sewage Odors," Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation, 38(5), 829-840 (1966).
- 2. Severin, B.F., J. Shi, B.G. Cybul, L.M. Neilson, and J.L. Furstenberg, "High-Rate Low Volume Biofilters for Industry," *Water Environment Federation*, Pittsburgh, PA, 12 (1995).
- 3. McCoy and Associates, The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990: Statutory Requirements and Keyword Index, McCoy and Associates, Inc., Lakewood, Colorado (1991).
- 4. Commerce Clearing House, Clean Air Act Law and Explanation, Commerce Clearing House, Inc., Chicago, Illinois (1990).
- 5. Air & Waste Management Association, *Air Pollution Engineering Manual*, Anthony J. Buonicore and Wayne Davis, eds., Van Nostrand Reinhold (1992).
- 6. Laznow, J., and J. Daniel, "Overview of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Hazardous Air Pollutant Early Reduction Program," *Journal of Air and Waste Management Association*, 42(1), 31 (1992).
- 7. Leson, G., F. Tabatabal, and A.M. Winer, "Control of Hazardous and Toxic Air Emissions by Biofiltration," *Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association*, Kansas City, MO, 12 (1992).
- Leson, G., A.M. Winer, and D.S. Hodge, "Application of Biofiltration to the Control of Air Toxics and Other VOC Emissions," *Proceedings of the 84th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association*, Vancouver, BC (Canada), 11 (1991).
- Martinez, C., M. Olden, C. McCalla, W.R. Hansen, and P.C. Katen, "Reductions in Potential Toxic and ROG Emissions Using Air Activated Sludge as Biofiltration," *Proceedings of the 85th* Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, 16 (1992).
- 10. Card, T., G.J. Mayer, J. Witherspoon, and S. Hedges, "VOC Emissions Reduction," Water Environment & Technology (March), 50-54 (1995).
- 11. Hodge, D.S., and J.S. Devinny, "Biofilter Treatment of Ethanol Vapors," *Environmental Progress*, 13(3), 167-173 (1994).
- Buck, F.A., and E.L. Seider, "State of the Art VOC Abatement from Soil Venting Operations," Remediation, 39 (Winter), 39-50 (1991-1992).
- Sheth, S.J., "SO<sub>2</sub> Emissions History and Scrubbing System," *IEEE Transactions on Industry* Applications, 28(4), 970-980 (1992).

- 14. Hodge, D.S., and J.S. Devinny, "Modeling Removal of Air Contaminants by Biofiltration," Journal of Environmental Engineering, 121(1), 21-32 (1995).
- O'Neill, D.H., I.W. Stewart, and V.R. Phillips, "A Review of the Control of Odour Nuisance from Livestock Buildings: Part 2, The Costs of Odour Abatement Systems as Predicted from Ventilation Requirements," *Journal of Agricultural and Engineering Research*, 51, 157-165 (1992).
- Liu, P., "ALCOA Testing Bioscrubber for Trace Aromatics in Air," *HazTECH News* (January 14), 4 (1993).
- 17. Harpole, T., "A Milestone for Clean Air: Monsanto Reduces Toxic Emissions by 90 Percent Worldwide," Monsanto Magazine (2), 30-33 (1993).
- 18. Heuckeroth, R., "Biofilters Provide New Options to Control Air Emissions," The National Environmental Journal (November/December), 20-22 (1993).
- 19. Togna, A. P., G.J. Skladany, and J.M. Caratura, "Treatment of BTEX and Petroleum Hydrocarbon Vapors Using a Field-Pilot Biofilter," 49th Purdue Industrial Waste Conference Proceedings, West Lafayette, Indiana, 437-448 (1994).
- Bohn, H.L., "Odor Removal by Biofiltration," in Recent Developments and Current Practices in Odor Regulation, Controls and Technology, D.R. Derenzo and A. Gnyp, eds., Air & Waste Management Association, 135-147 (1991).
- 21. Hodge, D.S., V.F. Medina, R.L. Islander, and J.S. Devinny, "Treatment of Hydrocarbon Fuel Vapors in Biofilters," *Environmental Technology*, 12(8), 655-662 (1991).
- 22. Bohn, H.L., "Consider Biofiltration for Decontaminating Gases," Chemical Engineering Progress, 88(4), 34-40 (1992).
- Rands, M.B., D.E. Cooper, C.-P. Woo, G.C. Fletcher, and K.A. Rolfe, "Compost Filters for H2S Removal from Anaerobic Digestion and Rendering Exhausts," *Journal of Water Pollution Control Federation*, 53(2), 185-189 (1981).
- 24. Togna, A.P., and M. Singh, "Biological Vapor-Phase Treatment Using Biofilter and Biotrickling Filter Reactors: Practical Operating Regimes," *Environmental Progress*, 13(2), 94-97 (1994).
- Zurlinden, RA., M.T. Turner, and G.W. Gruwell, "Treatment of Volatile Organic Compounds in a Pilot Scale Biofilter," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 3B, 12 (1993).
- Bird, M.J., and P. E. Millichamp, "Sources and Control of Odorous Emissions from a Lubricating Oil Re-Refining Plant," *Clean Air*, 23(3), 100-105 (1989).
- 27. van Groenestijn, J.W., H. Doddema, H. Kok, and T.P.M. Koster, "Combined Photochemical and Biological Treatment of Off-Gases," VDI Berichte, 1104, 313-324 (1994).
- 28. Makansi, J., "A New Era in Scrubber Technology Beckons," Power, 137(4), 52-54 (1993).

- Van Durme, G.P., B.F. McNamara, and C.M. McGinley, "Bench-Scale Removal of Odor and Volatile Organic Compounds at a Composting Facility," Water Environment Research, 64(1), 19-27 (1992).
- Bretz, E.A., "Efficient Scrubbing Begins with Proper Lime Prep," *Electrical World*, 205(3), 21-22 (1991).
- Frechen, F.B., and J.T. Kettern, "Reduction of Odorous Emissions from a Hazardous Waste Landfill Site Using Biofiltration and Other Techniques," Proceedings of the 80th Annual Meeting of APCA, New York, New York, 16 (1987).
- Nyman, G.B.G., and A. Tokerud, "Seawater Scrubbing Removes SO<sub>2</sub> from Refinery Flue Gases," Oil and Gas Journal, 89(26), 52-55 (1991).
- Ostojic, N., and M. O'Brien, "Biology vs. Chemistry: Choice Between Biofiltration and Wet Scrubbing for Control of Odors," *Journal of New England Water Environment Association*, 28(2), 146-153 (1994).
- 34. Muirhead, T., P. LaFond, and D. Dennis, "Air Handling and Scrubber Retrofits Optimize Odor Control," *BioCycle*, 34(3), 68-75 (1993).
- 35. Prokop, W.H., and H.L. Bohn, "Soil Bed System for Control of Rendering Plant Odors," Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association, 35 (12), 1332-1338 (1985).
- 36. Nash, W.A., and R.D. Seibert, "Biofilter treatment of Process Streams in the Chemical Process to Eliminate Odoriforous Compounds and Higher Molecular Weight Hydrocarbons," International Symposium on the Implementation of Biotechnology in Industrial Waste Treatment and Bioremediation, Grand Rapids, Michigan, 589-607 (1992).
- Bohn, H.L., Bioprocessing of Organic Gases in Waste Air," Symposium on Bioremediation and Bioprocessing, paper presented at the 205th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Denver, Colorado, 287-289 (1993).
- Ottengraf, S.P.P., "Biological Systems for Waste Gas Elimination," Trends in Biotechnology, 5 (May), 132-136 (1987).
- 39. Dharmavaram, S., "Biofiltration: A Lean Emissions Abatement Technology," Proceeding of the 84th, Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 6, 16 (1991).
- 40. Frechen, Franz-Bernd., "Odour Emissions of Wastewater Treatment Plants Recent German Experiences," *Water Science Technology*, 30(4), 35-46 (1994).
- 41. Pomeroy, R.D., "Biological Treatment of Odorous Air," Journal Water Pollution Control Federation, 54(12), 1541-1545 (1982).
- Kirchner, K., U. Schlachter, and H.-J. Rehm, "Biological Purification of Exhaust Air Using Fixed Bacterial Monocultures," Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 31, 629-632 (1989).
- 43. Hartmans, S., and J. Tramper, "Dichloromethane Removal from Waste Gases with a Trickle-Bed Bioreactor," *Bioprocess Engineering*, 6, 83-92 (1991).

- 44. Eitner, D., and H.G. Gethke, "Design, Construction and Operation of Biofilters for Odor Control in Sewage Treatment Plants," *Proceeding at the 80th Annual Meeting of APCA, New York,* NY, 87-95 (1987).
- Severin, B.F., J. Shi, and T. Hayes, "Destruction of Gas Industry VOCs in a Biofilter," IGT Sixth International Symposium on Gas, Oil, and Environmental Technology, Colorado Springs, Colorado (1993).
- Renko, R., "Many Factors Dictate VOC System Choices," Wood Technology (March/April), 41-42 (1995).
- 47. Ottengraf, S.P.P., "Exhaust Gas Purification," *Biotechnology*, W. Schönborn, ed., VCH Publishers, 427-452 (1986).
- Vembu, K., and C.S. Walker, "Biofiltration Holds VOCs, Odors At Bay," Environmental Protection (February), 27-29,58 (1995).
- 49. Uijlenbroek, J.W., "Developments in Vapour Handling Systems," *Process Engineering*, 71(3), 3 (1990).
- McInnes, R., S. Jelinek, and V. Putshce, "Cutting Toxic Organics," *Chemical Engineering*, 108 (September), (1990).
- Bohn, H., R. and Bohn, "Soil Beds Weed Out Air Pollutants," Chemical Engineering, 95(6), 73-76 (1988).
- 52. Singleton, B., EG & G Biofiltration TM, EG & G Rotron, Saugerties, NY(1993).
- 53. Yavorsky, J., "Biofiltration for Control of Gas Streams Containing Low Concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, Denver, Colorado, 11 (1993).
- 54. Dharmavaram, S., J. Casey, Taeke Timmermans, and C.V. Lith, "Experimental Evaluation of a Biofiltration Unit for Removal of Acetone," *Proceeding of the 86th, Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 3B, 16 (1993).
- 55. Bishop, Walter, et al., "VOC Vapor Phase Control Technology Assessment," Water Pollution Control Federation Research Foundation (1991).
- 56. Barshter, D.W., S.W. Paff, and A.B. King, "Biofiltration Room Temperature Incineration," Proceeding of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 15 (1993).
- 57. Prokop, W.H., "Control Methods for Treating Odor Emissions from Inedible Rendering Plants," Proceedings of the 84th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 6 or 9, 16 (1991).
- Pearson, C.C., V.R. Phillips, G. Green, and I.M. Scotford, "A Minimum-Cost Biofilter for Reducing Aerial Emissions from a Broiler Chicken House," *Studies in Environmental Science*, A.J. Dragt and J.V. Ham, eds., Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, New York, 245-54 (1992).

- 59. Pomeroy, R.D., De-Odoring of Gas Streams by the Use of Microbiological Growth, U.S. Patent 2,793,096 (1957).
- Bardtke, D., K. Fischer, and F. Sabo, "Air Purification with Biofilters, Field of Application and Design Criteria," *Proceedings of the 80th Annual Meeting of Air Pollution Control Association*, 17 (1987).
- Shimko, I.G., V.A. Spasov, S.K. Chinennaya, R.I. Zakirova, I.N. Tananina, G.Y. Perchugov, and O.I. Pavlova, "Biochemical Methods of Freeing Gas-Air Mixtures from Sulfur Containing Compounds," *Fibre Chemistry*, 19(6), 373-378 (1988).
- Ottengraf, S.P.P., A.H.C.V.D. Oever, and F.J.C.M. Kempenaars, "Waste Gas Purification in a Biological Filter Bed," *Innovations in Biotechnology*, E.H. Houwink and R.R.V.D. Meer, eds., Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 157-167 (1984).
- Prokop, W.H., and N.R. Archer, "Biofiltration of High Intensity Odors from Poultry Rendering Plants," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 14 (1992).
- 64. Ziminski, R.W., and G. Ferrara, "The Control of Odors and VOCs from Flavor Manufacturing Facilities by a State-of-the-Art Commercial Biofilter," *Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting* & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 3B, 16 (1993).
- 65. Durfee, D.D., "Biofilters in the 90's A Summary of Design & Performance Characteristics at Composting Facilities," *BioCycle National Conference, Minneapolis, Minnesota*, 14 (1993).
- Standefer, S., and C.V. Lith, "Biofilters Minimize VOC Emissions," *Environmental Protection*, 4(3), 48-53 (1993).
- 67. Rasmussen, H.H., N.G. Hansen, and K. Rindel, "Treatment of Odorous Nitrogen Compounds in a Bioscrubber Comprising Simultaneous Nitrification and Denitrification," *VDI-Berichte*, 1104, 491-497 (1994).
- 68. Atlas, R.M., "Bioremediation," Chemical and Engineering News, 73(14), 32-42 (1995).
- 69. Harding, M.L., and G.P.V. Drume, "Innovative Odor Control at the Blue River Secondary Facilities in Kansas City, Missouri," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 9 (1992).
- 70. Heuer, J.J.M.B., and H.J. Kaskens, "Prevention of Concrete Corrosion and Odor Annoyance with Biofiltration," *Water Science Technology*, 27(5-6), 207-218 (1993).
- 71. Windsperger, A., "Use of Biofilters for the Purification of Gases Containing Solvents," Radex-Rundschau, 3-4, 457-464 (1991).
- Togna, A.P., G.J. Skladany, J.M. Caratura, and S. Frisch, "Field-Pilot Results of Styrene Biodegradation Using Biofiltration: A Case Study," 48th Purdue Industrial Waste Conference Proceedings, West Lafayette, Indiana, 517-527 (1993).

- Kampbell, D.H., J.T. Wilson, H.W. Read, and T.T. Stocksdale, "Removal of Volatile Aliphatic Hydrocarbons in a Soil Bioreactor," *Journal of Air Pollution Control Association*, 37(10), 1236-1248 (1987).
- 74. Associated Press, "Dow Reducing Odors Organically," B.C. Enquirer, 2C (1992).
- Van Langenhove, H., C. Cornelis, N. Schamp, and E. Wuyts, "Biofiltration in a Vegetables Processing Industry," *Mededelingen — Faculteit Landbouw-wetenschappen*, 54(4b), 1471-1473 (1989).
- 76. Amirhor, P., G.A. Kuter, and M.D. Andrade, "Biofilters and Biosolids," Water Environment & Technology (March), 44-48 (1995).
- 77. Knauf, S., and H. Zimmer, "Biofiltration at a Temperature Above 40 °C: Comparison of the Biofilter Materials Bark Compost and Wood Chips," *Staub – Reinhaltung der Luft*, 54(2), 41-44 (1994).
- 78. Burnham, F., "Biologic Air Pollution Control "Works," Render, 12(3), 19, 21 (1983).
- 79. Royse, S., "Filtering Out Volatile Organic Compounds from Waste Gases," *Process Engineering*, 69(9), 65-69 (1988).
- Allen, E.R., H.U. Hartenstein, and Y. Yang, "Identification and Control of Industrial Odorous Emissions at a Municipal Wastewater Treatment Facility," 80th Annual Meeting of Air Pollution Control Association, New York, NY, 13 (1987).
- 81. Bijl, J.J.W., "VT-Biofilter," Environmental Technology Proceedings of the 2nd European Conference, 358-60 (1987).
- 82. Paul, P.G., and F.J. Castelijn, "Biofiltration A Relatively Cheap and Effective Method of Waste Gas Treatment," *Environmental Technology Proceedings of the 2nd European Confer*ence, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 231-237 (1987).
- 83. Cho, K.-S., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Enhanced Removal Efficiency of Malodorous Gases in a Pilot-Scale Peat Biofilter Inoculated with *Thiobacillus thioparus* DW44," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, 73(1), 46-50 (1992).
- Park, S.-J., K.-S. Cho, M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Removability of Malodorous Gases from a Night Soil Treatment Plant by a Pilot-Scale Peat Biofilter Inoculated with *Thiobacillus thio*parus DW44," Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering, 76(1), 55-59 (1993).
- 85. Cybul, Brian, et al., Pilot Study Completion Report Prepared for Imperial Oil Company, Fitzgerald-Henne, Inc. (1994).
- Govind, R., W. Zhao, and D.F. Bishop, "Biofiltration for Treatment of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)," IGT Seventh International Symposium on Gas, Oil, and Environmental Technology (1994).
- 87. Togashi, I., M. Suzuki, M. Hirai, M. Shoda, and H. Kubota, "Removal of NH3 by a Peat Biofilter Without and With Nitrifier," *Journal of Fermentation Technology*, 64(5), 425-432 (1986).

- 88. Kirchner, K., S. Wagner, and H.-J. Rehm, "Removal of Organic Air Pollutants from Exhaust Gases in the Trickle-Bed Bioreactor — Effect of Oxygen," Proceeding of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 13 (1995).
- Hodge, D.S., V.F. Medina, and J.S. Devinny, "Biological Methods for Air Decontamination: Modeling Hydrocarbon Removal," National Conference on Environmental Engineering, 352-357 (1991).
- 90. Yu, J., "Biofilter Removal Efficiency," Chemical Engineering Progress, 88(7), 1 (1992).
- 91. van Doorn, W., and A.P.V. Harreveld, "Sampling Strategy and Statistical Aspects for Measuring the Odor Removal Efficiency of a Biofilter," *VDI-Berichte*, 1104, 415-428 (1994).
- 92. Apel, W.A., B.D. Lee, M.R. Walton, L.L. Cook, and K.B. Dinerstein, "Removal of a-Pinene from Off-Gases by Biofiltration," Proceeding of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 16 (1995).
- Cho, K.-S., L. Zhang, M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Removal Characteristics of Hydrogen Sulfide, and Methanethiol by Thiobacillus sp. Isolated from Peat in Biological Deodorization," *Journal* of Fermentation and Bioengineering, 71(1), 44-49 (1991).
- 94. Cox, H.H.J., H.J. Doddema, and W. Harder, "A New Biofilter for Purification of Styrene-Containing Gas," TNO Institute of Environmental Sciences, The Netherlands (1994).
- 95. Ergas, S.J., E.D. Schroeder, and D.P.Y. Chang, "Control of Air Emissions of Dichloromethane, Trichloroethene, and Toluene by Biofiltration," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 3B, 11 (1993).
- 96. Furusawa, N., I. Togashi, M. Hirai, M. Shoda, and H. Kubota, "Removal of Hydrogen Sulfide by a Biofilter with Fibrous Peat," *Journal Fermentation Technology*, 62(6), 589-594 (1984).
- Hodge, D.S., V.F. Medina, Y. Wang, and J.S. Devinny, "Biofiltration: Application for VOC Emission Control," 47th Purdue Industrial Waste Conference Proceedings, Purdue, 609-619 (1992).
- 98. Ottengraf, S.P.P., and A.H.C.V.D. Oever, "Kinetics of Organic Compound Removal from Waste Gases with a Biological Filter," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 25, 3089-3102 (1983).
- 99. Salemink, R., "Toluene Removal with Help of Biofiltration," Mededelingen Faculteit Landbouwwetenschappen, 56(4a), 1535-1541 (1991).
- 100.van Lith, C., S.L David, and R. Marsh, "Design Criteria for Biofilters," *Trans IChemE*, 68, 127-132 (1990).
- 101.van Lith, C., "Design Criteria for Biofilters," Proceedings of the 82nd Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Anaheim, California, 12 (1989).
- 102.Parks, C.B., and R.C. Loehr, "Biofilter Design for VOC Remediation," Proceedings of the Petroleum Hydrocarbons and Organic Chemical in Ground Water: Prevention, Detection, and Remediation Conference, Houston, Texas, 429-442 (1994).

- 103.Ottengraf, S.P.P., J.J.P. Meesters, A.H.C.V.D. Oever, and H.R. Rozema, "Biological Elimination of Volatile Xenobiotic Compounds in Biofilters," *Bioprocess Engineering*, 1 (Spring), 61-69 (1986).
- 104.Peters, D.A., T. Gary Hickman, J.G. Stefanoff, B. Marcelo, and J. Garcia, "Laboratory Assessment of Biofiltration for Fuel-Derived VOC Emissions Control," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, Denver, Colorado, 16 (1993).
- 105.Clark, R.C., and A.U. Wnorowski, "Biofilters for Sewer Pump Station Vents: Influence of Matrix Formulations on the Capacity and Efficiency of Odorant Removal by an Experimental Biofilter," Studies in Environmental Science, A.J. Dragt and J.V. Ham, eds., Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, NY, 183-186 (1992).
- 106.Diks, R.M.M., and S.P.P. Ottengraf, "Verification Studies of a Simplified Model for the Removal of Dichloromethane from Waste Gases Using a Biological Trickling Filter (Part II)," *Bioprocess Engineering*, 6, 131-140 (1991).
- 107.Shareefdeen, Z., B.C. Baltzis, Y.-S. Oh, and R. Bartha, "Biofiltration of Methanol Vapor," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 41(5), 512-524 (1993).
- 108.Corsi, R.L., and L. Seed, "Biofiltration of BTEX: Effects of Media, Multiple Substrates, and Dynamic Mass Loadings," Proceedings of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 16 (1995).
- 109. Phipps, D.W., Jr., and H. Ridgway, "Modular Bioreactor and Computerized Instrumentation Package To Identify Critical Design Parameters for Vapor Phase Bioreactors," Second International Symposium on In Situ and On-Site Bioreclamation, San Diego, California (1993).
- 110. Wittorf, F., J. Klein, K. Körner, O. Unterlöhner, and H. Ziehr, "Biocatalytic Treatment of Waste Air," Chemical Engineering & Technology, 16(1), 40-45 (1993).
- 111. Smith, P.J., P. Biswas, M.T. Suidan, and R.C. Brenner, "Treatment of Volatile Organic Compounds in Waste Gases Using a Trickling Biofilter System: A Modeling Approach," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 3A(86TH), 16 (1993).
- 112. Ergas, S.J., E.D. Schroeder, and Daniel P.Y. Chang, "VOC Emission Control from Wastewater Treatment Facilities Using Biofiltration," Proceedings of the 84th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, Vancouver, British Columbia, 13 (1991).
- 113. Baltzis, B.C., and Z. Shareefdeen, "Modeling and Preliminary Design Criteria for Packed-Bed Biofilters," Proceeding of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 16 (1993).
- 114. Govind, R., V. Utgikar, Y. Shan, S.I. Safferman, and D.F. Bishop, Studies on Aerobic Degradation of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in an Activated Carbon Packed Bed Biofilter, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH(1992).
- 115. Leson, G., and A.M. Winer, "Biofiltration: An Innovative Air Pollution Control Technology for VOC Emissions," Journal of Air & Waste Management Association, 41(8), 1045-1054 (1991).

- 116. Diks, R.M.M., and S.P.P. Ottengraf, "Verification Studies of a Simplified Model for the Removal of Dichloromethane from Waste Gases Using a Biological Trickling Filter (Part I)," *Bioprocess Engineering*, 6, 93-99 (1991).
- 117. Ockeloen, H.F., T.J. Overcamp, and J.C.P.L. Grady, "A Biological Fixed-Film Simulation Model for the Removal of Volatile Organic Air Pollutants," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 15 (1992).
- 118. Don, J.A., "The Rapid Development of Biofiltration for the Purification of Diversified Waste Gas Streams," VDI Berichte, 63-73 (1986).
- 119. Park, S.-J., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Treatment of Exhaust Gases from a Night Soil Treatment Plant by a Combined Deodorization System of Activated Carbon Fabric Reactor and Peat Biofilter Inoculated with Thiobacillus thioparus DW44," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, 76(5), 423-426 (1993).
- 120.Dragt, A.J., A. Jol, C.V. Lith, and S.P.P. Ottengraf, "The Biological Treatment of Waste Gases from Small Urban Sources," Proceeding of the 2nd European Conference on Environmental Technology, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 224-230 (1987).
- 121.Leson, G., D.S. Hodge, F. Tabatabai, and A.M. Winer, "Biofilter Demonstration Projects for the Control of Ethanol Emissions," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 3B, 14 (1993).
- 122.Kuter, G.A., J.E. Harper, L.M. Naylo, and P.J. Gormsen, "Design, Construction and Operation of Biofilters for Controlling Odors at Composting Facilities," *Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, Denver, Colorado*, 11 (1993).
- 123. Wolstenholme, P., and R. Finger, "Long-Term Odor and VOC Performance Tests on Biofilters," Water Environment Federation 67th Annual Conference & Exposition, Chicago, Illinois, 541-552 (1994).
- 124. Togna, A.P., and B.R. Folsom, "Removal of Styrene from Air Using Bench-Scale Biofilter and Biotrickling Filter Reactors," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 12 (1992).
- 125.Allen, E.R., and S. Phatak, "Control of Organo-Sulfur Compound Emissions Using Biofiltration – Methyl Mercaptan," Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, 16 (1993).
- 126.Sanyal, S., T.P. Love, and L.J. DeFilippi, Process and Apparatus for Removal of Organic Pollutants from Wastewater, Allied-Signal Inc., U.S. Patent 5,217,616 (1993).
- 127.Cox, H.H.J., F.J. Magielsen, H.J. Doddema, and W. Harder, *Purification of Styrene-Containing Waste Gases in Biofilters*, TNO Institute of Environmental Sciences, The Netherlands(1994).
- 128. Apel, W.A., J.M. Barnes, and K.B. Barrett, "Biofiltration of Nitrogen Oxides from Fuel Combustion Gas Streams," Proceeding of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 12 (1995).

- 129.Zilli, M., A. Converti, G. Delucchi, M.D. Borghi, and G. Ferraiolo, "Application of Biofiltration for the Deodorization of Phenol Gaseous Emissions," *Progress in Biotechnology*, 9, 1199-1202 (1994).
- 130.Sorial, G.A., F.L. Smith, A. Pandit, M.T. Suidan, P. Biswas, and R.C. Brenner, "Performance of Trickle Bed Biofilters under High Toluene Loading," Proceedings of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 16 (1995).
- 131. Tang, H.-M., S.-J. Hwang, and S.-C. Hwang, "Waste Gas Treatment in Biofilters," Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association (publication pending), 24 (1995).
- 132.Martin, A.M., "Biofilms in Peat Biofilters," *Biofilm-Science and Technology*, L.F. Melo, ed., Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, 461-466 (1993).
- 133.Ergas, S.J., E.D. Schroeder, D.P.Y. Chang, and R. Morton, "Control of Volatile Organic Compound Emissions from a POTW Using a Compost Biofilter," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 14 (1992).
- 134.Shade, B.C., and W.J. Maier, "Enhancement of Biofiltration Process for Air Purification," 49th Purdue Industrial Waste Conference, Purdue, 425-435 (1995).
- 135. Sorial, G.A., F.L. Smith, P.J. Smith, M.T. Suidan, P. Biswas, and R.C. Brenner, "Development of Aerobic Biofilter Design Criteria for Treating VOCs," *Proceedings of the 86th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 3A, 16 (1993).
- 136.Allen, E.R., and Y. Yang, "Biofiltration Control of Hydrogen Sulfide Emissions," Proceedings of the 87th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Vancouver, BC (Canada), 16 (1991).
- 137.Webster, T.S., J.S. Devinny, E.M. Torres, S.S. Basrai, and V. Kogan, "Study of Biofiltration for Control of VOC and Toxics Emissions from Wastewater Treatment Plants Phase II Bench-Scale Experiments," Proceedings of the 88th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of the Air & Waste Management Association, San Antonio, Texas, 13 (1995).
- 138. Ensley, B.D., "A Gas Lift Bioreactor for Removal of Contaminants from the Vapor Phase," Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 60(1), 285-291 (1994).
- 139.Ergas, S.J., K. Kinney, M.E. Fuller, and K.M. Scow, "Characterization of a Compost Biofiltration System Degrading Dichloromethane," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 44(9), 1048-1054 (1994).
- 140. Yang, Y., A.P. Togna, and G. Skladany, "Treatment of CS2 and H2S Vapors by Biofiltration," 49th Purdue Industrial Waste Conference Proceedings, 449-456 (1994).
- 141.Zilli, M., A. Converti, A. Lodi, M.D. Borghi, and G. Ferraiolo, "Phenol Removal from Waste Gases with a Biological Filter by *Pseudomonas putida*," *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 41, 693-699 (1993).

- 142. Hirai, M., M. Ohtake, and M. Shoda, "Removal Kinetics of Hydrogen Sulfide, Methanethiol and Dimethyl Sulfide by Peat Biofilters," *Journal of Fermentation Bioengineering*, 70(5), 334-339 (1990).
- 143.Cho, K.-S., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Enhanced Removability of Odorous Sulfur-Containing Gases by Mixed Cultures of Purified Bacteria from Peat Biofilters," *Journal of Fermentation* and Bioengineering, 73(3), 219-224 (1992).
- 144.Bendinger, B., R.M. Kroppenstedt, H. Rijnaarts, H.R.V. Langenhove, R.C. Oberthuer, and K. Itendorf, "Studies on the Microbiology and the Degradation Capacities of a Biofilter," VCH Verlagsgesellschaft, 529-33 (1990).
- 145.Cho, K.-S., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Removal of Dimethyl Disulfide by the Peat Seeded with Night Soil Sludge," *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering*, 71(4), 289-291 (1991).
- 146.Cho, K.-S., I. Kuniyoshi, M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "A Newly Isolated Heterotrophic Bacterium, Xanthomonas sp. DY44, To Oxidize Hydrogen Sulfide to Polysulfide," *Biotechnology Letters*, 13(12), 923-928 (1991).
- 147.Cho, K.-S., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Degradation of Hydrogen Sulfide by Xanthomonas sp. DY44 Isolated from Peat," *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 58(4), 1183-1189 (1992).
- 148.Kanagawa, T., and E. Mikami, "Removal of Methanethiol, Dimethyl Sulfide, Dimethyl Disulfide, and Hydrogen Sulfide from Contaminated Air by *Thiobacillus thioparus* TK-m," *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 55(3), 555-558 (1989).
- 149.Cho, K.-S., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Degradation Characteristics of Hydrogen Sulfide, Methanethiol, Dimethyl Sulfide and Dimethyl Disulfide by Thiobacillus thioparus DW44 Isolated from Peat Biofilter," Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering, 71(6), 384-9 (1991).
- 150.Phae, C.-G., and M. Shoda, "A New Fungus Which Degrades Hydrogen Sulfide, Methanethiol, Dimethyl Sulfide and Dimethyl Disulfide," *Biotechnology Letters*, 13(5), 375-380 (1991).
- 151.Zhang, L., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Removal Characteristics of Dimethyl Sulfide, Methanethiol and Hydrogen Sulfide by Hyphomicrobium sp. I55 Isolated from Peat Biofilter," Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering, 72(5), 392-396 (1991).
- 152.Zhang, L., M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Removal Characteristics of Dimethyl Sulfide by a Mixture of Hyphomicrobium sp. 155 and Pseudomonas acidovorans DMR-11," *Journal of Fermentation And Bioengineering*, 74(3), 174-177 (1992).
- 153.Zhang, L., I. Kuniyoshi, M. Hirai, and M. Shoda, "Oxidation of Dimethyl Sulfide by Pseudomonas acidovorans DMR-11 Isolated from Peat Biofilter," Biotechnology Letters, 13(3), 223-228 (1991).
- 154.Smet, E., W. Verstraetee, and H.V. Langenhove, "Biofiltration of Methyl Sulfides," VDI-Berichte, 1104, 539-544 (1994).
- 155.Ottengraf, S.P.P., and J.H.G. Konings, "Emission of Microorganisms from Biofilters," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 26 (1992).

156.Lenskii, B.P., V.D. Klimukhin, M.M. Mikhahilov, S.V. Posupon'ko, and S.I. Sorokin, "Mass-Exchange Properties of Biofilters with Different Media," *Khimiya i Tekhnologiya Vody*, 14(6), 469-475 (1991).

157. Wang, Daniel I.C., et al., Fermentation and Enzyme Technology, Wiley & Sons, Inc. (1979).

- 158.Cox, H.H.J., H.J. Doddema, and W. Harder, Application of Styrene Degrading Fungi in Biofilters, TNO Institute of Environmental Science, The Netherlands (1994).
- 159.Pinnette, J.R., M.D. Giggey, G.E. Hendry, and C.M. Richardson, "Moisture Balance of an Open Biofilter," Compost Science & Utilization, 1(2), 8-22 (1993).

160. Heslinga, D.C., "Biofiltration Technology," VDI-Berichte, Dusseldorf, 13-18 (1994).

- 161.Marsh, R., Biofiltration: History, Theoretical Model & Practice, North Western Branch Papers – Institute of Chemical Engineers, North Western, Illinois, 16 (1992).
- 162.Allen, E.R., and Y. Yang, "Operational Parameters for the Control of Hydrogen Sulfide Emissions Using Biofiltration," Proceedings of the 85th Annual Meeting & Exhibition of Air & Waste Management Association, Kansas City, Missouri, 18 (1992).
- 163. Van Langenhove, H., A. Lootens, and N. Schamp, "Inhibitory Effects of SO<sub>2</sub> on Biofiltration of Aldehydes," *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, 47, 81-86 (1989).
- 164. Van Langenhove, H., and N. Schamp, "Biofiltration for Air Pollution Abatement," Mededelingen – Faculteit Landbouwwetenschappen, 52(4B), 1781-1787 (1987).
- 165. Wada, A., M. Shoda, H. Kubota, T. Kobayashi, Y.K.-V. Fujimura, and H. Kuraishi, "Characteristics of H<sub>2</sub>S Oxidizing Bacteria Inhabiting a Peat Biofilter," *Journal of Fermentation Technol*ogy, 64(2), 161-167 (1986).
- 166. Morrill, A.B., "Sedimentation Basin Research and Design," *Journal American Water Works* Association (24), 1442 (1932).
- 167. Fassatiova, O., Moulds and Filamentous Fungi in Technical Microbiology, New York (1986).
- 168.Bartlett, C.L.R., A.D. Macrae, and J.T. Macfarlane, *Legionella Infections*, Edward Arnold, London (1986).
- 169.Harrison, T.G., and A.G. Taylor, A Laboratory Manual for Legionella, Wiley, West Sussex (1988).
- 170.Katz, S.M., Legionellosis, CRC Press, Boca Raton (1985).

## **USACERL DISTRIBUTION**

Headquarters, IOC ATTN: AMSIO-IBB-ENV (2)

Chief of Engineers ATTN: CEHEC-IM-LH (2) ATTN: CEHEC-IM-LP (2) ATTN: CECC-R ATTN: CECC-R ATTN: CERD-L ATTN: CERD-M

Defense Tech Info Center 22304 ATTN: DTIC-O (2)

11

3/99